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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 0-52105

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 94-303027¢
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation oganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) afie Act:

Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class registered

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) tfie Act:
NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dbéturities Act. Ye&l NoO
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4168ring
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pahatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing negments for
the past 90 days. Y NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iisnitted electronically and posted on its corpovdeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File rieed to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gol&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the pding 12 months (or for such shorter period that th
registrant was required to submit and post sueB)iili Ye™ NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (82®% of this chapter) is not contained herein, a&iiidnot
be contained, to the best of registrant's knowlettgéefinitive proxy or information statements amporated by reference in Part Il of this FormKL.@r any
amendment of this Form 10-K. ™

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlaage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&@se the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul@b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filéd Accelerated filed

Non-accelerated filel (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). Yedd No M



The aggregate market value of the registrant's comstock held by non-affiliates of the registran@the last business day of the registrant's meagntly
completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2013)appsoximately $1.1 billion .
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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”) ¢aims statements which constitute “forward-lookstgtements” within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9These statements appear throughout this Repdrding Item 1. “Business — Business
Operations,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Item Kldnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations.”
These forward-looking statements can be identifigthe use of forward-looking terminology such bslieves,” “expects,” “may,”
“estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans,” or “anticiptes,” or the negative of the foregoing or othetatmns or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy.

Readers are cautioned that any such forward-loottiaigments are not guarantees of future perforenand involve significant risks and
uncertainties, and that actual results may vamnftisose in the forward-looking statements as alre$warious factors. These factors include:
the effectiveness of managemeardtrategies and decisions; general economic asidéss conditions, including cyclicality and otlenditions
in the aerospace, automotive and other end mankeeterve; developments in technology; new or medifitatutory or regulatory
requirements; changing prices and market conditiang other factors discussed in Item 1A. “Risktbes® and elsewhere in this Report. No
assurance can be given that these are all of ther§that could cause actual results to vary riadlgfrom the forward-looking statements.

Readers are urged to consider these factors clgrefidvaluating any forward-looking statements ane cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements. Dinedrd-looking statements included herein are nuad as of the date of this Report, and
we undertake no obligation to update any informmatontained in this Report or to publicly releasg eevisions to any forward-looking
statements that may be made to reflect eventsarmstances that occur, or that we become awasdtef,the date of this Report except as
required by law.

Item 1. Business
Availability of Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Rep@n Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, RrStatements, and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Corsiois (“SEC”). You may inspect and, for a fee, capy document that we file with the
SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100detSi.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please calSiE€ at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the Public Reference Room. You miag abtain the documents that we file electronjcatbm the SEC's website at
http://www.sec.gov Our filings with the SEC, as well as news relsas@nouncements of upcoming earnings calls amtgwewhich
management participates or hosts with memberseahtiestment community, and an archive of webaafstsich earnings calls and investor
events, and related investor presentations, anesatgilable on our website at http://www.kaiseraluwm.com. Information on our website is
not incorporated into this Report.

Business Overview

Founded in 1946, Kaiser Aluminum Corporation’s @imnline of business is the production of semi-fgdied specialty aluminum
products. At December 31, 2013 , we operated ldsted production facilities in the United States and in Canada. Consistent with the
manner in which our chief operating decision makeiews and evaluates our business, the Fabri€atatlicts business is treated as a single
operating segment.

In addition to the Fabricated Products segmenthawe two business units, Corporate and Other aodr8ary Aluminum, which we
combine into one category and refer to herein 4©&ler. Our Corporate and Other business unitigems/general and administrative support
for our operations. The Secondary Aluminum busingssactivities related to our purchase and reshkecondary aluminum produced by
Anglesey Aluminium Limited (“Anglesey”). We owned48.0% equity interest in Anglesey until we soldtsinterest in the fourth quarter of
2013. For purposes of segment reporting under di8tates generally accepted accounting princig@aAP"), we treat the Fabricated
Products segment as its own reportable segmenOthAklr is not considered a reportable segment‘Bgsness Operations” below).

Through our 12 focused production facilities in foAmerica, we primarily manufacture rolled, extedd and drawn aluminum products to
strategically serve four end market applicatiomsoapace and high strength products (which we tefas Aero/HS products), general
engineering products (which we refer to as GE petsjuextrusions for automotive applications (whieh refer to as Automotive Extrusions),
and other industrial products (which we refer t@alser products). See “Business Operations — FafeicProducts Segment” below for
additional information. In 2013, we produced ahigbped approximately 563.7 million pounds of seafifcated aluminum products from
these facilities, which comprised all of our comdaled net sales of approximately $ 1.3 billion .
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We have long-standing relationships with our cugtienwhich consist primarily of blue-chip companieduding leading aerospace
companies, automotive suppliers and metal diswitsuin our served markets, we seek to be the mugyfichoice by pursuing “Best in Class”
customer satisfaction and offering a broad progoctfolio. We have a culture of continuous improarnthat is facilitated by the Kaiser
Production System (“KPS"), an integrated applicatxd tools such as Lean Manufacturing, Six Sigmé Botal Productive Manufacturing. We
believe KPS enables us to continuously reduce warmanufacturing costs, eliminate waste througlioeitvalue chain, and deliver “Best in
Class” customer service through consistent, on-tiglevery of superior quality products on shortddimes. We strive to tightly integrate the
management of the operations within our FabricBediucts segment across multiple production fadlitproduct lines and target markets in
order to maximize the efficiency of product flowdar customers.

Over the past seven years, we have pursued sigmifgapital spending initiatives to expand manufi@ag) capabilities, increase capacity
and improve product capabilities, product quakityd efficiency. The most significant of these atities is a series of investments to more tha
double our capacity and expand our manufacturipglogity to produce thick heat treat plate at opol&ane (Trentwood), Washington facility
in order to capitalize on significant demand gro¥athaerospace applications.

Business Operations

Fabricated Products Segment

Overview

Our Fabricated Products segment produces rollédyaed, and drawn aluminum products used pringidall aerospace and defense,
automotive, consumer durables, electronics, etadfrand machinery and equipment applicationsnéigated above, the Fabricated Products
segment focuses on products that strategicallyederer end market applications, more particulargr@HS products, GE products,
Automotive Extrusions and Other products. Durin@202012 and 2011 , our North American manufactufacilities produced and shipped
approximately 563.7 million , 585.9 million , an@8®9 million pounds of fabricated aluminum producéspectively, which accounted for all
of our total net sales.

For information regarding net sales, operating ine@nd total assets of the Fabricated Productsesgigsee Note 14 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatdhisfReport; such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Types of Products Produced

We have strategically chosen end market applicatibat allow us to utilize our core metallurgicatigprocess technology capabilities to
create value added products in markets that preggmrtunities for sales growth and premium priafiglifferentiated products. The market
for fabricated aluminum mill products is broadlyfided to include flat-rolled, extruded, drawn, ferband cast aluminum products used in a
variety of end market applications. We participateertain portions of the markets for flat-rolladd extruded/drawn products, focusing on
highly engineered products for aerospace/high gthergeneral engineering, automotive and otherstréil end market applications.

The table below provides shipment and sales infaomgin millions of dollars except for shipmenfanmation and percentages) for our
end market applications:




Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Shipments (mm Ibs):
Aero/HS Products 224.¢ 40% 223.¢ 38% 192.( 34%
GE Products 222t 40% 232 40% 220.2 3%
Automotive Extrusions 64.1 11% 62.€ 11% 62.¢ 11%
Other Products 52.¢ 9% 66.5 11% 85.¢ 16%
563.7 10C% 585.¢ 100(% 560.¢ 10C%
Sales:
Aero/HS Products $ 677 526 $ 695.1 5% $ 596.: 46%
GE Products 411.( 32% 441.¢ 33% 447 .( 34%
Automotive Extrusions 129.t 10% 125t 9% 126.¢ 10%
Other Products 80.C 6% 98.1 7% 131.1 10%
$ 1,297t 10% $ 1,360.: 10(% $ 1,301. 10C%

Aero/HS ProductOur Aero/HS products include high quality heat tyglate and sheet, as well as cold finish rod aard deamless drawn
tube, hard alloy extrusions, and billet that arenafactured to demanding specifications for the gl@erospace and defense industries. These
industries use our products in applications thataled such properties as high tensile strength rgwdatigue resistance properties and
exceptional durability even in harsh environmeRts. instance, aerospace manufacturers use highgstralloys for a variety of structures that
must perform consistently under extreme variatiortemperature and altitude. Our Aero/HS produntsused for a wide variety of end uses.
We make aluminum plate, sheet, extruded shapedpaedor aerospace applications, and we manufaetwariety of specialized rod and bar
products that are incorporated in diverse appliceti The aerospace and defense industries’ conmumggtfabricated aluminum products is
driven by factors that include overall levels aft@me build rates, which are cyclical in natuned @efense spending, as well as the potential
availability of competing materials such as titaniand composites. Demand has increased for thatk plith growth in monolithic
construction of commercial and other aircraft. larmlithic construction, aluminum plate is heavilgchined to form the desired part from a
single piece of metal (as opposed to creating peitey aluminum sheet, extrusions or forgings #nataffixed to one another using rivets, bolt:
or welds). Military applications for heat treat f@laand sheet include aircraft frames and skins.

GE ProductsMost of our GE products are standard catalog iteoid to large metal distributors. Our GE producissist primarily of
6000-series alloy rod, bar, tube, wire, sheetgpdaid standard extrusions. The 6000-series allag extrudable medium-strength alloy that is
heat treatable and extremely versatile. Our GEymtsdhave a wide range of uses and applicationsy m@which involve further fabrication
these products for numerous transportation and atbestrial end market applications where maclgrohplate, rod and bar is intensive. For
example, our products are used in the enhancemdmiraduction of military vehicle, ordnances, sesnuctor manufacturing cells, numerc
electronic devices, after-market motor sport pand tooling plates. Our rod and bar products aneufis@tured into rivets, nails, screws, bolts
and parts for machinery and equipment. Demand drawd cyclicality for GE products tend to mirrophd economic patterns and industrial
activity in North America. Demand is also impacbgdthe destocking and restocking of inventory tigfoaut the supply chain.

Automotive Extrusiongutomotive products consist of extruded aluminumduorcts for many North American automotive applimasi
Examples of the variety of extruded products thatswpply to the automotive industry include extdigeoducts for bumper systems, anti-lock
braking systems, structural components and dratve fior drive shafts. For some Automotive Extrusjoms perform limited fabrication,
including sawing and cutting to length. Demand groand cyclicality for Automotive Extrusions terwrirror automotive build rates in Noi
America. Additional growth for Automotive Extrusisiis driven by efforts by automotive manufactuterseduce the weight of vehicles to
improve fuel efficiency by converting applicatioinem steel to aluminum.

Other ProductsOther products consist of extruded, drawn, andlmidiet aluminum products for a variety of North #Agnican industrial end
uses, including consumer durables, electrical/eaat device, machinery and equipment, light trdwavy truck and truck trailer applications.
Demand growth and cyclicality for Other productsddo mirror broad economic patterns and indusariilvity in North America, with specifi
individual market segments such as heavy trucktiaunal trailer applications tracking their respeethwild rates.




Types of Manufacturing Processes Employed
We utilize the following manufacturing processegtoduce our fabricated products:

Flat Rolling. The traditional manufacturing process for aluminflatirolled products uses ingot, a large rectanguldr sfaaluminum, as tr
starter material. The ingot is processed througéries of rolling operations, both hot and colaiighing steps may include heat treatment,
annealing, stretching, leveling or slitting to amhe the desired metallurgical, dimensional andésfgumance characteristics. Aluminum flat-
rolled products are manufactured using a varietgllols, a range of tempers (hardness), gaugeskiss) and widths, and various finishes.
Flat-rolled aluminum semi-finished products areegaily either sheet (under 0.25 inches in thicknesplate (0.25 inches or greater in
thickness). The vast majority of the North Americaarket for aluminum flat-rolled products uses “coan alloy” sheet and plate for
construction, beverage/food can, and other appicat We have focused our efforts on “heat treatdtipcts, which are distinguished from
common alloy products by higher strength and otlesired product attributes. The primary end maakelications of heat treat flat-rolled
sheet and plate are for Aero/HS and GE products.

Extrusion.The extrusion process typically starts with a té#gt, which is an aluminum cylinder of varyingiigth and diameter. The first
step in the process is to heat the billet to avatézl temperature whereby the metal is mallealtle.billet is put into an extrusion press and
pushed, or extruded, through a die that gives theeral the desired two-dimensional cross secfitve. material is either quenched as it leaves
the press, or subjected to a post-extrusion heatrirent cycle, to control the material’s physicalgerties. The extrusion is then straightened
typically by stretching and cutting to length befdreing hardened in aging ovens. The largest emketnapplications for extruded products are

in the construction, general engineering and cugiorducts. Building and construction products repré the single largest end market
application for extrusions by a significant amoubwever, we have strategically chosen to focusxdruded products for Aero/HS, general
engineering and automotive end market applicatiotiézing our well-developed technical expertisgpng production capability and high
product quality to meet the requirements of theseenrdemanding applications.

Drawing. Drawing is a fabrication operation in which extrddabes and rods are pulled through a die, or drdiva primary purpose of
drawing is to reduce the diameter and wall thicknekile improving physical properties and dimensidviaterial may go through multiple
drawing steps to achieve the final dimensional $jpations. We primarily use drawing in connectwith our Aero/HS products.

A description of the manufacturing processes amegoay of products at each of our production fiesi at December 31, 2013 is shown

below:

Location Types of Products Manufacturing Process
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) Aero/HS Extrusion

Chandler, Arizona (Tube) Aero/HS Extrus@rawing
Florence, Alabama Aero/HS, GE, Other Drawing

Jackson, Tennessee Aero/HS, GE, Auto Bxin{Brawing
Kalamazoo, Michigan Auto, GE Extrusion

London, Ontario Auto Extrusion

Los Angeles, California GE, Other Extrusion

Newark, Ohio Aero/HS, GE Extrusion/Rod Rl
Richland, Washington GE Extrusion

Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia Auto, GE Exsion/Drawing
Sherman, Texas GE, Auto, Other Extrusion

Spokane (Trentwood), Washington Aero/HS, GE Flat Rolling

As reflected by the table above, many of our fiediemploy the same basic manufacturing procegpatduce the same types of produ
We make a significant effort to tightly integraletmanagement of our Fabricated Products segmergsamultiple manufacturing locations,
product lines, and end market applications to maerthe efficiency of product flow to customersréhasing is centralized for the Fabricated
Products segment’s primary aluminum requirementsdier to better manage price, credit and otheetitsnOur sales force and the
management thereof are also significantly integragemany customers purchase a number of differeducts that are produced at different
plant facilities. We believe that integration ofr@perations allows us to capture efficiencies ehilowing our facilities to remain highly
focused on their specific processes and end mapications.




Raw Materials

To make our fabricated products, we purchase pyiraminum ingot, sow, and recycled and scrap atumi from third party suppliers in
varying percentages depending on various mark&r&adncluding price and availability. The priee primary aluminum purchased for the
Fabricated Products segment is typically basedhemverage Midwest Transaction Price (“Midwest Efjcwhich reflects the primary
aluminum supply/demand dynamics in North Americacyled and scrap aluminum is typically purchageddiscount to ingot prices but can
require additional processing. The average LondeteMExchange (“LME”) plus Midwest premium transantprice per pound of primary
aluminum for 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $0.84 +B$0$0.92 + $0.10 and $1.09 + $0.07 , respectivaiyg, during these three years, the
Midwest Price has ranged between approximatelyéb@$0.12 per pound above the price traded ohMhE. At February 11, 2014 , the LME
plus Midwest premium transaction price per pound $@.76 + $0.20 .

In addition to producing fabricated aluminum progufor sale to third parties, certain of our praditre facilities provide one another with
billet, log, ingot or other intermediate materiaf production in lieu of purchasing such items fritnind-party suppliers. For example, our
Newark, Ohio facility supplies billet and log teetackson, Tennessee facility and redraw rod t&litrence, Alabama facility

Pricing, Metal Price Risk Management, and Hedc

As noted above, we purchase primary and secondiamjiraum, our principal raw material, on a floatipgce basis typically based on the
Midwest Price. Our pricing of fabricated aluminunogucts is generally intended to lock in a conwarsnargin (representing the value added
from the fabrication process(es)) and to pass npeie fluctuation through to our customers. We aggnthe risk of fluctuations in the price of
aluminum through our pricing policies and use oéficial derivatives. Our three principal pricingananisms are as follows:

»  Spot priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatparates the spot price of primary aluminum in efffat the time of
shipment to a customer. Spot prices for these mtsdthange regularly based on competitive dynaraiws,change in underlying
aluminum price is a significant factor influencioganges in competitive spot prices. This pricinghamism typically allows us to
pass metal price risk through to the customerssbore of our higher value added products sold gpoabasis, the pass through of
metal price movements can sometimes lag by as msiskeveral months, with a favorable impact to usnwhetal prices decline and
an adverse impact to us when metal prices increase.

* Inde>-based priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatrparates an index-based price for primary aluminsuch as
Platt's Midwest price for primary aluminum. Thisging mechanism also typically allows us to passaingrice risk through to the
customer.

» Firm price.Some of our customers who commit to volumes anthgrof delivery pay a firm price, creating metaicerrisk that we
must hedge. We are able to limit exposure to npeteé risks created by firm-price customer salegre@ts by using third-party
hedging instruments. Total fabricated product shpts for which we were subject to price risk wet8.8 , 178.8 , and 157.0 (in
millions of pounds) during 2013, 2012 and 201dspectively.

All hedging activities are managed centrally to imiize transaction costs, monitor consolidated rpbeures, and allow for increased
responsiveness to changes in market factors. Hgdgitivities are conducted in compliance with dqyoapproved by our Board of Directors
and administered by our hedging committee (memtfenshich include our principal executive officerjqripal financial officer and principal
accounting officer).

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Industry sales margins for fabricated productstélate in response to competitive and market dynansiales are made directly to
customers by our sales personnel located in theetdi§itates, Canada, Europe, and China, and byéndept sales agents in other regions of
Asia, Mexico and the Middle East. Our sales andketang efforts are focused on the markets for AdSproducts, GE products, Automotive
Extrusions, and Other products.

Aero/HS ProductsApproximately 51% of our Aero/HS product shipmeats sold to metal distributors with the remaind®d slirectly to
end market application customers. Sales are mahaiply under contracts (with terms spanning frone gear to ten years) as well as on an
order-by-order basis. We serve this market withoatiNAmerican sales force focused on Aero/HS ando@ucts and direct sales
representatives in Western Europe and China. Pyinemand drivers for Aero/HS products include #heel of commercial aircraft
construction spending (which in turn is often sabje broader economic cycles) and defense spending

GE ProductsA substantial majority of our GE products are dolthrge metal distributors in North America, witders primarily
consisting of standard catalog type items shippitd avrelatively short lead-time. We service thiarket with a
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North American sales force focused on GE and AeBgrbducts. Competitive dynamics for GE productuide product price, prodi-line
breadth, product quality, delivery performance austomer service.

Automotive Extrusion®©ur Automotive Extrusions are sold primarily tosfitier automotive suppliers under multi-year salgieements.
Almost all sales of Automotive Extrusions occurotingh direct channels using a North American disadts force that works closely with our
technical sales organization. Key demand driverefo Automotive Extrusions include the level ofidbAmerican light vehicle
manufacturing and increased use of aluminum exitngsin vehicles for fuel efficiency and in respotséncreasingly strict governmental
standards.

Other ProductsOther products are primarily sold directly to intfied end users under medium-term sales contradtsost all sales of
these products occur through direct channels wsiNgrth American direct sales force, often workahasely with our technical sales
organization. Demand for industrial products i&éd to the overall strength of the U.S. industiednomy.

Customers

In 2013, our Fabricated Products segment had appately 900 customers. The largest, Reliance ®te€uminum (“Reliance”), and the
five largest customers for fabricated products anted for approximately 23% and 47% , respectivelyur net sales in 2013 . While the loss
of Reliance as a customer would have a materiagradveffect on us, we believe that our longstanditegionship with Reliance is good and
that the risk of losing Reliance as a customeeiisate.

Research and Developme

We operate three research and development ce®erdolling and Heat Treat Center and our MetalkalAnalysis Center are both
located at our Spokane (Trentwood), Washingtodifiacihe Rolling and Heat Treat Center has congpleit rolling, cold rolling and heat tre
capabilities to simulate, in small lots, processihdjat-rolled products for process and productedepment on an experimental scale. The
Metallurgical Analysis Center consists of a fulltadeographic laboratory and a scanning electrorrosicope to support research development
programs as well as respond to plant technicaleErequests. The third center, our Solidificatiod Casting Center, is located in Newark,
Ohio and has a developmental casting unit capdhdesting billets and ingots for extrusion andinglexperiments. The casting unit is also
capable of casting full size billets and ingotsgoncessing on the production extrusion pressesdalinlg mills. See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatdhisfReport for information about our
research and development costs.

The combination of our research and developmenkwand concurrent product and process developmehinadur production operations
has resulted in the creation and delivery of valdéed KaiserSele€products.

All Other

All Other consists of our Corporate and Other aado®dary Aluminum business units. All Other is cotsidered a reportable segment.

Corporate and OtherThis business unit provides general and adminig&&upport to our operations. The expenses indurr¢his
business unit are not allocated to our other ojmersit

Secondary AluminumThe Secondary Aluminum business unit activitEated to our purchase and resale to a third pdrggcondary
aluminum produced by Anglesey until Anglesey cedteremelt and casting operations at its facility{olyhead, Wales in the quarter ending
June 30, 2013. Because we in substance actedaéesaagent for secondary aluminum produced by Aegleour sales were presented net of
our cost of sales. Accordingly, we reported netsaind operating income of zero in 2013, 2012 &1d 2

We owned a 49.0% interest in Anglesey until we snoich interest in the quarter ended December 313 & a de minimis amount.
Because the carrying value of our ownership inténenglesey was zero, we recorded a de minimis ga the sale.
Segment and Geographical Area Financial Information

The information set forth in Note 14 of Notes tonSolidated Financial Statements included in IterfFancial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report regarding ourABAeporting segment and the geographical areagiich we operate is incorporated
herein by reference.

Competition

The fabricated aluminum industry is highly compe¢it We concentrate our fabricating operations ighlls engineered products for which

we believe we have production capability, technéadertise, high product quality, and geographit an
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other competitive advantages. We differentiate elues from our competitors by pursuing “Best ingSlacustomer satisfaction, which is
driven by quality, availability, service, and deliy performance, and having a broad product offgiimcluding the products in our Kaiser
Select® product line.

Our primary competitors in the global heat tredtatdrolled products are Alcoa and Constelliumthe extrusion/drawn market, we
compete with many regional participants, as welhager companies with a national presence, suSA&A and Alcoa. Some of our
competitors are substantially larger, have grdatancial resources, and may have other stratebjiargages.

Our fabricated aluminum products facilities arealed in North America. To the extent our compesitoave production facilities located
outside North America, they may be able to prodiigglar products at a lower cost or sell those puts at a lower price either during periods
when the currency exchange rates favor foreign etitign or through a process of dumping those petslin violation of existing trade laws.
We may not be able to adequately reduce costs@rgpio compete with these products. Increased etitigm could cause a reduction in our
shipment volume and profitability or increase oxpenditures.

In addition, our fabricated aluminum products cotapeith products made from other materials, sucst@sl, titanium and composites, for
various applications, including aircraft and autéim®manufacturing. The willingness of customeradtoept other materials in lieu of
aluminum and the ability of large customers to el@rerage in the marketplace to reduce the prifindabricated aluminum products could
adversely affect our results of operations.

For heat treat plate and sheet products, partiguiar aerospace applications, new competitioninsted by technological expertise that
only a few companies have developed through sianitiinvestment in research and development arablds®f operating experience. Further
use of plate and sheet in safety critical applaetimake quality and product consistency critiaatdrs. Suppliers must pass a rigorous
qualification process to sell to airframe manufeets. Additionally, significant investment in inftaucture and specialized equipment is
required to supply heat treat plate and sheet.

We maintain a competitive advantage by using apfiio engineering and advanced process engineridigtinguish our company and
our rolled and extruded/drawn products. In comlimatour application and process engineering amcerpertise in metallurgy and
manufacturing process control allow us to manufa&cproducts that are differentiated from the méjasf our competitors. In particular, our
differentiated KaiserSelect® products are enginared manufactured to deliver enhanced productckenistics with improved consistency,
so as to result in better performance, lower wastd, in many cases, lower cost for our customers.

Employees

At December 31, 2013we employed approximately 2,650 people, of whipproximately 2,590 were employed in our Fabricé&estiucts
segment and approximately 60 were employed in orparate group, most of whom are located in ouicef in Foothill Ranch, California.

The table below shows each manufacturing locattenprimary union affiliation, if any, and the esqdion date for the current union
contracts. As indicated below, union affiliatiorre avith the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rylianufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial
and Service Workers International Union, AFL — CIQ,C (“USW?"), International Association of Machitss(“IAM”) and International
Brotherhood of Teamsters (“Teamsters”).




Contract

Location Union Expiration Date
Chandler, AZ (Tube) usw Mar 2015
Chandler, AZ (Extrusion) Non-union —
Florence, AL Usw Mar 2014
Jackson, TN Non-union —
Kalamazoo, Ml usw Feb 2016
London, Ontario USW Canada Feb 2015
Los Angeles, CA Teamsters Apr 2015
Newark, OH usw Sep 2015
Richland, WA Non-union —
Richmond (Bellwood), VA USW/IAM Nov 2017/Nov 2017
Sherman, TX IAM Dec 2016
Spokane (Trentwood), WA usw Sep 2015

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a number of environmental lavesragulations, to potential fines or penalties sssé for alleged breaches of the
environmental laws and regulations, and to poteal#ms and litigation based upon such laws agdlagions.

We have established procedures for regularly etialy@nvironmental loss contingencies. Our envirental accruals represent our
undiscounted estimate of costs reasonably expézted incurred based on presently enacted lawseandations, existing requirements,
currently available facts, existing technology, aod assessment of the likely remediation actiortsettaken. See Note 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary Dafetfiie Report.

Legal Structure

Our current corporate structure is summarized ksie:

We directly own 100% of the issued and outstagdihares of capital stock of Kaiser Aluminum Iriu@nts Company, a Delaware

corporation (“KAIC"), which functions as an intergiate holding company.

We directly own 100% of the ownership interesKaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading Company, whichsMfarmed in China for the

primary purpose of engaging in market developmadt@mmercialization and distribution of our protuin Asia.

KAIC owns 100% of the ownership interests of eat:

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, a Dedae limited liability company (“KAFP”), which digly holds the assets
and liabilities associated with our Fabricated listsl segment (excluding those assets and liaBilitgsociated with our
London, Ontario and Chandler, Arizona (Extrusiamifities and certain of the assets and liabiliiesociated with our
Fabricated Products segment’s operations in the 8taVashington) and owns 100% of the ownershigrést of each of:

Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC, a Delaware lied liability company, which holds certain of thesats and
liabilities associated with our Fabricated Prodiseigment’s operations in the State of Washingtod; a

Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, a Delaware limitéidbility company, which holds the assets and liabs associated
with our Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility;

Kaiser Aluminum Canada Limited, an Ontario cagtimn, which holds the assets and liabilities egged with our London,
Ontario facility;

Kaiser Aluminium Mill Products, Inc., a Delawarerporation, which engages in market developmedtcmmercialization

and distribution of our products in Europe andjluhe second quarter of 2013, also purchased esala products produced by

Anglesey.




e Trochus Insurance Co., Ltd., a corporation fatrimeBermuda, which has historically functionedaasaptive insurance
company;

e Kaiser Aluminum France, SAS, a corporation fodnme France for the primary purpose of engagingarket development and
commercialization and distribution of our produictdVestern Europe; and

< DCO Management, LLC, a Delaware limited lialyiltompany, which, as a successor by merger to KAiseninum &
Chemical Corporation, holds our remaining non-opegaassets and liabilities.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

This Item may contain statements which constittdesard-looking statements” within the meaning lod Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. See Iten“Business — Forward-Looking Statements” for cautioninformation with respect to such forward-loogin
statements. Such cautionary information shouldda@lras applying to all forward-looking statementevever they appear in this Report.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of futuréop@ance and involve significant risks and uncanti@s. Actual results may vary
from those in forwar-looking statements as a result of a number obfadncluding those we discuss in this Item andwlere in this Report.
In addition to the factors discussed elsewherédigm Report, the risks described below are thosewleabelieve are material to our compa
The occurrence of any of the events discussed lelald significantly and adversely affect our besis, prospects, financial position, results
of operations and cash flows as well as the traglirige of our common stock.

We have experienced and continue to experiencedfiects of global economic uncertainty.
The U.S. and global economies continue to expegi@ngeriod of uncertainty with wide-ranging effeateluding:

« disruption in global financial markets that lzgimes reduced the liquidity available to us, customers, our suppliers and the
purchasers of products that materially affect desfanour products, including commercial airlines;

» aweakened global banking and financial systeahdreates ongoing risk and exposure to the ingfanbn-performance by banks
committed to provide financing, hedging countengartinsurers, customers and suppliers;

« volatility in commaodity prices that can matelyaimpact the results of our hedging strategiesater near-term cash margin
requirements, reduce the value of our inventonmbskaorrowing base under our revolving credit fagitind result in substantial non-
cash charges as we adjust inventory values and-toariarket our hedge positions;

» substantial fluctuations in consumer spending llaae at times reduced the demand for some applisathat use our produc
» destocking and restocking of inventory levels tiyioaut the supply chain for certain of our prodt

» our inability to achieve the level of growthather benefits anticipated from our acquisitiond ather strategic investments, and the
integration of acquired businesses;

* increases in our costs, including the cost efgy raw materials and freight, which we may neo@ble to pass entirely through to our
customers;

» pressure to reduce defense spending, which tiedsccould affect demand for our products usedeifense applications, as the U.S.
and foreign governments are faced with competinigpnal priorities; and

» the inability to predict with any certainty teaccess or failure of efforts to reduce governndefitit spending or the scope, nature or
effect of such efforts.

We are unable to predict the impact, severity aumatibn of these effects, any of which could haveaderial adverse impact on our
financial position, results of operations and cimlvs.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The fabricated products segment of the aluminumastrg is highly competitive. Competition in theesalf fabricated aluminum products is
based upon quality, availability, price, serviced aelivery performance. Many of our competitors smbstantially larger than we are and have
greater financial resources than we do, and mag béher strategic advantages, including more efiiciechnologies or lower or more stable
raw material costs. Our facilities are located wrtN America. To the extent that our competitorgehar develop production facilities located
outside North America, they may be able to prodiigglar products at a lower cost or sell those puts at a lower price either during periods
when the currency exchange rates favor foreign etitign or through a process of dumping those petslin violation of existing trade laws.
We may not be able to adequately reduce our cogigaes to compete with these products. Increasetpetition could cause a reduction in
our shipment volumes and profitability or increase expenditures, any one of which could have arnatadverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.




We depend on a core group of significant customers.

In 2013, our largest fabricated products custoiReliance Steel & Aluminum Company, accounted fipraximately 23% of our
fabricated products net sales, and our five largestomers accounted for approximately 43@6ur fabricated products net sales. If our emg
relationships with significant customers materiaéteriorate or are terminated and we are not sstdedn replacing lost business, our
financial position, results of operations and cislvs could be materially and adversely affectedadidition, a prolonged or increasing
downturn in the business or financial position w§ af our significant customers could cause anyanaore of them to limit purchases to
contractual minimum volumes, seek relief from caotual minimums or breach those obligations, alllbich could materially and adversely
affect our financial position, results of operaand cash flows.

Our industry is very sensitive to foreign economiegulatory and political factors that may advergeaiffect our business.

We import primary aluminum from, and manufacturerieated products used in, foreign countries. Fadtothe politically and
economically diverse countries in which we opemathave customers or suppliers, including inflatitimctuations in currency and interest
rates, availability of financial capital, compet#ifactors, civil unrest and labor problems, caffeéct our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. Our financial positresults of operations and cash flows could alsacdwersely affected by:

» acts of war or terrorism or the threat of war erdgsm

e government regulation in the countries in whichaperate, service customers or purchase raw ma
» the implementation of controls on imports, exportgrices

» the adoption of new forms of taxation and du

* new forms of emission controls and tax, commdmigwn as “cap and trade”

» the imposition of currency restrictiol

» the nationalization or appropriation of rights ther assets; al

» trade disputes involving countries in which we @per service customers or purchase raw mate

The commercial aerospace industry is cyclical analahturns in the commercial aerospace industry, inding downturns resulting from
acts of terrorism, could adversely affect our busss.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue frpmoducts sold to the aerospace industry, whidtighkly cyclical. The aerospace industry
is historically driven by the demand for new comaiaraircraft. Demand for commercial aircraft iflienced by trends in airline passenger
traffic and increasing global travel, normal reglacent of older aircraft, accelerated replacemefuelfinefficient aircraft, airline industry
profitability, the state of the U.S. and global eomies, the effects of terrorism, and numerousrddetors, including safety concerns with
newly introduced aircraft, any of which could r@sola sharp decrease globally in new commerciatait deliveries and order cancellations ol
deferrals by the major airlines. Despite existiaghlogs, financial uncertainty in the industry,deguate liquidity of certain airline companies,
terrorist acts or the increased threat of terromisay lead to reduced demand for new aircraft ttibzeiour products, which could adversely
affect our financial position, results of operas@and cash flows.

Reductions in defense spending for aerospace and-aerospace military applications could substantialeduce demand for our products.

Our products are used in a wide variety of militapplications, including military jets, armored i@bs and ordnance. The funding of U.S.
government programs is subject to congressionabgpiations. Many of the programs in which we papate may extend several years;
however, these programs are normally funded annu@hanges in military strategy and priorities nadfect current and future programs. In
recent years, the demand for our products for defealated applications arose from the conflictsa and Afghanistan. Such conflicts and
similar events are unplanned and unpredictableéu#iy all U.S. troops have been withdrawn fronglemnd Afghanistan, which permits
reductions in the level of defense spending. Wghificant pressure to reduce defense spendingead 1S. and foreign governments are faced
with competing national priorities, reductions iefehse spending could reduce the demand for odupts and could adversely affect our
financial position, results of operations and ciaivs.

Our customers may reduce their demand for aluminyoroducts in favor of alternative materials.

Our fabricated aluminum products compete with potslmmade from other materials, such as steeljditanand composites, for various
applications. For instance, the commercial aeraspadustry has used and continues to evaluateuttigef use of alternative materials to
aluminum, such as titanium and composites, in cmeeduce the weight and increase the fuel effyeof aircraft. Additionally, the
automotive industry, while motivated to reduce ethiveight with the use of
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aluminum, may revert to steel for certain applicasi. The willingness of customers to accept otheenrals in lieu of aluminum could
adversely affect the demand for our products, paily our aerospace and high strength produasfariomotive Extrusions, and thus
adversely affect our financial position, resultopérations and cash flows.

Downturns in the automotive and ground transportati industries could adversely affect our busine

The demand for our Automotive Extrusions and mainguo general engineering and other industrial patslis dependent on the
production of cars, light trucks, SUVs, and heaugydehicles and trailers in North America. Thecmbtive industry is highly cyclical, as n¢
vehicle demand is dependent on consumer spendahis gied closely to the overall strength of therticAmerican economy. Weak demand
for, or lower production of, new cars, light trucl&JVs, and heavy duty vehicles and trailers, paldily by U.S. manufacturers, could
adversely affect the demand for our products anme hamaterial adverse effect on our financial pasijtresults of operations and cash flows.
Additionally, in recent years, several North Amaricautomotive related manufacturers and firststigapliers experienced severe financial
difficulty, including bankruptcy, with serious etfis on the conditions of markets that directly eifthe demand for our products. If other North
American automotive-related manufacturers and fiiestsuppliers experience similar financial diffites or bankruptcy, there again could be
serious effects on such markets, which could havaterial adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows.

Changes in consumer demand for particular motor veles could adversely affect our business.

Sensitivity to energy costs and consumer preferenas influence consumer demand for motor vehtblagishave a higher content of the
aluminum Automotive Extrusions that we supply. Toes of business with respect to, or a lack of cemmial success of, one or more partic
vehicle models for which we are a significant sigiptould have an adverse impact on our finanaaltjon, results of operations and cash
flows.

We face pressure from our automotive customers oigipg.

Cost cutting initiatives that our automotive custsmhave adopted generally result in downward pressn pricing, and our automotive
customers typically seek agreements requiring réohgin pricing over the period of production.ddng pressure may intensify as North
American automobile manufacturers continue to aggively pursue cost cutting initiatives. If we areble to generate sufficient production
cost savings in the future to offset any requirddepreductions, our financial position, resultoopkrations and cash flows could be adversely
impacted.

Reductions in demand for our products may be moezere than, and may occur prior to reductions inrdand for, our customer products.

Customers purchasing our fabricated aluminum prisdsach as those in the cyclical aerospace indugtnerally require significant lead
time in the production of their own products. Ttiere, demand for our products may increase priatetmand for our customers’ products.
Conversely, demand for our products may decreasarasustomers anticipate a downturn in their respe businesses. As demand for our
customers’ products begins to soften, our customyeisally reduce or eliminate their demand for purducts and meet the reduced demand
for their products using their own inventory witheaplenishing that inventory, which results ireduction in demand for our products that is
greater than the reduction in demand for their pot&l This amplified reduction in demand for ousgurcts in the event of a downturn in our
customers’ respective businesses (destocking) hasrsely affect our financial position, resultsopkrations and cash flows.

Our business is subject to unplanned business intiptions which may adversely affect our business.

The production of fabricated aluminum products alwiinum is subject to unplanned events such aesgrps, fires, inclement weather,
natural disasters, accidents, labor disruptioassportation interruptions and supply interruptiddperational interruptions at one or more of
our production facilities, particularly interruptis at our Spokane (Trentwood), Washington facilihere our production of plate and sheet is
concentrated, could cause substantial losses iproduction capacity. Furthermore, because cus®may be dependent on planned delive
from us, customers that have to reschedule theirwduction due to our delivery delays may be #bleursue financial claims against us,
we may incur costs to correct such problems intaddto any liability resulting from such claimsitérruptions may also harm our reputation
among actual and potential customers, potentiabbylting in a loss of business. To the extent thesses are not covered by insurance, our
financial position, results of operations and cialvs may be adversely affected by such events.

Covenants and events of default in our debt instreimts could limit our ability to undertake certairypes of transactions and adversely aff
our liquidity.

Our revolving credit facility and the indenture gorning our $225.0 million of 8.250% Senior Noteg @020 ("Senior Notes") contain a
number of restrictive covenants that impose opegadind financial restrictions on us and may linuit ability to engage in acts that may be in
our long-term best interest, including restrictiamsour ability to:
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. incur additional indebtedness and guarantee tedeless;

. pay dividends or make other distributions or repase or redeem capital stock;
. prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;

. issue certain preferred stock or similar equétgwsities;

. make loans and investments;

. sell assets;

. incur liens;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. alter the businesses we conduct;

. enter into agreements restricting our subsidsagbility to pay dividends; and
. consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallypfour assets.

However, while the indenture governing the Seniotd¥ places limitations on our ability to pay deais or make other distributions,
repurchase or redeem capital stock, and make Erahinvestments, these limitations are subjedigificant qualifications and exceptions.
The aggregate amount of payments made in compliaitbeghese limitations could be substantial. Inliéidn, restrictive covenants in our
revolving credit facility require us in certain @iimstances to maintain specified financial ratiod satisfy other financial condition tests. Our
ability to meet those financial ratios and tests loa affected by events beyond our control, andnag be unable to meet them. You should
read our more detailed descriptions of our revg\wiredit facility and the indenture governing oent®r Notes in our filings with the Securit
and Exchange Commission, as well as the documieenssielves, for further information about these oavés.

A breach of the covenants or restrictions undeirilenture governing the Senior Notes or underewnlving credit facility could result
an event of default under the applicable indebtsslnBuch a default may allow the creditors to @raé& the related debt and may result in the
acceleration of any other debt to which a croselecation or cross-default provision applies. Idiidn, an event of default under our
revolving credit facility could permit the lendarader our revolving credit facility to terminaté e@dmmitments to extend further credit under
that facility. Furthermore, if we were unable tpag any amounts due and payable under our revobredjt facility, those lenders could
proceed against the collateral granted to thenetare that indebtedness. In the event our lendarsteholders accelerate the repayment o
borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not ha¥iécgnt assets to repay that indebtedness. Asaltref these restrictions, we may be:

. limited in how we conduct our business;
. unable to raise additional debt or equity finagcio operate during general economic or businesstlirns; or
. unable to compete effectively or to take advaataignew business opportunities.

These restrictions may affect our ability to grawaccordance with our strategy. In addition, onaficial results, our substantial
indebtedness and our credit ratings could adveedédgt the availability and terms of financing.

In addition, a payment default, or an acceleratidlowing an event of default, under our revolviogdit facility, our indenture for our
4.5% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2015 ("Cuitke Notes") or our indenture for our Senior Ngteould trigger an event of default
under the others, which could result in the priatigf and the accrued and unpaid interest on ah siebt becoming due and payable.

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flowrfr@ur business to pay our del

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the fpalof, to pay interest on or to refinance ourtddatiigations, including the Senior
Notes and our Convertible Notes, depends on oaniiial condition and operating performance, whighsaibject to prevailing economic a
competitive conditions and to certain financialsimess, legislative, regulatory and other fact@wond our control. We may be unable to
maintain a level of cash flows from operating atithé sufficient to permit us to pay the princigatemium, if any, and interest on our
indebtedness, including the Senior Notes and CdibleNotes.
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If our cash flows and capital resources are insigffit to fund our debt service obligations, we ddakce substantial liquidity problems and
could be forced to reduce or delay investmentscapital expenditures or to dispose of materialtasseoperations, seek additional debt or
equity capital or restructure or refinance our lstdeness, including the Senior Notes and Converhldtes. We may not be able to effect any
such alternative measures, if necessary, on conmigneasonable terms or at all and, even if sasfid, those alternative actions may not
allow us to meet our scheduled debt service olidigat Our revolving credit facility and the indergwgoverning the Senior Notes restrict our
ability to dispose of assets and use the proceedsthose dispositions and may also restrict oilityabo raise debt or certain forms of equity
capital to be used to repay other indebtedness wix@tomes due. We may not be able to consummsagt dispositions or to obtain proceeds
in an amount sufficient to meet any debt servideggabions then due.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debtyill be in default and holders of the Senior Maa@d Convertible Notes could
declare all outstanding principal and interestealbe and payable, the lenders under our revoluiadit facility could terminate their
commitments to loan money, the lenders could foechgainst the assets securing their borrowingisvarcould be forced into bankruptcy or
liquidation.

The conditional conversion features of our Convéatié Notes, if triggered and exercised, may adversdfect our financial position,
operating results and cash flows.

In the event the conditional conversion featuresusfConvertible Notes are triggered, holders ahsootes are entitled to convert such
notes at any time during specified periods at thpiron. Because our closing stock price excee@@d4lof the conversion price for 20 trading
days during a period of 30 consecutive trading éaging on December 31, 2013, the last trading dffattee fourth quarter of 2013, a
conditional conversion feature of the Convertiblgt@$ was triggered, enabling holders to conveit thenvertible Notes during the first
guarter of 2014. The Company believes that the etarédue of the Convertible Notes will continuestaceed the amount of cash payable upor
conversion, making early conversion unlikely. Hoee\vf one or more holders elect to convert theies, we would be required to settle our
conversion obligation through the payment of cagfich could adversely affect our liquidity and rit$n a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operation and cdsiws.

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactiadhat we entered into in connection with the issumnof our Convertible Notes may
affect the market price of our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of our Converttges, we entered into privately negotiated tratisas whereby we purchased cash-
settled call options relating to shares of our camrstock and sold to the same option counterpargéshare-settled warrants relating to our
common stock.

We understand that the option counterparties ardéir affiliates have entered into various deiix@transactions with respect to our
common stock in order to hedge their exposureutidiations and volatility in the price of our comm&tock and that the option counterparties
and/or their affiliates may modify their hedge piosis by entering into or unwinding various derivas with respect to our common stock
and/or purchasing or selling our common stock ooadary market transactions prior to the maturitgur Convertible Notes (and are likely to
do so during any settlement averaging period reéladea conversion of our Convertible Notes). THedf if any, of these transactions and
activities on the market price of our common stailkdepend in part on market conditions and carbeascertained at this time, but any of
these activities could adversely affect the mapkite of our common stock.

We are subject to counterparty risk with respectie convertible note hedge transactions.

The option counterparties are financial institusian affiliates of financial institutions, and wéllvoe subject to the risk that these option
counterparties may default or otherwise fail tofgen, or may exercise certain rights to terminatrtobligations, under the convertible note
hedge transactions. Our exposure to the crediofiste option counterparties will not be securgdby collateral. If one or more of the option
counterparties to one or more of our convertiblei@dge transactions becomes subject to insolvenoeedings, we will become an
unsecured creditor in those proceedings with arckgjual to our exposure at the time under thossactions. Our exposure will depend on
many factors but, generally, the increase in oposure will be correlated to the increase in theketgprice of our common stock and in
volatility of our common stock. A default or othfailure to perform, or a termination of obligatiotsy one of the option counterparties could
materially and adversely affect our financial positand results of operations. We can provide som@sces as to the financial stability or
viability of any of the option counterparties.

We are a holding company and depend on our subsidmfor cash to meet our obligations and pay ariyidends.

We are a holding company and conduct all of ouratpans through our subsidiaries, certain of whaoh not guarantors of our Senior
Notes or our other indebtedness. Accordingly, repayt of our indebtedness, including the Senior blatedependent on the generation of
flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to makech cash available to us, by dividend,
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debt repayment or otherwise. Unless they are gt@asanf the Senior Notes or other indebtednesssobsidiaries do not have any obligatio
pay amounts due on the Senior Notes or other iedelts or to make funds available for that purpose subsidiaries may not be able to, or
may not be permitted to, make distributions to émais to make payments in respect of our indebtgriecluding the Senior Notes. Each of
our subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity, anujer certain circumstances, legal and contracasdtictions may limit our ability to obtain cash
from our subsidiaries. While our revolving creditility and the indenture governing the Senior Nditmit the ability of our subsidiaries to
incur consensual restrictions on their ability &y glividends or make other intercompany paymentsthese limitations are subject to
qualifications and exceptions. In the event thatwenot receive distributions from our subsidiarige may be unable to make required
principal and interest payments on our indebtedneskiding the Senior Notes.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flowsstttisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance owtebtedness on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, would materially and adverselyeeaffour financial position and results of operagion

We may not be able to successfully implement owdarctivity and cost reduction initiatives.

As the economy and markets for our products morautth economic downturns or supply otherwise betgiresxceed demand through
increases in capacity or reduced demand, it iasingly important for us to be a low cost produédthough we have undertaken and expect
to continue to undertake productivity and cost cdidm initiatives to improve performance, includidgployment of company-wide business
improvement methodologies, such as our Kaiser RtgmtuSystem, which involves the integrated appilicaof continuous improvement tools
such as Lean Manufacturing, Six Sigma and Totadlietive Manufacturing, we cannot assure you tHaifahese initiatives will be completed
or beneficial to us or that any estimated costrgpfiiom such activities will be fully realized. Bve/hen we are able to generate new
efficiencies successfully in the short- to mediwemt, we may not be able to continue to reduceamstincrease productivity over the long
term.

Our business could be adversely affected by incesais the cost of raw materials and freight.

The price of primary aluminum has historically beabject to significant cyclical price fluctuatigramd the timing of changes in the ma
price of aluminum is largely unpredictable. Althugur pricing of fabricated aluminum products isgelly intended to pass the risk of price
fluctuations on to our customers, we may not be &bpass on the entire cost of increases to aiomiers or offset fully the effects of higher
costs for other raw materials or freight through tise of surcharges and other measures, which ausg our profitability to decline. There \
also be a potential time lag between increasesstsdor raw materials or freight under our purehesntracts and the point when we can
implement a corresponding increase in price undesales contracts with our customers. As a reagltnay be exposed to fluctuations in the
costs for raw material, including aluminum anddtdj since, during the time lag, we may have to beaadditional cost increase under our
purchase contracts. If these events were to ottoey,could have a material adverse effect on manftial position, results of operations and
cash flows. In addition, increases in raw matergsts may cause some of our customers to substifuee materials for our products over time
adversely affecting our financial position, resaf®perations and cash flows due to a decreatteinales of fabricated aluminum products.

The price volatility of energy costs may adversatfect our business.

Our income and cash flows depend on the marginefired and variable expenses (including energyst@d which we are able to sell ¢
fabricated aluminum products. The volatility in toef fuel, principally natural gas, and otheritytiservices, principally electricity, used by
production facilities affect operating costs. Faed utility prices have been, and will continudg affected by factors outside our control, ¢
as supply and demand for fuel and utility serviodsoth local and regional markets and the poterggulation of greenhouse gases. Future
increases in fuel and utility prices may have aemal adverse effect on our financial positionutesof operations and cash flows.

Legislation on derivative transactions could hava adverse impact on our ability to hedge risks asiated with our business and on the ci
of our hedging activities.

We use over-the-counter (“*OTC") derivatives product hedge our risks relating to primary aluminumaes, energy prices, and foreign
currency. Recent legislation has been adoptecctease the regulatory oversight of the OTC deneatimarkets and impose restrictions on
certain derivative transactions, which could aftibet use of derivatives in hedging transactioneedfilations subject us to additional capital or
margin requirements or other restrictions on cadlittg and commaodity positions, they could havedwreese effect on our ability to hedge ri
associated with our business and on the cost dfiedging activities.

Our hedging programs may limit the income and cafétws we would otherwise expect to receive if owdiging program were not in place
and may otherwise affect our business.

From time to time in the ordinary course of busiege enter into hedging transactions to limit @xposure to price risks relating to
primary aluminum prices, energy prices and foragmency. To the extent that market prices or enghaates at
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the expiration of these hedging transactions wbialke been more favorable to us than the fixed piiceates established by these hedging
transactions, our income and cash flows will bedothan they otherwise would have been. Additignadl the extent that primary aluminum
prices, energy prices and/or foreign currency exgbhaates deviate materially and adversely fromdijXloor or ceiling prices or rates
established by outstanding hedging transactiongaivt satisfy certain covenants, or an everdeffult occurs under the terms of the
underlying documents, we could incur margin cdik tould adversely impact our liquidity and resulh material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and ciislvs. Conversely, we are exposed to risks assettiaith the credit worthiness of our hedging
counterparties. The credit worthiness of hedgingnterparties is inherently difficult to assess aad change quickly and dramatically, as
demonstrated by the significant trading lossestmrtkruptcies of some large financial institutiomgdécent years. Non-performance by a
counterparty could have a material adverse effeduw financial position, results of operations aadh flows.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curreneychange rates and interest rates, as well as itifla and other economic factors, in the
countries in which we operate, service customergparchase raw materials.

Economic factors, including inflation and fluctuats in foreign currency exchange rates and intea¢ss, in the countries in which we
operate, service customers or purchase raw maeaald affect our revenues, expenses and redulfsenations. In particular, lower valuation
of the U.S. dollar against other currencies, paldidy the Canadian dollar and Euro, may affectmuaffitability as some important raw
materials are purchased in other currencies, vgndducts generally are sold in U.S. dollars.

Our ability to keep key management and other pensehin place and our ability to attract managemeannd other personnel may affect our
performance.

We depend on our senior executive officers andrd¢ag personnel to run our business, and we degigcompensation programs to atti
and retain key personnel and facilitate our abttitylevelop effective succession plans. The lossgfof these officers or other key personnel
or failure to attract key personnel could mateyialhd adversely affect our succession planningogedations. Competition for qualified
employees among companies that rely heavily onneeging and technology is intense, and the losgialified employees or an inability to
attract, retain and motivate additional highly ldlemployees required for the operation and exparef our business could hinder our ability
to improve manufacturing operations, conduct redeactivities successfully and develop marketabbelpcts.

Our failure to maintain satisfactory labor relation could adversely affect our business.

A significant number of our employees are represgbly labor unions under labor contracts with vagydurations and expiration dates,
including labor contracts with the United Steelp@aand Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energliedlindustrial and Service Workers
International Union, AFL - CIO, CLC (*USW?”), covery seven of our manufacturing locations. Employepsesented by labor unions under
labor contracts represented approximately 62% oeaployees at December 31, 2013 . Contracts ananufacturing locations expire in
2014 through 2017. We may not be able to renegotinhegotiate these or our other labor contrattsatisfactory terms. As part of any
negotiation, we may reach agreements with respdotire wages and benefits that could materiaily adversely affect our future financial
position, results of operations and cash flowsaddition, negotiations could divert managemenmnétta or result in union-initiated work
actions, including strikes or work stoppages, timatld have a material adverse effect on our fir@rmsition, results of operations and cash
flows. Moreover, the existence of labor agreemeardg not prevent such union-initiated work actions.

Our participation in multi-employer union pensionlans may have a material adverse effect on our fiwéal performance.

We are required to make contributions to multi-emgpl pension plans in amounts established undbrotiwle bargaining agreements.
Pension expense for these plans is recognizednastedions are funded. Benefits generally are asea fixed amount for each year of
service. Based on the most recent information alikglto us, we believe a number of these multieggplplans are underfunded. As a result,
we expect that contributions to these plans manease. Additionally, the benefit levels and reldteths will be issues in the negotiation of
collective bargaining agreements. Under current Eawemployer that withdraws or partially withdrafn@em a multi-employer pension plan
may incur withdrawal liability to the plan, whickpresents the portion of the plan’s underfundirag i allocable to the withdrawing employer
under very complex actuarial and allocation ruld® failure of a withdrawing employer to fund thedsigations can impact remaining
employers. The amount of any increase or decr@aserirequired contributions to these multi-emplgyension plans will depend upon the
outcome of collective bargaining, actions takerrhgtees who manage the plans and other employerpuarticipate in the plans, government
regulations and the actual return on assets hédtlteiplans, among other factors.

Our business is regulated by a wide variety of ikand safety laws and regulations and compliancayrbe costly and may adversely affect
our business.

Our operations are regulated by a wide varietyaatin and safety laws and regulations, includimmgmndy executed federal health care
legislation. Compliance with these laws and regomheat may be costly and could have a material aéveffect on our results of operations. In
addition, these laws and regulations are subjechamge at any time, and we can give
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you no assurance as to the effect that any suatgelsavould have on our operations or the amounttbavould have to spend to comply w
such laws and regulations as so changed.

Environmental compliance, clean up and damage claimay decrease our cash flow and adversely affecttusiness

We are subject to numerous environmental laws agdlations with respect to, among other thingsaad water emissions and discharges
the generation, storage, treatment, transportatiohdisposal of solid and hazardous waste; ancetbase of hazardous or toxic substances,
pollutants and contaminants into the environmenm@liance with these environmental laws is and edgltinue to be costly.

Our continuing operations and certain of our formgerations have subjected, and may in the futubgest, us to fines, penalties and
expenses for alleged breaches of environmental déadgo obligations to perform investigations @ael up of the environment. We may also
be subject to claims from governmental authoritiethird parties related to alleged injuries to #m¥ironment, human health or natural
resources, including claims with respect to wasdpakal sites, the clean up of sites currentlyoomerly used by us or exposure of individuals
to hazardous materials. Any investigation, clearsupther remediation costs, fines or penaltiegosts to resolve third-party claims, may be
significant and could have a material adverse effamur financial position, results of operati@msl cash flows.

We have accrued, and will accrue, for costs rejdiinthe above matters that are reasonably expézteslincurred based on available
information. However, it is possible that actuastsomay differ, perhaps significantly, from the amis expected or accrued. Similarly, the
timing of those expenditures may occur faster @uaticipated. These differences could have a matatigerse effect on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. In additiew laws or regulations or changes to existing lamd regulations may be enacted, including
government mandated green initiatives and limitetion carbon emissions, that increase the costroplexity of compliance. Difference in
actual costs, the timing of payments for previoaglgrued costs and the impact of new or amendesidawl regulations may have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, resufteerations and cash flows.

Governmental regulation relating to greenhouse gamissions may subject us to significant new costid aestrictions on our operations

Many scientists, legislators and others attriblitaate change to increased levels of greenhousesgagluding carbon dioxide, which has
led to significant legislative and regulatory effoto limit greenhouse gas emissions. Laws endnt&diongress or policies of the Environme
Protection Agency could regulate greenhouse gasséonis through a cap-and-trade system under winittees would be required to buy
allowances to offset emissions of greenhouse gaaddition, several states, including states wherdave manufacturing plants, are
considering various greenhouse gas registrationmeshattion programs. Certain of our manufacturifam{s use significant amounts of energy,
including electricity and natural gas, and cert#iour plants emit amounts of greenhouse gas abenain minimum thresholds that are likely
to be imposed by existing proposals. Greenhouseeggsation could increase the price of the eleityrive purchase, increase costs for our us
of natural gas, potentially restrict access tcheruse of natural gas, require us to purchase afioas to offset our own emissions or result i
overall increase in our costs of raw materials, @mg of which could significantly increase our spséduce our competitiveness in a global
economy or otherwise negatively affect our businepsrations or financial results. It is too edadypredict how existing or future regulation
will affect our business, operations or financegults.

Other legal proceedings or investigations or chasga the laws and regulations to which we are sutijenay adversely affect our business.

In addition to the matters described above, we fraay time to time be involved in, or be the subjeftdisputes, proceedings and
investigations with respect to a variety of matt@rsluding matters related to personal injury, éypes, taxes and contracts, as well as other
disputes and proceedings that arise in the ordioaumyse of business. It could be costly to additesse claims or any investigations involving
them, whether meritorious or not, and legal progegsiand investigations could divert managenseattention as well as operational resour
negatively affecting our financial position, resuif operations and cash flows.

Additionally, as with environmental laws and redigas, the other laws and regulations which gowmmbusiness are subject to change at
any time. Compliance with changes to existing lawd regulations could have a material adverseteffeour financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

Product liability claims against us could result isignificant costs and could adversely affect ourdiness.

We are sometimes exposed to product liability ctaivivhile we generally maintain insurance againstyn@oduct liability risks, a
successful claim that is not insured, exceeds waitable insurance coverage, or is no longer fingured as a result of the insolvency of one ¢
more of the underlying carriers could have a matexilverse effect on our financial position, resoftoperations and cash flows.
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Our investment and other expansion projects may hetcompleted or start up as scheduled.

We are currently engaged in, and have recently &etegh various investment and expansion projeats.ability to complete such projects,
and the timing and costs of doing so, are subgeeatious risks associated with all major constamcprojects, many of which are beyond our
control, including technical or mechanical probleexsonomic conditions and permitting. Additionallye start up of operations after such
projects have been completed can be complicated@stty. If we are unable to fully complete thesejgcts, if the actual costs for these
projects exceed our expectations, or if the sjagphase after completion is more complicated thitipated, our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely aftect

We may not be able to successfully execute ourtetyg of growth through acquisitions.

A component of our growth strategy is to acquitarifzated products assets in order to complemenpmgduct portfolio. Our ability to do
so will be dependent upon a number of factorspiticlg our ability to identify acceptable acquisiticandidates, consummate acquisitions on
favorable terms, successfully integrate acquirsgtasand obtain financing to fund acquisitions sungport our growth, many of which are
beyond our control. Risks associated with acquisgtinclude those relating to:

» diversion of managemesttime and attention from our existing busin
« challenges in managing the increased scope, gdugrdipersity and complexity of operatio

« difficulties integrating the financial, techngical and management standards, processes, preseghat controls of the acquired
business with those of our existing operations;

« liability for known or unknown environmental condits or other contingent liabilities not coveredibgemnification or insuranc

e greater than anticipated expenditures requineddmpliance with environmental or other regulatstandards or for investments to
improve operating results;

» difficulties achieving anticipated operational impements
» incurrence of indebtedness to finance acquisit@reapital expenditures relating to acquired asseit
» issuance of additional equity, which could resulfurther dilution of the ownership interests ofsting stockholder:

We may not be successful in acquiring additionaktss and any acquisitions that we do consummayenoitgproduce the anticipated
benefits or may have adverse effects on our firsupasition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to adequately protect proprigtaghts to our technology.

Our success will depend in part upon our propnetachnology and processes. Although we attemptdtect our intellectual property
through patents, trademarks, trade secrets, cdpgrigonfidentiality and nondisclosure agreementsather measures, these measures mas
be adequate, particularly in foreign countries whbe laws may offer significantly less intelledtpeoperty protection than is offered by the
laws of the United States. In addition, any attentptenforce our intellectual property rights, efesuccessful, could result in costly and
prolonged litigation, divert management’s attentioml adversely affect our results of operationscasth flows. The unauthorized use of our
intellectual property may adversely affect our tessaf operations as our competitors would be &blatilize such property without having had
to incur the costs of developing it, thus potehtieéducing our relative profitability. Furthermornee may be subject to claims that our
technology infringes the intellectual property tiglof another. Even if without merit, those claicasild result in costly and prolonged
litigation, divert management’s attention and adebr affect our results of operations and cashdgldw addition, we may be required to enter
into licensing agreements in order to continue gisithnology that is important to our businessyemay be unable to obtain license
agreements on acceptable terms, either of whichld cmgatively affect our financial position, resulif operations and cash flows.

We may be subject to risks relating to our infornt technology systems.

We rely on information technology systems to precémnsmit and store electronic information andhagg and operate our business. A
breach in cyber security could expose us and ostoowers and suppliers to risks of misuse of confidéinformation, manipulation and
destruction of data, production downtimes and dpmra disruptions, which in turn could adverselfeaf our reputation, competitive position,
business or results of operations. The costs etateyber or other security threats or disruptioray not be fully insured or indemnified by
other means.

In addition, from time to time we may replace amd/pgrade our current information technology systenihese activities subject us to
inherent costs and risks associated with replaaimjupdating these systems, including potentialigton of our internal control structure,
substantial capital expenditures, demands on mamagfetime and other risks of delays or
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difficulties in transitioning to new systems orinfegrating new systems into our current systens.g9stems implementations and upgrades
may not result in productivity improvements at kxeels anticipated, or at all. In addition, the Ieypentation of new technology systems may
cause disruptions in our business operations. 8ischption and any other information technologytegsdisruptions, and our ability to
mitigate those disruptions, if not anticipated apgropriately mitigated, could have a material aslveffect on us.

Our effective income tax rate or the amount of orgquired tax payments could increase and materialyversely affect our business.

We operate in multiple tax jurisdictions and pay @ our income according to the tax laws of thjassdictions. Various factors, some of
which are beyond our control, determine our effectax rate and/or the amount of tax we are redumeay, including changes in or
interpretations of tax laws in any given jurisdictj our ability to use net operating losses ancttexit carryforwards and other tax attributes,
changes in geographical allocation of income ampsge, and our judgment about the realizabilitgeférred tax assets. Changes to our
effective tax rate and/or the amount of tax weracpiired to pay could materially adversely affaat financial position, liquidity, results of
operations and cash flows.

Exposure to additional income tax liabilities due twdits could materially adversely affect our bness.

Due to our size and the nature of our businesgre/subject to ongoing reviews by taxing jurisdict on various tax matters, including
challenges to various positions we assert on augnire tax and withholding tax returns. We accruerime tax liabilities and tax contingencies
based upon our best estimate of the taxes ultignaiglected to be paid after considering our knogéedf all relevant facts and circumstances
existing tax laws, our experience with previousitsuand settlements, the status of current tax eéxations and how the tax authorities view
certain issues. Such amounts are included in faagsble or other non-current liabilities, as appiaip, and updated over time as more
information becomes available. We record additidgaglexpense in the period in which we determir tine recorded tax liability is less than
the ultimate assessment we expect. We are currauitlect to audit and review in a number of juigdidins in which we operate, and further
audits may commence in the future.

We may not be able to utilize all of our net operaf loss carryforwards.

We have net operating loss carryforwards and aiggrificant U.S. tax attributes that we believeldoaffset otherwise taxable income in
the United States. The net operating loss carrndods available in any year to offset our net tagcatrtome will be reduced following a more
than 50% change in ownership during any periodéof@secutive months (an “ownership change”) asrdehed under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code”). Our certificate of inporation prohibits and voids certain transferswf @ommon stock in order to reduce the risk
that an ownership change will jeopardize our netrating loss carryforwards. Because U.S. tax lavitdi the time during which carryforwards
may be applied against future taxes, we may neibteeto take full advantage of the carryforwardsféaleral income tax purposes. In addition,
federal and state tax laws pertaining to net opegdbss carryforwards may be changed from timénte such that the net operating loss
carryforwards may be reduced or eliminated. Ifrieeoperating loss carryforwards become unavaitabies or are fully utilized, our future
income will not be shielded from federal and stat®me taxation, and the funds otherwise availédnigeneral corporate purposes would be
reduced.

Transfer restrictions and other factors could hindéhe market for our common stock.

In order to reduce the risk that an ownership ckamguld jeopardize the preservation of our U.Sefatlincome tax attributes, including
net operating loss carryforwards, for purposesauftins 382 and 383 of the Code, our certificat@modrporation includes restrictions on
transfers involving 5% ownership. These transfstrigtions may make our stock less attractive tgdanstitutional holders, discourage
potential acquirers from attempting to take ovar@ampany, limit the price that investors mightiiéling to pay for shares of our common
stock and otherwise hinder the market for our comstock.

We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that inadvertently impair theauof our federal income tax
attributes.

Section 382 of the Code affects our ability to asefederal income tax attributes, including outr egerating loss carryforwards, following
a more than 50% change in ownership during anypgdef 36 consecutive months, an ownership charggdetermined under the Code. Cer
transactions may be included in the calculatioarobwnership change, including transactions innghour repurchase or issuance of our
common shares. When we engage in or approve amgairion involving our common shares that may blui@ed in the calculation of an
ownership change, our practice is to first perfoe calculations necessary to confirm that ouritgtid use our federal income tax attributes
will not be affected. These calculations are compled reflect certain necessary assumptions. Aaoglyd it is possible that we could approve
or engage in a transaction involving our commorreshthat causes an ownership change and inadvgiirepiirs the use of our federal inco
tax attributes.
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We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that adversely affect signifitatockholders.

Under the transfer restrictions in our certificaténcorporation, our 5% stockholders are, in effeequired to seek the approval of, or a
determination by, our Board of Directors beforeytbagage in transactions involving our common st¥¢& could engage in or approve
transactions involving our common stock that limit ability to approve future transactions involyiour common stock by our 5%
stockholders in accordance with the transfer mgtns in our certificate of incorporation withdatpairing the use of our federal income tax
attributes. In addition, we could engage in or apprtransactions involving our common stock thaiseastockholders owning less than 5% to
become 5% stockholders, resulting in those stocldrslhaving to seek the approval of, or a determinabgnour Board of Directors under ¢
certificate of incorporation before they could eggan future transactions involving our common ktdeor example, share repurchases reduc
the number of our common shares outstanding anld cause a stockholder holding less than 5% torneca 5% stockholder even though it
has not acquired any additional shares.

We are exposed to risks relating to evaluationsohtrols required by Section 404 of the Sarbanesk&yxAct of 2002.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of theb@negxley Act of 2002. While our principal executivefioér and principal financie
officer concluded that our internal controls ovieahcial reporting were effective as of December2fl3 , we cannot assure you that we will
not have a material weakness in the future. A “ni@teveakness” is a control deficiency, or combioatof significant deficiencies, that results
in more than a remote likelihood that a materiastatement of the annual or interim financial stetets will not be prevented or detected. If
we fail to maintain a system of internal control@ofinancial reporting that meets the requiremenhtSection 404, we might be subject to
sanctions or investigation by regulatory authasiseich as the SEC or by the Nasdaq Stock Market Bld@itionally, failure to comply with
Section 404 or the report by us of a material weakmmay cause investors to lose confidence inimamdial statements and our stock price
may be adversely affected. If we fail to remedy amterial weakness, our financial statements magpdmxurate, we may be subject to
increase in insurance costs, we may not have ateéiss capital markets, and our stock price magdersely affected.

Our results may fail to meet investor expectaticarsd the trading price of our stock may decline digea variety of factors beyond our
control.

Our financial and operating results may be sigaifity below the expectations of public market astyand investors and the price of our
common stock may decline due to the factors beyamdontrol, including, among others:

» volatility in the spot market for primary aluminuend energy cos!
e cyclical aspects impacting demand for our prod
e changes in the volume, price and mix of the prasluat sell

* non-cash charges including last-in, first-out;,ldFO”, inventory charges and impairments, lovedrcost or market valuation
adjustments to inventory, mark-to-market gains lasdes related to our derivative transactions emghirments of fixed assets and
intangible assets;

e unanticipated interruptions of our operations, udahg variations in the maintenance needs for acitifies
* unanticipated changes in our labor relations
e U.S. and global economic conditic

Our annual variable payment obligations to two vailtary employees beneficiary associations ("VEBAs)e linked with our profitability,
which means that not all of our earnings will be aNable to our stockholders.

We are obligated to make annual payments to theA&aBat provide benefits for certain eligible reés and their spouses and eligible
dependents calculated in part on our profitabibitygl therefore, not all of our earnings will beikalde to our stockholders. The aggregate
amount of our annual payments to the VEBAs is cdieb20 million in the aggregate and is subjedther limitations. As a result of these
variable payment obligations, our cash flows maydusiiced. Our obligation to the VEBA that providesefits for eligible retirees representec
by certain unions and their surviving spouse aigibéé dependents (the “Union VEBA”") terminates $eptember 30, 2017 and is capped at
$17.1 million. In the future, groups representing current and future retired hourly employeegherUnion VEBA itself, may seek to extend
our obligation to the Union VEBA beyond the curr&rmination date. Any such extension could hawgaterial adverse effect on our financ
position, results of operations and cash flows. @hligation to the VEBA that provides benefits éartain other eligible retirees, their
surviving spouse and eligible dependents (the tieala/EBA") has no express termination date anchigped at $2.9 million.

19




The ownership of our stock is concentrated, witlieav owners who may, individually or collectivelygert significant influence over us.

Certain investment funds, advisers and organizatiwn greater than 5% of our outstanding commotksds of December 31, 2013 . As a
result, any of them could have significant influerwer matters requiring stockholder approval,udiig the composition of our Board of
Directors. Further, to the extent that the subgthstockholders were to act in concert, they cqdtentially control any action taken by our
stockholders. This concentration of ownership calidd facilitate or hinder proxy contests, tendézrs, open market purchase programs,
mergers or other purchases of our common stoclntigiit otherwise give stockholders the opportutatyealize a premium over the then
prevailing market price of our common stock or eatee market price of our common stock to dechfie.cannot assure you that the interests
of our major stockholders will not conflict with pinterests or the interests of our other investors

The USW has director nomination rights through whidt may influence us, and USW interests may noigal with our interests or the
interests of our stockholders, debt holders andetistakeholders.

Pursuant to agreements between us and the USWS3Weéhas the right to nominate candidates whicalgéted, would constitute 40% of
our Board of Directors through September 30, 2@1%hich time the USW is required to cause anyctiirenominated by the USW to submit
his or her resignation to our Board of Directorjafn submission our Board of Directors may accepeject in its discretion. As a result, the
directors nominated by the USW have a significante in the decisions of our Board of Directorgsipossible that the USW may seek to
extend the term of the agreement and its righbtainate board members beyond 2015.

Payment of dividends may not continue in the futuind our payment of dividends and stock repurcheisge subject to restrictior

Our Board of Directors has declared a cash dividendach quarter since the summer of 2007. Inteddiour Board of Directors has
authorized a stock repurchase program. The futeckachtion and payment of dividends and the ongpimghase of our shares, if any, will be
at the discretion of the Board of Directors and dépend on a number of factors, including ourriitial and operating results, financial
position, and anticipated cash requirements. Wegoanno assurance that dividends will be declaredi paid or that dividends will not be
reduced in the future. Additionally, our revolvingedit facility and the indenture for our SeniortB®restrict our ability to pay dividends and
repurchase our common shares.

Our certificate of incorporation includes transferestrictions that may void transactions in our conom stock effected by 5% stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation restricts the sfar of our equity securities if either (1) thenséeror holds 5% or more of the fair market
value of all of our issued and outstanding equéigusities or (2) as a result of the transfer, eidrey person would become such a 5%
stockholder or the percentage stock ownership piach 5% stockholder would be increased. Thedgatisns are subject to exceptions set
forth in our certificate of incorporation. Any trsfier that violates these restrictions is void airltllve unwound as provided in our certificate of
incorporation.

Delaware law and our governing documents may impedeliscourage a takeover, which could adverselfeaf the value of our commo
stock.

Provisions of Delaware law and our certificaterafdrporation and bylaws may discourage a changerufol of our company or deter
tender offers for our common stock. We are curyesiibject to anti-takeover provisions under Dela@ntaw. These anti-takeover provisions
impose various impediments to the ability of adiparty to acquire control of us. Additionally, prsions of our certificate of incorporation &
bylaws impose various procedural and other requeres) which could make it more difficult for stocktiers to effect certain corporate actic
For example, our certificate of incorporation auihes our Board of Directors to determine the gipreferences and privileges and restric
of unissued shares of preferred stock without aitg @r action by our stockholders. As a result,Board of Directors can authorize and issue
shares of preferred stock with voting or conversights that could adversely affect the voting tivev rights of holders of common stock. Our
certificate of incorporation also divides our Boafdirectors into three classes of directors wexvs for staggered terms. A significant effect
of a classified Board of Directors may be to détestile takeover attempts because an acquirer @qgdrience delays in replacing a majority
of directors. Moreover, stockholders are not pedito call a special meeting. Our certificatermfarporation restricts certain transactions in
our common stock involving 5% stockholders or partivho would become 5% stockholders as a restliieafansaction. The general effect of
these transfer restrictions, which were put in @lecreduce the risk that an ownership change wjeolgardize the preservation of our U.S.
federal income tax attributes, including net ogaratoss carryforwards, is to ensure that a chamgsvnership of more than 45% of our
outstanding common stock cannot occur in any tlyesg-period without the consent of our Board ofelbiors. These rights and provisions r
have the effect of delaying or deterring a charfgsoatrol of our company and may limit the pricatimvestors might be willing to pay in the
future for shares of our common stock.
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Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Information regarding the location, size and owhgr®f our principal plants as of December 31, 2i¥18elow:

Location Square footage Owned or Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) 115,00( Owned/Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Tube) 93,00( Owned/Leased
Florence, Alabama 252,00( Owned
Jackson, Tennessee 310,00 Owned
Kalamazoo, Michigan 465,00( Leased
London, Ontario (Canada) 265,00( Owned
Los Angeles, California 183,00( Owned
Newark, Ohio 1,293,001 Owned
Richland, Washington 45,00( Leased
Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia 430,00( Owned
Sherman, Texas 313,00( Owned
Spokane (Trentwood), Washington 2,866,001 Owned/Leased
Total 6,630,00!

! The Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility is sutti¢o a land lease with a lease term that expir@9R3. We have certain extension rights
in respect of the Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion)ddease. The facility is owned by us and is nofestiio any leases.

2 The Chandler, Arizona (Tube) facility is subjectttand lease with a lease term that expires ir8208: have certain extension rights in
respect of the Chandler, Arizona (Tube) land le@ke.facility is owned by us and is not subjecathy leases.

3 The Kalamazoo, Michigan facility is subject to ade with a 2033 expiration dz
4 The Richland, Washington facility is subject teeade that expires in 2016, subject to certain sidgarrights held by u

5 The Spokane, Washington facility consists of 2,0@6,square feet, which is owned by us, and 121sg0@are feet, which is subject to a
lease with a 2015 expiration date and a renewagubject to certain terms and conditions.

Plants and equipment and other facilities are gdiyan good condition and suitable for their indenl uses.

Our corporate headquarters, located in FoothilldRagalifornia, consists of 28,000 square feetetddnber 31, 2013, and is subject to a
lease that expires in 2016.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities
Market Information
Our outstanding common stock is traded on the Np&labal Select Market under the ticker symbol “KAL

The following table sets forth the high and lowsihg sale prices of our common stock for each guarperiod for fiscal years 2013 and
2012:

High Low

Fiscal 2013

First quarter $ 65.0: % 60.77

Second quarter $ 65.4¢ % 58.7¢

Third quarter $ 71.9¢ % 62.3]

Fourth quarter $ 73.0: % 65.2:
Fiscal 2012

First quarter $ 52.4¢ $ 46.8:2

Second quarter $ 5257 % 46.6:

Third quarter $ 59.1t % 49.42

Fourth quarter $ 6178 $ 56.27

Holders

As of February 11, 2014 , there were approximalé§ holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We declare and pay regular quarterly cash dividémd®lders of our common stock, including holdefrsestricted stock. We also pay
quarterly dividend equivalents to the holders ofaia restricted stock units and to the holderparformance shares with respect to
approximately one-half of the performance sharesalltash dividends (and dividend equivalents) pa@D13 , 2012 and 2011 were $1.20 pe
share (or $23.0 million ), $1.00 per share (or 618illion ) and $0.96 per share (or $18.9 milliomgspectively.

On January 14, 2014 , we announced that our Bddbirectors approved the declaration of a quartedsgh dividend of $ 0.3%r commol
share, or $6.4 million (including dividend equivatis), which was paid on February 14, 2014 to stoltdérs of record at the close of business
on January 24, 2014 .

The future declaration and payment of dividendanif, will be at the discretion of our Board of &itors and will depend on a number of
factors, including our financial and operating fesifinancial position and anticipated cash regients and contractual restrictions under our
revolving credit facility, the indenture for our280% Senior Notes due 2020, or other indebtednegway incur in the future. We can give no
assurance that dividends will be declared and ipatide future.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative tobareholder return on our common stock with: (i) Fhessell 2000 index and (i) the
S&P SmallCap 6008index. The graph assumes (i) an initial investnodi®100 as of December 31, 2008 and (i) reinveatroéall dividends.
We are a component of both the Russell 20@@dex and the S&P SmallCap 60thdex. The performance graph is not necessarilicative of
future performance of our stock price.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"®
Among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, the S&P Smallcap 600& Index, andthe Russell 2000 Index
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*3100 invested on 12/21/08 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31.

Copyright® 2014 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.
Copyright® 2014 Russell Investment Group. All rights reserved.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regardiogr repurchases of our common shares during theeguended December 31, 2013 :

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity and
Performance Incentive Plan Stock Repurchase Plan

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares
that May Yet Be
Purchased Under

Total Number of Average Price per  Total Number of Average Price per the Programs

Shares Purchased Share Shares Purchased Share (millions) 2
October 1, 2013 - October 31, 2013 — % = 235,70( % 67.3: $ 62.1
November 1, 2013 - November 30, 2013 — — 185,00( 66.6¢ $ 49.¢
December 1, 2013 - December 31, 2013 — — 104,30( 68.4: $ 117.¢
Total — 3 — 525,000 % 67.32 N/A

1 Under our equity and performance incentive plamtiggpants may elect to have us withhold commorreti#o satisfy minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations arising from the recognitiof income and the vesting of restricted stockirieted stock units and performance
shares. When we withhold these shares, we arereeja remit to the appropriate taxing authorittes market price of the shares withheld
by us on the date of withholding. The withholdirfgicommon shares by us could be deemed a purchaselofcommon shares. During the
guarter ended December 31, 2013, we did not withany shares of common stock to satisfy emplageavithholding obligations. When
shares are withheld, all such shares are cancglad bn the applicable vesting dates or dates achwhcome to the employees is
recognized, and the
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number of shares withheld is determined based @gltsing price per common share as reported oNd&sedaq Global Select Market on
such dates.

2 Share repurchases are pursuant to a stock reparphagram authorized by our Board of Directors.iBy2013, our Board of Directors
twice authorized additional funds under this progravith $75.0 million authorized in April 2013 aadother $75.0 million authorized in
December 2013. As of December 31, 2013, $ 117ll®mremained available for share repurchases wthde program. Repurchase
transactions will occur at such times and pricemasagement deems appropriate and will be fundddouir excess liquidity after giving
consideration to internal and external growth opputies and future cash flows. Repurchases mag bpen-market transactions or in
privately negotiated transactions, and the progray be modified or terminated by our Board of Dioes at any time.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table represents our selected finalndata. The table should be read in conjunctiah W&m 7. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and Item 8. “Financial Statements amppfmentary Data” of this Report.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(In millions of dollars, except shipments, averageealized sales price and per share amounts)
Net sales $ 1,297 % 1,360.. $ 1,301 $ 1,079.. % 987.(
Net income $ 104.¢ % 85.6 $ 251 % 12 $ 70.t
Basic income per share:
Net income per share $ 55¢ % 4.4¢ % 1.3z % 061 % 3.51
Diluted income per share:
Net income per share $ 544  § 44t $ 132 $ 061 $ 3.51
Shipments (mm Ibs) 563.7 585.¢ 560.¢ 514.¢ 542.¢
Average realized sales price (per Ib) $ 23C $ 232 % 23z % 21C % 1.82
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ 1.2¢ $ 1.0C $ 0.9¢ $ 0.9¢ % 0.9¢
Capital expenditures $ 702 $ 441 % 328 % 38¢ % 59.2
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 281 $ 26 $ 252 $ 19.6 ¢ 16.2
December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Total assets $ 1,770¢ $ 1,752 % 1,320.¢ % 1,318¢ $ 1,054.¢
Cash and short term investment $ 299.C $ 358.2 $ 49t % 135.¢ $ 30.2
Long-term borrowings (at face value), includin
amounts due within one year $ 400.C $ 400.C $ 179.71 $ 188.C $ 7.C

In addition to the operational results discusseldeim 7. “Management’s Discussion and AnalysisiofRcial Condition and Results of
Operations,” significant items that impacted th®ficial results included, but were not limitedth® following:
2013:

* We reached a settlement with the Canada Revikgercy Competent Authority for the 1998-2004 taange and as a result, booked a
cash tax benefit of $7.6 million, of which $6.1 lwih had been received as of December 31, 201&ddlition, we signed an advance
pricing agreement with the Canada Revenue Agenbighwresulted in an additional cash tax beneftt2® million, which is expecte
to be refunded within the next 12 months.

* We recorded $3.9 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket gains on our derivative instrume

e We repurchased 1,232,077 shares of our comnook st the weighted average price per share of3564The total cost of $79.3
million was recorded as Treasury Stock.
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* Werecorded $22.5 million of net periodic pemsienefit income relating to two voluntary emplogd®eneficiary associations that
provide benefits for certain eligible retirees dhelir spouses and eligible dependents (the “VEBAS")

* We recorded a variable cash contribution payabtee VEBAs of $16.0 million with respect to cadlar year 2013which will be pai
in the first quarter of 2014 .

2012 :

e Weissued $225.0 million principal amount of 2 Senior Notes due 2020, resulting in proceed@2®8.4 million net of $6.6
million of initial transaction fees.

* We recorded $16.0 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket gains on our derivative instrume

e Our Board of Directors released stock transéstrictions on 2,202,495 shares of our common steaked by the VEBA that provides
benefits for eligible retirees represented by demi@ions and their surviving spouse and eligildpahdents (the “Union VEBA”), at a
weighted-average price of $49.31 per share, theratvgasing Union VEBA assets by $108.6 million amcteasing Stockholders'
equity by $67.3 million (net of tax).

*  We recorded $11.9 million of net periodic pensieméfit income relating to our two VEB/

*  We recorded a variable cash contribution paytibtbe VEBAs of $20.0 million with respect to cadlar year 2012, which was paid in
the first quarter of 2013.

2011:

*  We completed the strategic acquisition from Alex_LC of the Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) fatiliwhich manufactures hard alloy
extrusions for the aerospace industry. Cash coratide for the acquisition was approximately $83llion (which was net of $4.9
million cash received in the acquisition).

*  We recorded $25.9 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tonarket losses on our derivative instrume
* We recorded $6.0 million of net periodic pensiondfé income relating to the VEB/A

* The Union VEBA sold 1,321,485 shares of our canratock at a weighted-average price of $49.5&pare, thereby increasing
Union VEBA assets by $65.5 million and increasinigc8holders’ equity by $40.5 million (net of tax).

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This Report contains statements which constitutenird-looking statements” within the meaning of frivate Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These statements appear throughaaiR@port and can be identified by the use of fod-looking terminology such as

“believes,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans” or “anticipates” or the negativeof the foregoing or other variations of
comparable terminology, or by discussions of stygtdReaders are cautioned that any such forwardtitop statements are not guarantees of
future performance and involve significant riskglamcertainties, and that actual results may vaoyrf those in the forwarlooking statemen
as a result of various factors. These factors ideluhe effectiveness of management'’s strategi@slacisions; general economic and busines:
conditions, including cyclicality and other conditis in the aerospace, automotive and other end etahplications we serve; developments it
technology; new or modified statutory or regulatoeguirements; and changing prices and market diont. This Item and Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” each identify other factors that could cause acteallts to vary. No assurance can be given thedetare all of the factors that coi
cause actual results to vary materially from thenfard-looking statements.

Management'’s discussion and analysis of finan@atdion and results of operations (“MD&A”) is dgsied to provide a reader of our
financial statements with a narrative from the pecsive of our management on our financial condijtr@sults of operations, liquidity, and
certain other factors that may affect our futurutes. Our MD&A is presented in the following sects:

*  Overview

* Management Review of 20H3d Outlook for the Futur

* Results of Operatior

e Certain Information Related to Our Significant TAttributes
e Liquidity and Capital Resourct

e Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitmeats] OffBalance Sheet and Other Arrangeme
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e Critical Accounting Estimates and Polici
* New Accounting Pronouncements;
* Available Informatior

Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with the solidated financial statements and related notdaded in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

In the discussion of operating results below, déeitams are referred to as non-run-rate items.pgeoposes of such discussion, non-rate
items are items that, while they may recur fromqabto-period, (i) are particularly material to vits, (ii) affect costs primarily as a result of
external market factors, and (iii) may not recufuiture periods if the same level of underlyingfpenance were to occur. Non-run-rate items
are part of our business and operating environtmeinare worthy of being highlighted for the benefireaders of our financial statements. Ou
intent is to allow users of the financial statensemtconsider our results both in light of and sefedy from items such as fluctuations in
underlying metal prices, energy prices, our staikepand currency exchange rates. For a reconaitia@if operating income excluding non-run-
rate items to operating income, see “Results ofr@mns-Segment and Business Unit Informatidselow.

We also provide information regarding value addadnue. Value added revenue represents net ssdethéehedged cost of alloyed metal.
A fundamental part of our business model is togait the impact of aluminum price volatility thrdugricing policies that allow us to pass
metal cost fluctuations through to our customes@ahedging program that addresses metal pricesex@dén circumstances in which we are
unable to pass metal cost fluctuations throughutocastomers due to firm-price customer sales ageets that specify the underlying metal
price plus a conversion price. As a result of aigipg policies and hedging program, fluctuationsinderlying metal price do not directly
impact our profitability. Accordingly, value addeglvenue (including average realized value addeeiaw, third party value added revenue
value added revenue of the product categories ofabricated Products segment) is worthy of beigyllyhted for the benefit of users of our
financial statements. Our intent is to allow us#rthe financial statements to consider our netssalformation both with and without the metal
cost component thereof. For a reconciliation ofieaddded revenue to net sales, see “Results oh@gesSegment and Business Unit
Information” below.

Overview

We are a leading North American manufacturer ofidabricated specialty aluminum products for thidi@ing end market applications:
aerospace and high strength products (which we tefas Aero/HS products); general engineering petxd(which we refer to as GE produc
extrusions for automotive applications (which wierd¢o as Automotive Extrusions); and other indasproducts (which we refer to as Other
products). We operate twelve focused productioiliias in North America to serve a global custorbase. We have one operating segment,
Fabricated Products. See “Results of Operat®@sgment and Business Unit Informatidrelow.

Our highly engineered products are manufactureddet demanding requirements of aerospace/highgstregreneral engineering,
automotive and other industrial end market appticat We have focused our business on select erketegpplications where we believe we
have sustainable competitive advantages and opptiesifor long-term profitable growth. We belietrat we differentiate ourselves witBés
in Class” customer satisfaction and a broad prodfieting, including products in our KaiserSel@groduct line. Our KaiserSele®products
are manufactured to deliver enhanced product cterstics with improved consistency, so as to tesubetter performance, lower waste, and,
in many cases, lower cost for our customers.

In the commercial aerospace sector, we believeglbhal economic growth and development will conério drive growth in airline
passenger miles. In addition, trends such as lomyges, larger payloads and focus on fuel efficyelmave increased the demand for new and
larger aircraft. We believe that the long-term dathdrivers, including growing build rates, larg@frames and increased use of monolithic
design (where aluminum plate is heavily machinefibtm the desired part from a single piece of masabpposed to using aluminum sheet,
extrusions or forgings that are affixed to one hapusing rivets, bolts or welds) throughout thdusstry will continue to increase demand for
our high strength aerospace plate. We believettkagth of overall plate demand is demonstratethbycurrent eight-year backlog for the two
primary manufacturers of commercial aircraft.

Our Aero/HS and GE products are also sold for nskefense end market applications. Requirementslithry engagements and
sequestration of spending by the United Statesrgovent will determine near-term demand for our Ald®and GE products for use in such
applications. Longer term, we expect the productibtheF-35, or Joint Strike Fighter, to be a demand driverdior aerospace/high strength
products.

Commercial aerospace and defense end market appiisdave demanding customer requirements folitguaaid consistency. As a result,
there are a very limited number of suppliers worttbwwho are qualified to serve these market
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segments. We believe barriers to entry includeiigmt capital requirements, technological exgertand a rigorous qualification process for
safety-critical applications.

We expect the 2014 North American automotive sdutidld rates to increase approximately 3.8% ovdr328ased on data from IHS, a
provider of technical information. Our AutomotivatBisions typically have specific performance htites in terms of machinability and/or
mechanical properties for specific applicationsasra broad mix of North American original equiptm@anufacturers (“OEMs”) and
automotive platforms. We believe that these atteébare not easily replicated by our competitotsane important to our customers, who are
typically first tier automotive suppliers. Additially, we believe that in North America, from 20@12012, the aluminum extrusion content per
vehicle grew at a compound annual growth rate @#wbased on data provided by the Aluminum Assamiadind IHS, as automotive OEMs
and their suppliers found opportunities to decreesight without sacrificing structural integrity dsafety performance. We also believe the
United States’ Corporate Average Fuel Economy (“EARegulations, which increase fuel efficiencyrtards on an annual basis, will
continue to drive growth in demand for aluminumresed components in passenger vehicles as a repdatcdor the heavier weight of steel
components.

Our GE products serve the North American industriatket segments, and demand for these producesantracks the broader
manufacturing economic environment.

Management Review of 2013 and Outlook for the Futwe

Overall, our Fabricated Products shipment volume20il3 decreased 4% as compared to 2012. Voluneefospace applications, after
increasing significantly to a record level in 20fhRintained a similar pace in 2013 on continueahgtraerospace plate demand, dampened by
excess customer inventory of some aerospace psdittipments of Automotive Extrusions increased@saunched several new automotive
programs. This was offset by weaker shipments op@ducts as GE plate production was impacted mutihput inefficiencies related to
major construction projects at our Spokane (TrentypWashington facility.

Our average realized prices decreased slightlpirB2eflecting lower underlying hedged, alloyed ahetices, which are passed through to
customers, offset by higher value added revenup@end. Value added revenue per pound increasadtamsotive extrusion sales with
improved pricing grew in 2013.

In 2013, we (i) continued our investment initiague further enhance our manufacturing platforniuding the Phase 5 expansion to
increase aerospace plate capacity and a new castinglex at our Spokane (Trentwood), Washingtoilifiato expand our rolling ingot
capacity and reduce costs, (ii) launched severalandomotive extrusion programs, (iii) expanded puduct offering of KaiserSelect®
products to meet the needs and specifications ofastomers, and (iv) returned $102.3 million tcktholders through quarterly dividends .
stock repurchases.

Outlook

The long-term prospects for Aero/HS products rems&iiong. The backlog for Boeing and Airbus deligsrgrew to a new record high in
2013, providing impetus for increasing build rafi@sseveral years into the future. We continuexpeet strong demand growth for our
products, particularly for aerospace plate, drilkgrincreasing build rates, larger airframes, amtiooed conversion to monolithic design.
While near-term commercial airframe build ratesiaceeasing, an inventory overhang developed foog®ce plate during 2013. We believe
most of the excess supply chain inventory of aezosplate will be consumed during 2014, dampemidgstry demand for aerospace plate
from plate producers.

As it relates to the outlook for Kaiser, we expgohodest increase in aerospace plate shipmen@li despite the industry-wide de-
stocking of aerospace plate inventory in the suppbin. However, we expect competitive pricing pugs in 2014, particularly on our sales of
aerospace and general engineering plate sold potdasis as competitors impacted by the aeroggatede-stocking attempt to fill their
capacity. Additionally, we expect to see improvhigpments of our non-plate aerospace products asxitess supply-chain inventory of such
products that persisted in 2013 abates in 2014.

We continue to be optimistic about long-term auttweogrowth opportunities attributable to incregsaluminum extrusion content and
higher build rates. In 2014, we expect to launatess new programs for anti-lock braking systemash management systems and various
structural applications. As these programs comknen our content per vehicle will grow, furthecieasing our shipments and value added
revenue for Automotive Extrusions to a new recenctl.

With current visibility, we anticipate modestly @tiger general engineering demand and shipmen®li, 2lthough competitive price
pressure on spot sales of general engineering \pititeffset some of the benefit from increasedurok. However, given the relatively lean
inventories at service center customers, we caedascelerated improvement in demand for thesaupted the U.S. manufacturing economy
demonstrates higher levels of sustainable growth.
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During the first half 2014, and more specificallyrithg the first quarter, we anticipate higher castd inefficiencies related to the
installation and subsequent ramp-up of the newrgasbmplex at our Spokane (Trentwood) Washinggailify in addition to the ramp-up of
the Phase 5 heat treat plate expansion and pragafat the launch of several new automotive praggaWe expect to begin realizing the
benefits of these investments through improved rfamuring efficiencies as these projects reachgtdduction status in the second half 2014

Looking beyond 2014, we are well positioned inaattive, growing markets, particularly for aerospand automotive end uses. We expect
to realize growing benefits from our previous inwesnts in capacity, quality and efficiency, andhvese a strong manufacturing platform for
capital-efficient investments to allow us to captadditional opportunities for profitable growthtirese end market applications.

Results of Operations
Fiscal 2013 Summary

»  Our operating income for 2013 was $173.3 milliavhich included items that we consider to be namrate, which totaled to a
benefit of $27.4 million , primarily related to naash net periodic pension benefit income of $23lBon relating to two voluntary
employee's beneficiary associations that provideties for certain eligible retirees and their spesiand eligible dependents (“the
VEBAS"). (See “Segment and Business Unit Informitifor further discussion of our operating inconeddre non-run-rate items
below.)

* Netincome f0i2013 was $104.8 million , which included the non-rate items as discussed above. (See "Segmesitess Unit
Information" below for further discussion on adaiital non-run-rate items.) Net income for 2013 a@hstuded various tax settlements
and a full year of cash and non-cash interest esgoeglating to our Senior Notes.

«  Our effective tax provision rate for 2013 was&8#6 after taking into account a $10.5 million céeshbenefit relating to an audit
settlement with the Canada Revenue Agency ("CRAY) atax benefit in connection with a new advantgng agreement with the
CRA (see discussion iiConsolidated Selected Operational and Financidoimation - Income Tax Provisiorielow).

 We had combined cash balances, short-term imesgt, and net borrowing availability under ouralging credit facility (with no
borrowings thereunder outstanding) of approxima$&y2.1 million as of December 31, 2013 .

*  We invested $70.4 million in capital spendingg$Capital Expenditures and Investmeritsfow)
e We paid a variable cash contribution of $20.0 millio the VEBA:

* We paid a total of approximately $23.0 millioar,$1.20 per common share, in cash dividendsoitkkblders, including holders of
restricted stock, and dividend equivalents to thieldrs of certain restricted stock units and tohtbkelers of performance shares with
respect to approximately one-half of the perforneasitares.

* We repurchased 1,232,077 shares of common si&i13 for a total cost of $79.3 million . Shaepurchases were pursuant to a
stock repurchase program authorized by our Boabireictors. During 2013 our Board of Directors twice authorized additibiuads
under this program, with $75.0 million authorizeddpril 2013 and another $75.0 million authorizaddecember 2013.

Consolidated Selected Operational and Financial émfmation

The following data should be read in conjunctiotiwgur consolidated financial statements and thiesithereto included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfeport. See Note 14 of Notes to Consolidatedrkiial Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfeport for further information regarding segnsent

Net SalesWe reported Net sales for 2013 of $1,297.5 millicompared to $1,360.1 million for 2012 and $1,3Ghillion for 2011 . As
more fully discussed below, the decrease in Nessaliring 2013 was the result of lower Fabricatediicts segment shipment volume and
lower average realized sales price per pound. Lawerage realized sales price in 2013 reflecte@tdvedged, alloyed metal prices, mostly
offset by higher value added revenue per pounaapared to 2012 .

The increase in Net sales during 2012 compare@1d #vas primarily due to an increase in Fabric&®emucts segment shipments. The
average realized sales price per pound comparie orior year was flat reflecting higher value eddevenue offset by lower underlying
metal prices.
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Fluctuations in underlying primary aluminum marketes do not necessarily impact profitability besa (i) a substantial portion of the
business conducted by the Fabricated Products sggrasses primary aluminum price changes directty oustomers and (ii) our hedging
activities in support of the Fabricated Productgsent's firm price sales agreements limit our Issas well as gains, from primary metal price
changes.

Cost of Products Sold, Excluding Depreciation amdoftization and Other Itemg&ost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items for 2013 totaled $&,93nillion , or 80% of Net sales, compared to $6,2 million , or 82% of Net sales, 201Z
and $1,129.0 million , or 87% of Net sales, in 20Bk€'Segment and Business Unit Informatidm€low for a detailed discussion of the
comparative results of operations for 2013 , 20i@ 2011 .

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumddisealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumemrse $(0.7) million , $(15.2) million
and $29.9 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011 , reipely. Such unrealized (gains) losses are primalile to changes in underlying commaodity
prices as well as derivative settlements and dageeto our operational hedges to mitigate ouiosype to changes in prices for certain
products sold and consumed by us and, to a leggsrteto mitigate our exposure to changes in fpr@&urrency exchange rates.

Depreciation and Amortizatiomepreciation and amortization for 2013 was $28.llianicompared to $26.5 million for 2012 and $25.2
million for 2011 . Depreciation and amortizatiorperse increased in 2013 compared to 2012 primduigyto additional Construction in
progress being placed in service during 2013 imeotion with our casting complex and Phase 5 expara the Spokane (Trentwood),
Washington facility. Depreciation and amortizatinoreased in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily dugdititional Construction in progress
being placed in service during 2012 in connectidth wxpansion projects at various facilities.

Selling, Administrative, Research and Developramd, General Selling, administrative, research and developremd, general expense
totaled $57.9 million in 2013 compared to $62.2ionil in 2012 . The decrease during 2013 was priydrie to (i) a $10.6 million increase in
periodic pension benefit income with respect toVEBAS, offset by (ii) a $3.1 million increase iemeral administrative expenses primarily
related to employee compensation, (iii) a $1.7ionlincrease in selling and advertising expensaipiport further growth, and (iv) a $1.4
million increase in research and development expassve continue to invest in research and devedapmitiatives.

Selling, administrative, research and developmemd,general expense totaled $62.2 million in 2GdBpmared to $62.7 million in 2011 .
The slight decrease during 20W2s primarily due to (i) a $5.9 million increaseperiodic pension benefit income with respect ®WEBAS a:
a result of changes in actuarial assumptions and $2.1 million decrease in environmental expepffset by (iii) a $5.5 million increase in
employee compensation expense related primaributoncentive programs as a result of improved ajiray results, (iv) a $1.2 million
increase in workers' compensation expense duetedses in case reserves in 2012, and (v) a $di@mincrease in expense relating to our
deferred compensation plan as a result of markdd<at gains on deferred compensation assets in. 2012

Other Operating Charges (Benefit§ther operating charges (benefits) were $4.5 miltiad $(0.2) million for 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively. Other operating charges for 2012 isteds primarily of $4.4 million of impairment chagn two presses that were a part of idled
assets. There were no Other operating chargesefitsein 2013.

Interest Expensénterest expense represents cash and non-casésinéspense incurred on our debt instruments anBewolving Credit
Facility, net of capitalized interest. Interest erpe was $35.7 million , $29.1 million and $18.0iom for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively,
net of $3.4 million , $1.7 million and $1.3 milliaf interest capitalization to Construction in pregs. Noncash amortization of the discount
our 4.5% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2016r{V€rtible Notes") accounted for $8.2 million , $Tillion and $6.6 million of the total
interest expense in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 . IntergsEnse in 2013 and 2012 was primarily relatédterest expense incurred on our
Convertible Notes and our 8.250% Senior Notes @28 Z"Senior Notes"). The increase in interest egpdn 2013 compared to interest
expense in 2012 is primarily due to a full yeamtérest related to our Senior Notes. Interest egpén 2011 was primarily related to interest
incurred on the Convertible Notes.

Other Income, NeDther income, net was $5.6 million for 2013 , coneglato $2.8 million for 2012 and $4.3 million fod21 . Other
income, net primarily consists of unrealized gdlosses) associated with our hedges relating t&threvertible Notes. See Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8efiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatahisfReport for further information.

Income Tax ProvisiornThe income tax provision for 2013 was $38.4 milli@mr an effective tax rate of 26.8% . The differemetween the
effective tax rate and the projected blended siatubx rate for 2013 was primarily due to (i) @&ase in unrecognized tax benefits, including
interest and penalties, of $4.4 million, resulting 3.1% decrease in the effective tax rate dsmtaudit settlement with the Canada Revenue
Agency Competent Authority on February 28, 2013tier 1998-2004 tax years, (ii) a decrease in umgygized tax benefits, including interest
and penalties, of $4.6 million, resulting in a 3.8&crease in the effective rate due to an expiraifa statute of limitations with a taxing
authority, (iii) a decrease
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from a bilateral advance pricing agreement betwemmada and the U.S. for $2.9 million, resulting in.0% decrease in the effective tax rate
and (iv) a decrease from an audit settlement wighGRA for $5.3 million, resulting in a 3.7% deean the effective tax rate.

As a result of the audit settlement and advaneangriagreement with the CRA, a tax benefit of $I@illion, which represents amounts
previously paid against Canadian accrued taxesrecasded to Other receivables, of which, $6.1iatilbf cash refunds has been received by
the Company as of December 31, 2013.

The income tax provision for 2012 was $53.8 millionan effective tax rate of 38.5%. The differebetween the effective tax rate and
projected blended statutory tax rate for 2012 wamarily due to (i) an increase in unrecognizedhaxefits, including interest and penalties
$1.2 million, resulting in a 0.9% increase to thended statutory tax provision rate, and (ii) thgpact of a non-deductible compensation
expense, which resulted in an increase to the iecam provision of $0.3 million and the blendedwtiary tax provision rate of 0.2%, offset by
(iii) a foreign tax benefit of $0.6 million, whiatlecreased the blended statutory tax provisionbga@4%, and (iv) a decrease in the valuation
allowance for certain federal and state net opsgdtisses, which resulted in a decrease to theriadax provision of $0.1 million and the
blended statutory tax provision rate of 0.1%.

The income tax provision for 2011 was $16.2 millionan effective tax rate of 39.2%. The differebetween the effective tax rate and
projected blended statutory tax rate for 2011 wasarily due to (i) the impact of a non-deductilblEmpensation expense, which resulted in al
increase to the income tax provision of $1.1 milland increased the blended statutory tax provigitsby approximately 2.7%, and (ii) a
foreign tax benefit, resulting primarily from theduction of unrecognized tax benefits, includingiest and penalties, which decreased the
income tax provision by $0.6 million and the bleddgatutory tax provision by 1.5%.

Derivatives

See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated FinanciakStants included in Item 8. “Financial Statements &upplementary Data” of this
Report for disclosure regarding our derivatives.

Fair Value Measurements

See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants included in Item 8. “Financial Statements &upplementary Data” of this
Report for disclosure regarding our fair value nueasents.

Deferred Tax Asse

See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates included in Iltem 8. “Financial Statements 8ogplementary Data” of this
Report for disclosure regarding our deferred tasefis

Segment and Business Unit Informatic

Consistent with the manner in which our chief ofiagadecision maker reviews and evaluates our lessinwe have one operating segmen
which we refer to as Fabricated Products, thatywred semi-fabricated specialty aluminum producish s aluminum sheet and plate and
extruded and drawn products, primarily used in sggoe/high strength, general engineering, automativd other industrial end market
applications. We categorize our products by theraatket applications as follows: Aero/HS produ@E, products, Automotive Extrusions,
and Other products.

We also have two other business units, Corporateaiher and Secondary Aluminum. The Corporate athébusiness unit provides
general and administrative support for our openatidhe Secondary Aluminum business unit activitiated to our purchase and resale of
secondary aluminum produced by Anglesey Aluminiumited ("Anglesey") until Anglesey ceased seconddmymninum production in the
second quarter of 2013. We owned a 49% equityasten Anglesey until we sold such interest infthath quarter of 2013.

For purposes of segment reporting under UniteceStg¢enerally accepted accounting principles ("GAARE treat the Fabricated Products
segment as a reportable segment and combine thethwobusiness units, Corporate and Other andn@lacg Aluminum, into one category,
which we refer to as All Other. All Other is notnsidered a reportable segment.

Fabricated Product:

The table below provides selected operational avah€ial information (in millions of dollars excegltipments and average realized sales
price) for our Fabricated Products segment for 20412 and 2011 :
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Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Shipments (mmlbs) 563.7 585.¢ 560.¢
Composition of average realized sales price (pengh
Average realized sales prite $ 23C $ 232 $ 2.32
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (1.00) (1.0¢) (1.19)
Average realized value added revenue $ 13C $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1
Composition of net sales:
Net sales $ 1,297F § 1,360.. $ 1,301.
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (563.9 (623.9 (657.0)
Third party value added revenue $ 733€¢ % 7362 % 644.-
Segment operating income $ 188.¢ $ 190.t $ 83.€
Impact to operating income of non-run-rate items:

Adjustments to plant-level LIF® 7.4 (2.9 (0.2

Mark-to-market gains (losses) on derivative insteats 0.7 15.2 (29.9

Workers’ compensation benefit (cost) due to distiogn 1.1 (0.2 (3.1

Restructuring benefits — — 0.3

Asset impairment charges — (4.9 —

Environmental expensés (4.0) (2.9) (1.7)
Total non-run-rate items 5.2 7.2 (34.6¢
Operating income excluding non-run-rate items $ 1832 % 183.¢ $ 118.2

! Average realized sales prices for our Fabricatediits segment are subject to fluctuations dudanges in product mix and

underlying primary aluminum prices, and are notassarily indicative of changes in underlying piatitity.

We manage our Fabricated Products segment businessnonthly LIFO basis at each plant, but reporéntory externally on an
annual LIFO basis in accordance with GAAP on a obdated basis. This amount represents the cororefsbm GAAP LIFO appliel
on a consolidated basis for the Fabricated Prodisgisient to monthly LIFO applied on a plant-by-plaasis.

%  See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Suppteanry Data” of this Report
for additional information relating to the enviroamal expenses.

As noted above, operating income excluding nonrate-tems for 2013 was $0.2 million lower than26x.2 . Lower operating income
excluding non-run-rate items in 2013 reflected bigimanufacturing and operating costs primarily thune expansion projects at our Spokane
(Trentwood), Washington facility and higher depagicin expense, partially offset by the impact gfttar pricing on net sales, lower major
maintenance expense and lower energy costs. Omgiatiome excluding non-run-rate items for 2012 $&5.4 million higher than for 2011 .
The increase in operating income excluding nonfate-items for 2012 as compared to 2011 refledtedrhpact of higher net sales due to
higher pricing, higher volume and mix.

The table below provides shipment and value adeeenue information (in millions of dollars exceptmnents and value
added revenue per pound) for each of the produegodes (which are based on end market applicsitiohour Fabricated
Products segment, for 2013, 2012 and 2011 :
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Aero/HS Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 224.3 223.9 192.0

$ $/1lb $ $/1lb $ $/1b
Sales $ 677.C % 30z $ 6951 % 31C $ 596.1 $ 3.11
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (227.¢) (2.02) (244.¢) (2.09) (219.9 (1.15)
Value added revenue $ 4492 $ 20C $ 450&f $ 201 $ 376t $ 1.9¢
GE Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 222.5 232.7 220.2

$ $/1lb $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 4110 $ 188 $ 441<¢ § 19C $ 447.C $ 2.0¢:
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (224.9 (1.07 (249.9 (1.09) (271.9) (1.29)
Value added revenue $ 1861 $ 0.84 $ 192.C $ 0.8: $ 175: $ 0.8C
Automotive Extrusions:
Shipments (mmlbs) 64.1 62.8 62.8

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 129:f % 20z $ 125f % 20C $ 126¢ $ 2.0z
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (63.2) (0.99) (66.5) (21.0€) (75.9) (2.20)
Value added revenue $ 66.2 $ 1.0 $ 59.C $ 094 $ 51 $ 0.82
Other Products:
Shipments (mmlbs) 52.8 66.5 85.9

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 80.C $ 152 $ 98.1 $ 148 $ 1311 $ 1.5
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (48.0 (0.97 (63.9 (0.9¢) (90.2) (1.05)
Value added revenue $ 32.C $ 061 $ 347 $ 05z $ 40¢< $ 0.4¢
Total:
Shipments (mmlbs) 563.7 585.9 560.9

$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
Sales $ 1,297! % 23C $ 1,360.. $ 23z $ 1301 % 2.3z
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (563.9) (2.00 (623.9 (21.0¢) (657.0) (2.19)
Value added revenue $ 733¢€ % 13C $ 7362 $ 12¢ $ 644: $ 1.1t

For 2013, Net sales of Fabricated Products deeddayg $62.6 million to $1,297.5 million , as comgrto 2012 , due primarily to a 22.2
million pound decrease in shipments and lower ayeeraalized sales price. The decrease in shipmergsomprised of (i) a 10.2 million
pound decrease in GE products shipments primauiytd slightly weaker demand for all product tyd@sa 13.7 million pound decrease in
Other products shipments reflecting our focus @hér value added products, partially offset by &iil.3 million pound increase in
Automotive Extrusion shipments reflecting the ramgpof new Automotive Extrusion programs and (i\).4 million pound increase in
Aero/HS products shipments reflecting strong denfesrd commercial aerospace build rates dampenezkbgss customer inventory of cer
products. Average realized sales price decreasgtlygl| reflecting a $0.06 per pound decline in Hezlged, alloyed metal prices, mostly offset
by a $0.04 per pound increase in the average \aalded revenue per pound as compared to 2012 .

For 2012, Net sales of Fabricated Products inctelbgeés58.8 million to $1,360.1 million, as compated011, due primarily to a 25.0
million pound increase in shipments. The increasghipments was comprised of (i) a 31.9 million meu
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increase in Aero/HS products shipments primarilg tuhigher commercial aerospace demand for ptatesheet products and (ii) a 12.5
million pound increase in GE products shipmentieotihg higher demand in the general engineerimusme market, partially offset by (iii) a
19.4 million pound decrease in Other products skipis Average realized sales price was flat, reflgan $0.11 per pound increase in
average value added revenue per pound, offset 9.4l per pound decrease in hedged, alloyed petals as compared to 2011. The
increase in average value added revenue per pefledted a shift to a richer product mix and impd\pricing on some products.

All Other

All Other consists of our Corporate and Other aado®dary Aluminum business units. All Other is cotsidered a reportable segment.

Corporate and OthefThe Corporate and Other business unit providesastifigr our operations and incurs general and adtnative
expenses that are not allocated to other busiméssar segments. The table below presents thedhganon-run-rate items to operating loss
within the Corporate and Other business unit far3202012 and 2011 (in millions of dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Operating loss $ (15.9) $ (249 $ (28.6)
Impact to operating loss of non-run-rate items:
Net periodic benefit income relating to the VEBAs 22.t 11.¢ 6.C
Environmental expense (0.5 (0.2 (2.2
Workers' compensation expense due to a changsdoutit raté 0.2 — (0.7)
Other operating benefits — — 0.2
Total non-run-rate items 22.2 11.7 3.4
Operating loss excluding non-run-rate items $ (875 $ (36.) $ (32.0

1 We have no claim over the VEBAS' plan assets ngrasponsibility for the VEBAs' accumulated posterhent obligations. Our only
financial obligations to the VEBAs are to pay annuaiable cash contributions and certain admiatste fees. Nevertheless, for
accounting purposes we treat the postretirementaaldoknefits to be paid by the VEBAs and our edadnnual variable cash contribution
obligations as defined benefit postretirement plaitls the current VEBA assets and future varialashccontributions, and earnings
thereon, operating as a cap on the benefits talak Accordingly, we record net periodic postratimnt benefit income (costs), which we
consider to be non-run-rate, and record any diffegebetween the assets of each of the VEBAs arddsmulated postretirement benefit
obligation in our consolidated financial statemefse Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financiake®tants in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repordditional information relating to the VEBAs.

2 Amount represents a portion of the workers' comaims expense in 2011 resulting from the changleérdiscount rates applied in
estimating workers compensation liabilities. Wesidar such expense to be non-run-rate becauseasuohnts are not related to the
incurrence and resolution of workers compensatiaims. Non-run-rate workers' compensation expen&913 and 2012 were not
material because discount rates did not fluctugtgficantly.

Corporate and Other operating loss excluding nowrrate items for 2013 was $0.9 million higher tia2012 . The increase primarily
reflects a $0.7 million increase in non-discountextkers’ compensation expense related to our namating locations primarily due to higher
reported case reserve estimates and incurred-ireported reserve estimates.

Corporate and Other operating loss excluding nonrate items for 2012 was $4.6 million higher ti@2011. The increase primarily
reflects (i) a $2.3 million increase in employeenpensation expense relating to our incentive progrdue to better operating results in 2012,
(i) a $1.2 million increase in salaries and wagegense and (iii) a $1.7 million increase in woskeompensation expense (excluding the
impact of the change in discount rate applied timeding workers' compensation liabilities) relatecour noneperating locations due to higt
estimated incurred-but-not-reported reserve eséimexpenses in 2012,

Secondary AluminunThe Secondary Aluminum business unit activitieatasd to our purchase and resale to a third parsgodndary
aluminum produced by Anglesey until Anglesey ceateemelt and casting operations at its facilitydolyhead, Wales in the quarter ending
June 30, 2013. Because we in substance actedadessaagent for secondary aluminum produced
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by Anglesey, our sales were presented net of cstrafesales. Accordingly, we reported net salesapatating income of zero in 2013, 2012
and 2011.

We owned a 49.0% interest in Anglesey until we soich interest in the quarter ended December 313 &) a de minimis amount.
Because the carrying value of our ownership inténe&nglesey was zero, we recorded a de minimis ga the sale.

Certain Information Related to Our Significant Tax Attributes

We have significant federal income tax attributesluding sizable net operating loss carry-forwatdsder Section 382(1)(5) (“Section
382”) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (thed€?9, our ability to use our federal income taxibtites following a more than 50% change
in ownership during any period of 36 consecutivenths, all as determined under the Code (an “owmngidiange”)would be limited annuall
to an amount equal to the product of (i) the agategalue of our outstanding common shares immagliptior to the ownership change and
(i) the applicable federal long-term tax exemperia effect on the date of the ownership change.

To reduce the risk that an ownership change uneetich 382 would jeopardize our ability to fullyeusur federal income tax attributes,
certificate of incorporation prohibits certain tséers of our equity securities without the priopegval of our Board of Directors if either (a) 1
transferor holds 5% or more of the total fair maskaue of all of our issued and outstanding egségurities (such person, a “5% shareholder
or (b) as a result of such transfer, either (i) pagson or group of persons would become a 5% sblaker or (ii) the percentage stock
ownership of any 5% shareholder would be increéaed such transfer, a “5% transaction”).

Issuances of new common shares impact the formaudatermine whether an ownership change has octun@er Section 382. However,
we could issue all shares that are authorized fahdutstanding) without triggering an ownershipme.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Summary

The following table summarizes our liquidity at tth&tes presented (in millions of dollars):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Available cash and cash equivalents $ 169 $ 273.¢
Short-term investments 129t 85.C
Net borrowing availability on Revolving Credit Fhigi after borrowings and letters of credit 253.1 259.¢
Total liquidity $ 552.1 § 618.2

Available cash and cash equivalents and short-tevestments were $299.0 million at December 31320dompared to $358.4 million at
December 31, 2012The decrease was primarily driven by the payneetiie VEBAs of $20.0 million of annual variablesbacontribution witl
respect to 2012, the payment of interest for ayfedlr on our Senior Notes and cash outflow fronegting and financing activities consisting
capital expenditures, repurchases of common stodktee payment of quarterly dividends. These deeswere partially offset by cash inflow
from operations. Cash equivalents consist primarfilgpnoney market accounts and investments withreginal maturity of 90 days or less wt
purchased. We place our cash in bank deposits ameéyrmarket funds with high credit quality finaréiestitutions which invest primarily in
commercial paper and time deposits of prime quadityprt-term repurchase agreements, and U.S. goestragency notes. Short-term
investments represent holdings in investment-gcagemercial paper and corporate bonds with a mgtafigreater than 90 days.

In addition to our unrestricted cash and cash edeints described above, we have restricted caslisthbedged or held as collateral in
connection with workers¢ompensation requirements and certain other agmsmferom time to time, such restricted funds cdiddeturned t
us or we could be required to pledge additionahc8&ort-term restricted cash, which is include®iiapaid expenses and other current assets
was $0.3 million and $1.3 million at December 3012 and December 31, 2012 , respectively. Long-testricted cash, which is included in
Other Assets, was $9.3 million and $10.0 milliobatember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , respBcti

We and certain of our subsidiaries have a credéegent with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as admatigé agent, and the other financ
institutions party thereto ("Revolving Credit Fégll) (see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated FinahStatements in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repbngre were no borrowings under our Revolving QrEdcility as of December 31, 2008
December 31, 2012 .
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows froperating, investing and financing activities f@13 , 2012 and 2011 (in millions of
dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Fabricated Products $ 187t ¢ 201 % 105.¢
All Other (75.) (48.9 (43.])
$ 1117 % 152.¢ % 62.¢
Investing activities:
Fabricated Products $ (69.) $ (43.5) $ (115.9)
All Other (43.6€) (78.9) (2.0
$ (113.9 % (1219 $ (116.9)
Financing activities:
Fabricated Products $ 0.1 % 4.9 $ (8.4)
All Other (102.7) 197.¢ (23.9
$ (102.2) $ 1931 $ (32.9)

Operating Activities

Fabricated Products— In 2013 , Fabricated Products segment operatingitées provided $187.5 million of cash. Cash pdw»d in 2013
was primarily related to $200.8 million of adjusteet income, which primarily consisted of $188.@lion of operating income and $15.7
million of Canadian tax benefits, partially offdst $3.3 million of non-cash adjustments. Cash ptediin 2013 also included an increase in
accounts payable and other accrued liabilities2of $nillion due to general business activities #ratiming of payment, partially offset by an
increase in accounts receivable of $7.9 million pasially to the recognition of a $4.4 million edeable relating to tax refunds from the CRA,
as well as increases in product shipments neargyghand an increase in inventory of $4.4 milliomnticipation of higher sales.

In 2012, Fabricated Products segment operatingitesi provided $201.3 million of cash. Cash preddn 2012 was primarily related to
$202.2 million of net income including adjustmeatsioncash items, a decrease in inventory of $24.6 miléie a result of inventory reducti
efforts and an increase in accounts payable aret attrued liabilities of $3.9 million due to amiiease in general business activities, partially
offset by an increase in accounts receivable of@g4llion which resulted primarily from the elimation of customer cash discounts and a
decrease in net long-term assets and liabilitie®4of million primarily due to recognition of defed revenue.

In 2011, Fabricated Products segment operatingitesi provided $105.9 million of cash. Cash pre@ddn 2011 was primarily related to
$130.9 million of net income including adjustmeatsion-cash items, an increase in accounts payatulether accrued liabilities of $12.2
million due to an increase in general busineswities and the timing of payment, partially offéstan increase in inventory of $24.4 million
due to inventory build in anticipation of highetesaan increase in accounts receivable of $9.9anilllue to increased sales, and a decrease it
net long-term assets and liabilities of $3.0 milljarimarily due to recognition of deferred revenue.

For additional information regarding Fabricatedd®rcts operations income excluding non-run-rate stesee “Results of Operations-
Segment and Business Unit Informatiabove.

All Other— Cash used in operations in All Other is comprisk@l)@ash used in Corporate and Other activities] (ii) cash flows from
Anglesey-related operating activities.

Corporate and Other operating activities used $#bllgn , $42.0 million and $41.5 million of casturing 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Cash outflow from Corporate and Othgrating activities in 2013 consisted primarifypayments relating to (i) general and
administrative costs of $26.9 million, (ii) an amhwariable cash contribution to the VEBAs of $2tillion with respect to the 2012 year, and
(iii) interest on the Convertible Notes, Senior &oand Revolving Credit Facility of $28.1 milliamthe aggregate. Cash outflow from
Corporate and Other operating activities in 2012stsied primarily of payments relating to (i) gealend administrative costs of $25.9 milli
(ii) interest on the Senior Notes, Convertible Noded Revolving Credit Facility of $19.4 million tine aggregate, and (iii) our incentive
programs in the amount of $2.4 million.

35




Cash outflow from Corporate and Other operating/iets in 2011 consisted primarily of paymentsatalg to (i) general and administrative
costs of $27.8 million, (ii) interest on the Cortilele Notes and Revolving Credit Facility of $9.7lan in the aggregate, and (iii) an annual
variable cash contribution to the VEBAs of $2.2lioil with respect to the 2010 year.

Anglesey-related activities did not have any cémiv fmpact in 2013. Anglesey-related activitiesdi$6.9 million and $1.6 million of cash
in 2012 and 2011 , respectively. As discussed estiRs of Operations" above, the Secondary Alumibusiness unit activities related to our
purchase and resale to a third party of secondargiaum produced by Anglesey. As such, operatirghdbows for all years presented
reflected changes in accounts payable to Anglesethé purchase of secondary aluminum and chamgescounts receivable on third party
sales of such secondary aluminum. During 2013, és&y} ceased its remelt and casting operations arsbld our 49% interest in Anglesey.
Accordingly, we will not have liquidity fluctuatianfrom Anglesey activities in the future.

Investing Activitie:

Fabricated Products— Cash used in investing activities for FabricateadBcts was $69.8 million in 2013 , compared to $48illion of
cash used in 2012 and $115.3 million of cash us@®il . Cash used in 2013 and 2012 was substamékdted to capital expenditures. Cash
used in 2011 reflected $83.2 million used for thguasition of our Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) ifag and $32.1 million used for capital
expenditures. SeeCapital Expenditures and Investmehtselow for additional information.

All Other— Investing activities in All Other is generally redd to purchases and settlements of short-ternsiments, activities in
restricted cash, and capital expenditures withinGbrporate and Other business unit. We have ¢e=ircash on deposit as financial assuranc
for certain environmental obligations and workesmpensation claims from the State of Washingt@shQised in investing activities for All
Other during 2013 of $43.6 million primarily repests $44.7 million net cash outflow relating to ghases and settlements of short-term
investments and $0.6 million relating to capitgbemditures, partially offset by $1.7 million of ba®turned to us from the State of Washingtol
and Bermuda relating to workers compensation depd3ash used in investing activities for All Otlderring 2012 of $78.4 million primarily
represents the purchase of $85.0 million of skemia investments offset by the return of $6.9 miillof restricted cash previously held in a ti
account. Cash used in investing activities in 28ldomprised of the deposit of $1.0 million of reged cash relating to workers' compensa
$0.4 million of capital expenditures and a $0.3lio7l payment to purchase available for sale saesrih connection with our deferred
compensation plan, partially offset by $0.7 millicessh proceeds from the sale of property.

Financing Activities

Fabricated Products— Cash used in financing activities for Fabricatedd®rcts in 2013 was $0.1 million relating to theayment of a
capital lease liability. Cash used in financing\aties for Fabricated Products in 2012 was $4.8iomi , relating to the repayment of
outstanding principal balance of a promissory nggaed in connection with the acquisition of ourEhce, Alabama facility. Cash used in
financing activities for Fabricated Products in 2@f $8.4 million was related to a $7.0 millionlftépayment of the outstanding principal
balance of the promissory note issued in conneetitimthe purchase of the land and building of bos Angeles, California facility and
principal payments in respect of the note issuedsyn connection with the acquisition of our Fluze, Alabama facility.

All Other— Cash used in financing activities in 2013 was $102illion , primarily (i) $78.3 million of cash uddo repurchase our
common stock under our stock repurchase progrén$22.4 million of cash dividends paid to our dtholders (net of dividends returned),
including holders of restricted stock, and dividelivalents paid to holders of certain restrictetk units and to holders of performance
shares with respect to approximately one-half efgtarformance shares, (i) $2.5 million of cashdut repurchase our common stock to
satisfy withholding taxes resulting from the vegtof employee restricted stock, restricted stodkstand performance shares, partially offset
by (iv) $1.1 million of additional tax benefit imoonection with the vesting of employee non-vestates, restricted stock units and
performance shares.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2012 wa8%9 million, primarily representing (i) net precks of $218.4 million from the issuance
of the Senior Notes and (ii) $1.3 million of addital tax benefit in connection with the vestingofployee restricted stock, restricted stock
units and performance shares, partially offsetiijy$19.6 million of cash dividends paid to ouoskholders, including holders of restricted
stock, and dividend equivalents paid to holdersesfain restricted stock units and to holders ofggmance shares with respect to
approximately one-half of the performance shareks(af) $2.2 million of cash used in connection wiitle withholding of shares of our
common stock to satisfy employees' minimum stayutathholding taxes resulting from the vesting afoyee restricted stock, restricted
stock units and performance shares.

Cash used in financing activities in 2011 was $28illon, primarily representing (i) $18.9 millioof cash dividends paid to our
stockholders, including holders of restricted staukd dividend equivalents paid to holders of ¢enestricted stock units and to holders of
performance shares with respect to approximatedyhatf of performance shares, (ii) $2.1 million aidincing costs paid in connection with
amendment of our Revolving Credit Facility and) @B.1 million of cash used to
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repurchase our common stock to satisfy employeimsmam statutory withholding taxes resulting frohetvesting of employee restricted
stock, restricted stock units and performance share

Sources of Liquidity

We believe our available cash and cash equivalshtst-term investments, borrowing availability enthe Revolving Credit Facility, and
funds generated from operations are our most $igmif sources of liquidity. We believe these sosinw@l be sufficient to finance our cash
requirements, including those associated with éammed capital expenditures and investments, fiaagt the next 12 months. Nevertheless,
our ability to fund our working capital requiremsntlebt service obligations, the full amount of aagiable cash contribution to the VEBAS,
and planned capital expenditures and investmenitsi@gend upon our future operating performancei¢iwivill be affected by prevailing
economic conditions) and financial, business ahérdfiactors, some of which are beyond our control.

The Revolving Credit Facility matures in Septem®@16 and provides for borrowings up to $300.0 will{subject to borrowing base
limitations), of which up to a maximum of $60.0 lieih may be utilized for letters of credit. The Réxing Credit Facility may, subject to
certain conditions and the agreement of lendergtimeler, be increased up to $350.0 million .

The table below summarizes recent availability asage of our Revolving Credit Facility (in million$ dollars except for borrowing rate):

February 11, 2014 December 31, 2013

Revolving credit facility borrowing commitment $ 300.C $ 300.(
Borrowing base availability $ 264.¢ % 260.1
Less: Outstanding borrowings under Revolving CrEditility — —
Less: Outstanding letters of credit under Revolamgdit Facility (7.0) (7.0
Net remaining borrowing availability $ 257 % 253.1
Borrowing rate (if applicablée) 4.C% 4.C%

1 Such borrowing rate, if applicable, representsikerest rate for any overnight borrowings under Revolving Credit Facilit

We do not believe that covenants contained in #noRing Credit Facility are reasonably likely tmit our ability to raise additional debt
or equity should we choose to do so during the i&xnhonths, nor do we believe it is likely thatidgrthe next 12 months we will trigger the
availability threshold that would require measuréamgl maintaining a fixed charge coverage ratio.

See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btat#s in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Suppiegarg Data” of this Report for a
description regarding our Revolving Credit Facijlgych description is incorporated herein by refeee

Debt

See “Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitragahd Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangeme@tmitractual Obligations and
Commercial Commitmentdelow for mandatory principal and cash interesgrpents on the outstanding borrowings under thev€xtible
Notes and the Senior Notes. Because our closirudy giice exceeded 130% of the conversion pricfoirading days during a period of
consecutive trading days ending on December 313,20# last trading date of the fourth quarter@f2 holders may convert the Convertible
Notes during the first quarter of 2014. We beligvat the market value of the Convertible Notes walhtinue to exceed the amount of ¢
payable upon conversion, making conversion prighéofirst quarter of 2015 unlikely. In any event expect to exercise the cash-settled Cal
Options relating to shares of our common stockweacquired in connection with the issuance ofGbavertible Notes to cover the amoun
cash that we would be required to pay to the heldéany converted Convertible Notes in excessiefprincipal amount thereof. Furthermore,
we expect to have sufficient liquidity to repay gmncipal amount of the Convertible Notes uponvagsion. See Note 3 of Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “FaiariStatements and Supplementary Datiathis Report for further details of the Convele
Notes and the Senior Note

We do not believe that covenants in the indentgoe®rning the Convertible Notes and the Senior dlate reasonably
likely to limit our ability to obtain additional di¢ or equity financing should we choose to do sonduthe next 12 months.
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See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs in Iltem 8. “Financial Statements and Supptearg Data” of this Report for further
descriptions regarding the Convertible Notes aed3enior Notes; such descriptions are incorporiadeelin
by reference.

Capital Expenditures and Investments

A component of our long-term strategy is our cd@tgenditure program, including our organic grovviitiatives and
value-creating acquisitions. Total capital expemais were $70.4 million , $44.1 million and $32.#ion for 2013 , 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Capital spending during 2013 and 2012 included dipgnon major projects at our Spokane (Trentwodégshington facility, including a
new casting complex to expand our rolling ingotaradty and reduce costs and a project to furtheaedheat treat plate capacity. Other
projects included capital upgrades at several okatrusion facilities to support new automotivegmams that launched in 2013 or will launch
over the next few years. Capital investment dugi@gl included capital spending (i) at our extrudemility in Chandler, Arizona to increase
capacity to serve demand for aerospace extrugiijnat our Spokane (Trentwood), Washington fagifitimarily on projects to increase
capacity to meet growing demand for heat treaemaiplications, and (iii) to complete our extruséomd remelt facility in Kalamazoo,
Michigan. The rest of our capital spending in 20A@&12 and 2011 was spread among our manufactwaagibns on projects expected to
reduce operating costs, improve quality, increageacity or enhance operational security.

In 2014, we anticipate capital spending will behia $50.0 million to $60.0 million range. Capitatestment will be funded using cash
generated from operations, available cash andegsivalents, short-term investments, borrowingseuntide Revolving Credit Facility and/or
other third-party financing arrangements. The l®fenticipated capital expenditures may be adfluftEm time to time depending on our
business plans, our price outlook for fabricateshhum products, our ability to maintain adequajaitity and other factors. No assurance
be provided as to the timing of any such expeneégwur the operational benefits expected therefrom.

Dividends

During 2013, 2012 and 2011 , we paid a total & @2nillion , $19.6 million and $18.9 million , 1.20 , $1.00 and $0.96 per common
share, respectively, in cash dividends to our stolders, including the holders of restricted staokd dividend equivalents to the holders of
certain restricted stock units and to the holdérsegformance shares with respect to approximaierhalf of the performance shares. Upon
the termination in the third quarter of 2013 of thied-party disbursing agent agreement enteredimtonnection with our emergence from
chapter 11 proceedings in 2006, $0.6 million ohcdisidends paid in respect of our common sharésiherust by the third-party disbursing
agent for distribution under our chapter 11 planwell as 9,001 such common shares, were retumesl at the direction of the bankruptcy
court.

On January 14, 2014 , we announced that our Bddbirectors approved the declaration of a quartedsgh dividend of $ 0.3%r commol
share, or $6.4 million (including dividend equivatis), which was paid on or about February 14, 201tockholders of record at the close of
business on January 24, 2014 .

The future declaration and payment of dividendany, will be at the discretion of our Board of &itors and will depend
on a number of factors, including our financial aperating results, financial condition and anetgul cash requirements and
contractual restrictions under our Revolving Créditility, the indenture for our Senior Notes drestindebtedness we may incur in the future
We can give no assurance that dividends will béaged and paid in the future.

Repurchases of Common Sto

From time to time, we repurchase shares of our comstock pursuant to a stock repurchase prograhoaeéd by our Board of Directo
During 2013, our Board of Directors twice authodzlditional funds under this program, with $75i0iom authorized in April 2013 and
another $75.0 million authorized in December 2R&purchase transactions will occur at such timespaices as management deems
appropriate and will be funded with our excessitlijy after giving consideration to internal and&mxal growth opportunities and future cash
flows. Repurchases may be in open-market trangectioin privately negotiated transactions, andptfoggram may be modified or terminated
by our Board of Directors at any time.

In 2013, we repurchased 1,232,077 shares of oummonstock at a weighted-average price of $64.3%pare pursuant to this
authorization. The total cost of $79.3 million wasorded as Treasury Stock. We purchased no shiades this program during 2012 and
2011. As of December 31, 2013, $117.6 million rerea available for repurchases of our common shawesuant to the stock repurchase
program.

Under our equity and performance incentive plamntiggpants may elect to have us withhold commone$ito satisfy minimum statutory
tax withholding obligations arising in connectioitiwthe vesting of non-vested shares, restrictedkst
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units and performance shares. Any such shares litldte canceled by us on the applicable vestitgsdahich correspond to the times at
which income to the employee is recognized. Whemwtiehold these common shares, we are requiredrtitto the appropriate taxing
authorities the fair value of the shares withhaldgthe vesting date. The number of shares withiseletermined based on the closing price
per common share as reported on the Nasdaq Glebadt3/arket on such dates. During 2013 , we witthd@,075 shares of common stock to
satisfy employees' minimum statutory tax withhotdobligations. The withholding of common sharesibyon the vesting date could be
deemed a purchase of the common shares.

Restrictions Related to Equity Capit

As discussed in “Certain Information Related to Significant Tax Attributes” above and elsewher¢his Report, there are restrictions on
the transfer of our common shares. These restig@oe intended to reduce the risk that an owrnediange within the criteria under Section
382 would jeopardize our ability to fully use oederal income tax attributes.

Environmental Commitments and Contingenci

We are subject to a number of environmental lavesragulations, to potential fines or penalties sssé for alleged breaches of the
environmental laws and regulations, and to potkal#ms and litigation based upon such laws agdlagions. We have established proced
for regularly evaluating environmental loss conéingies. Our environmental accruals represent atisoounted estimate of costs reasonably
expected to be incurred based on presently endmitedand regulations, existing requirements, ctlyexvailable facts, existing technology,
and our assessment of the likely remediation astiorbe taken. See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidaitezhcial Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” ddliteonal information regarding our environmentahanitments and contingencies.

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments, aml Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We are obligated to make future payments undeowuartontracts such as long-term purchase obligatiod lease agreements. We have
grouped these contractual obligations into opegadittivities, investing activities and financingigities in the same manner as they are
classified in our Statements of Consolidated Cdstvéincluded in Item 8. “Financial Statements &upplemental Data” in order to provide a
better understanding of the nature of the obligetiand to provide a basis for comparison to hisabinformation.

The following table provides a summary of our siigint contractual obligations at December 31, 2@i#lars in millions):
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Payments Due by Period

2019 and
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Operating activities!
Purchase obligations $ 2865 $ 278f $ 4¢ % 04 $ 04 $ 04 % 1.¢
Operating leases 45.1 4.7 4.C 2.6 2.1 2.C 29.4
Investing activities?
Capital equipment 0.8 0.8 — — — — —
Financing activities®
Principal on the Convertible Notés 175.C — 175.( — — — —
?ash Interest on the Convertible Notes 11€ 7¢ 3¢ . . . .
Principal on the Senior Notés 225.( — — — — — 225.(
Interest on the Senior Notés 120.¢ 18.€ 18.€ 18.€ 18.¢ 18.€ 27.€
Commitment fees on Revolving Cre
Facility ® 4.1 1.t 1.t 1.1 — — —
Other:
VEBA contribution® 17.2 16.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 —
Standby letters of credit 7.4 — — 7.C — — —
Uncertain tax liabilitie$ 5.C — — — — — —
Deferred compensation plan liability 7.C — — — — — —
Total contractual ob|igatiorf35 $ 905.¢ $ 3281 % 208.2 $ 30.: % 214§ 211 % 283.¢

1 See “Obligations for Operating Activitiesbelow.
2 See “Obligations for Investing Activitigsbelow.

3 See “Obligations for Financing Activitiesbelow.

4 The timing of the principal payment with respectite Convertible Notes assumes that no early csioeoccurs. Interest obligations on

the Convertible Notes and Senior Notes are basestloeduled interest payments.

5 Future commitment fees are estimated based omtbars of unused credit under our Revolving Creditility at December 31, 2013 and
assuming no extension of terms beyond the curramanity date of our Revolving Credit Facility, whigs in September 2016.

& Except for the variable cash contribution to theBAS to be made in the first quarter of 2014 withpect to the 2013 calendar year anc
annual administration fees to the VEBAS, total cactiial obligations exclude future annual variatash contributions to the VEBAs,
which cannot be determined at this time. S€df“Balance Sheet and Other Arrangemértslow for a description of our annual variable
cash obligations to the VEBAs.

" Of the $7.4 million of standby letters of credif.& million represents cash collateralized and #7illon represents letters of credit issued
under our Revolving Credit Facility. The letterscoédit provide financial assurance of our paynaértbligations, primarily related to
workers' compensation and environmental compliafbe.specific timing of payments with respect tolsmatters is uncertain. The lett
of credit generally automatically renew every 12nths and terminate when the underlying obligatiem$onger require assurance or upor
the maturity of our Revolving Credit Facility in @ember 2016 (for those letters of credit issuedienhat facility).

At December 31, 2013 , we had uncertain tax pastishich ultimately could result in tax payments.tAe amount of ultimate tax
payments beyond 2014 is contingent on the tax aitits} assessment, it is not practical to presemual payment information.

The amount represents liability relating to ouredlefd compensation plan for certain key employ&sdhe distribution amount is
contingent upon vesting and other eligibility regonents, it is not practical to present annual gEynmformation.
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Obligations for Operating Activities

Cash outlays for operating activities primarily sist of purchase obligations with respect to prireluminum, other raw materials and
electricity, and payment obligations under operptéases.

We have various contracts with suppliers of alumirthat require us to purchase minimum quantitieslwhinum in future years at a price
to be determined at the time of purchase basedapitinon the underlying metal price at that timendéunts included in the table are based on
minimum quantities at the metal price at Decemlie2813 . We believe the minimum quantities aregliothian our current requirements for
aluminum. Actual quantities and actual metal prigethe time of purchase could be different.

Operating leases represent multi-year obligationgértain manufacturing facilities, warehouseficefspace and equipment.

Obligations for Investing Activities

Capital project spending included in the precedaige represents non-cancelable capital commitneentd December 31, 2013 . We
expect capital projects to be funded through alildlaash generated from our operations, cash atdemuivalents, short-term investments,
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility amdéther third-party financing arrangements.

Obligations for Financing Activities

Cash outlays for financing activities consist of ptincipal obligations under long-term debt, salled interest payment on the Convertible
Notes and the Senior Notes and commitment feesrunatéRevolving Credit Facility. No borrowings wesatstanding under our Revolvii
Credit Facility either throughout the year or abettember 31, 2013 .

Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements

* See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financialéstents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemamni$ Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee bénséns, including defined contribution plans atefined benefit plans.

* See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financialéstents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemami$ Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our participationmulti-employer pension plans.

* See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financialéstents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemami$ Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee irtoenplans. Additional equity awards are expectelé made to employees and
directors in 2014 and future years.

« Our financial obligations to the VEBAs are (iyariable cash contribution payable to the VEBA4 €i) an obligation to pay the
administrative expenses of the VEBASs, up to $0.lBaniper year. The obligation to the VEBA that pides benefits for eligible
retirees represented by certain unions and theimsng spouse and eligible dependents with resfettie variable cash
contribution extends through September 30, 201 Tlevite obligation to the VEBA that provides betefo certain other eligib
retirees, and their surviving spouse and eligil@pashdents has no express termination date. Therdartwobe contributed to the
VEBASs through September 2017 pursuant to our otiigas 10% of the first $20.0 million of annualsteflow (as defined; in
general terms, the principal elements of cash #ioavearnings before interest expense, provisiomémme taxes, and
depreciation and amortization less cash paymentsufisong other things, interest, income taxes,capital expenditures), plus
20% of annual cash flow, as defined, in exces20fGmillion . Such annual payments may not ex&#10 millionand are als
limited (with no carryover to future years) to ieent that the payments would cause our liquitdite less than $50.0 million .
As of December 31, 2013, we determined that thabte cash contribution to the VEBAs for 2013 wd$.0 million . Sedote
7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsided in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplaary Data” of this
Report for additional information regarding theeeffthat the VEBAs had on the consolidated findratetements.

e In March 2010, we issued the Convertible Notesl, in connection therewith, we purchased the Gptions and sold to the Call
Option counterparties net-share-settled warratatimg to our common stock. Because our closinglspice exceeded 130% of the
conversion price for 20 trading days during a pod30 consecutive trading days ending on DecerBbeP013, the last trading date
of the fourth quarter of 2013, holders may contteet Convertible Notes during the first quarter 812. We believe that the market
value of the Convertible Notes will continue to e&d the amount of cash payable upon conversioningnaknversion prior to the
first quarter of 2015 unlikely. In any event, wepekgt to exercise the cash-settled call option®t@icthe amount of cash that we
would be required to pay to the holders of any estad Convertible Notes in excess of the princgmbunt thereof. Furthermore, we
expect to have sufficient liquidity to repay thénpipal amount of the Convertible Notes upon cosi@r. See Note 3
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of Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsamI8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat#iis Report for further
details of the Convertible Notes and the SenioreNot

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with GAAP. In connection with thegamation of our financial statemer
we are required to make assumptions and estimbtes &uture events, and apply judgments that atfecreported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue, expenses and the relatedatisces. We base our assumptions, estimates agthgrds on historical experience, current
trends and other factors that management believes televant at the time our consolidated findrst@tements are prepared. On a regular
basis, management reviews the accounting poliagsymptions, estimates and judgments to ensureuhéihancial statements are presented
fairly and in accordance with GAAP. However, be@figure events and their effects cannot be deterthwith certainty, actual results could
differ from our assumptions and estimates, and difedérences could be material.

Our significant accounting policies are discusseNdte 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgsacluded in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Reptahagement believes that the following accountistineates are the most critical to aid in
fully understanding and evaluating our reportedrficial results, and require management’s mostdiffisubjective or complex judgments,
resulting from the need to make estimates aboutffleets of matters that are inherently uncertilianagement has reviewed these critical
accounting estimates and related disclosures WwitAudit Committee of our Board of Directors.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates in respect of definewéfit
plans.

At December 31, 2013, our financial statementaigkeltwo
defined benefit postretirement medical plans the.
postretirement medical plans maintained by the VEBA
which we are required to reflect on our financtakesments
despite our limited legal obligations to the VEBiAgegard
to those plans) and a pension plan for our Cangaéart.
Liabilities and expenses for pension and otherrptisEment
benefits are determined using actuarial methodetognd
incorporate significant assumptions, including e used
to discount the future estimated liability, thedeterm rate o
return (“LTRR") on plan assets, and several assiongt
relating to the employee workforce (i.e., salamgréases,
medical costs, retirement age, and mortality). st
significant assumptions used in determining tharesed
year-end obligations were the assumed discountlraieR
and the assumptions regarding future medical castases.

In addition to the above assumptions used in theasial
valuation, changes in plan provisions could alseerea
material impact on the net funded status of the X&BOur
only obligation to the VEBAs is to pay the annuatiable
contribution amount based on the level of our dash. We
have no control over any aspect of the plans. Weergirely
on information provided to us by the VEBA adminéstrs
with respect to specific plan provisions such asuah
benefits paid.

See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Sep@ntary
Data” of this Report for additional information onr benefit
plans.

Since recorded obligations represent
the present value of expected
pension and postretirement benefit
payments over the life of the plans,
decreases in the discount rate (used
to compute the present value of the
payments) would cause the
estimated obligations to increase.
Conversely, an increase in the
discount rate would cause the
estimated present value of the
obligations to decline.

The LTRR on plan assets reflects an
assumption regarding what the
amount of earnings would be on
existing plan assets (before
considering any future contributions
to the plans). Increases in the
assumed LTRR would cause the
projected value of plan assets
available to satisfy pension and
postretirement obligations to
increase, yielding a reduced net
expense in respect of these
obligations. A reduction in the
LTRR would reduce the amount of
projected net assets available to
satisfy pension and postretirement
obligations and, thus, cause the net
expense in respect of these
obligations to increase.

As the assumed rate of increase in
medical costs goes up, so does the
net projected obligation. Converse
if the rate of increase was assumed
to be lower, the projected obligation
would decline.

A change in plan provisions could
cause the estimated obligations to
change. An increase in annual paid
benefits would increase the
estimated present value of the
obligations, and conversely, a
decrease in annual paid benefits
would decrease the estimated
present value of the obligations.
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The rate used to discount future
estimated liabilities is
determined considering the ra
available at year end on debt
instruments that could be used
to settle the obligations of the
plan. An increase/decrease in
the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the projected
benefit obligation by
approximately $0.3 million in
relation to the Canadian pension
plan, and impact 2014 expense
by $0.1 million. An
increase/decrease in the
discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the accumulated
pension benefit obligation by
approximately $10.0 million in
relation to the VEBAS, impact
service and interest costs by
$0.3 million and impact 2014
expense by approximately $0.2
million.

The LTRR on plan assets is
estimated by considering
historical returns and expected
returns on current and projected
asset allocations. A change in
the assumption for LTRR on
plan assets of 1/4 of 1% would
impact expense by
approximately $1.9 million in
2014 in relation to the VEBAs.

An increase/decrease in the
assumed medical trend rate of
1% would impact the
accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation by
approximately $22.7 million to
$27.8 million in relation to the
Union VEBA. An
increase/decrease in the
assumed medical trend rate of
1% would impact service and
interest costs by approximately
$1.5 million to $2.0 million.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to envirantal
commitments and contingencies

We are subject to a number of environmental lavas an
regulations, to potential fines or penalties assdésr
alleged breaches of such laws and regulationsand t
potential claims and litigation based upon suctslawd
regulations. Based on our evaluation of environiadent
matters, we have established environmental acgruals
primarily related to potential solid waste dispoaadl soil
and groundwater remediation matters. These envienitah
accruals represent our estimate of costs reasoeapbcted
to be incurred on a going concern basis in thenargi cours:
of business based on presently enacted laws anthtiegs,
currently available facts, existing technology @l
assessment of the likely remediation action toalken.

See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Seppntary
Data” of this Report for additional information onr
environmental contingencies.

Our judgments and estimates with respect to legadl @ther
commitments and contingencies.

Valuation of legal and other contingent claimsubjsct to a
great deal of judgment and substantial uncertalsihder
GAAP, companies are required to accrue for loss
contingencies in their financial statements onlyath (i) the
potential loss is “probable” and (ii) the amount érange)
of probable loss is “estimable.” In reaching a daiaation
of the probability of an adverse ruling in respafca matter,
we typically consult outside experts. However, anogh
judgments reached regarding probability are sultgect
significant uncertainty. We may, in fact, obtainadverse
ruling in a matter that we did not consider a “@ble” loss
or “estimable” and which, therefore, was not acdrfge in
our financial statements. Additionally, facts and
circumstances in respect of a matter can changsrcpkey
assumptions that were used in previous assessofemts
matter to change.

Making estimates of possible
incremental environmental
remediation costs is subject to

inherent uncertainties. In estimating

the amount of any loss, in many

instances a single estimation of the
loss may not be possible. Rather, we
may only be able to estimate a range

for possible losses. In such event,
GAAP requires that a liability be

established for at least the minimum
end of the range assuming that there

is no other amount which is more
likely to occur. As additional facts
are developed and definitive
remediation plans and necessary
regulatory approvals for
implementation of remediation are
established or alternative

technologies are developed, changes
in these and other factors may result
in actual costs exceeding the current

environmental accruals.

In estimating the amount of any lo
in many instances a single
estimation of the loss may not be
possible. Rather, we may only be

able to estimate a range for possible

losses. In such event, GAAP
requires that a liability be

established for at least the minimum
end of the range assuming that there

is no other amount which is more
likely to occur.

44

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals. To the extent we
prevail in matters for which
reserves have been established,
or are required to pay amounts
in excess of our reserves, our
future results from operations
could be materially affected.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals. To the extent we
prevail in matters for which
reserves have been established
or are required to pay amounts
in excess of our reserves, our
future results from operations
could be materially affected.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to coratil
asset retirement obligations.

We recognize conditional asset retirement obligestio
(“CAROSs") related to legal obligations associateithvthe
normal operations of certain of our facilities. $8eCAROs
consist primarily of incremental costs that wouéd b
associated with the removal and disposal of asbdatbof
which is believed to be fully contained and encégisd
within walls, floors, ceilings or piping) of certaof our older
facilities if such facilities were to undergo majenovation
or be demolished. There are currently plans fohsuc
renovation or demolition at certain facilities and
management’s current assessment is that certaiatenial
CAROs may be triggered during the next four yekos.
locations where there are no current plans forvations or
demolitions, the most probable scenario is such O&R
would not be triggered for 20 or more years, idlht

Under current accounting guidelines, liabilitieslawosts for
CAROs must be recognized in a company’s financial
statements even if it is unclear when or if the ©ARIll be
triggered. If it is unclear when or if a CARO wlilé
triggered, companies are required to use probwbilit
weighting for possible timing scenarios to deterertine
probability-weighted amounts that should be recpeghiin
the company’s financial statements.

The estimation of CAROs is subject
to a number of inherent uncertaint
including: (1) the timing of when
any such CARO may be incurred;
(2) the ability to accurately identify
all materials that may require spec
handling or treatment; (3) the ability
to reasonably estimate the total
incremental special handling and
other costs; (4) the ability to assess
the relative probability of different
scenarios which could give rise to a
CARO; and (5) other factors outside
a company’s control including
changes in regulations, costs and
interest rates. As such, actual costs
and the timing of such costs may
vary significantly from the
estimates, judgments and probable
scenarios we considered, which
could, in turn, have a material
impact on our future financial
statements.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to seffurance
workers' compensation liabilities.

We are primarily self-insured for workers compeiwsat
benefits provided to employees. Workers' compenisati
liabilities are estimated for incurred-but-not-refed claims
based on judgment, using our historical claim daiz
information and analysis provided by actuarial ataim
advisors, our insurance carriers and other prajasts. We
account for accrued liability relating to workers'
compensation claims on a discounted basis.

Long Lived Assets.

Long-lived assets other than goodwill and indedifived
intangible assets, which are separately testennfjoairment,
are evaluated for impairment whenever events ongésin
circumstances indicate that the carrying value natybe
recoverable. When evaluating long-lived assetpé&bential
impairment, we first compare the carrying valu¢haf asset
to the asset’s estimated future cash flows (undistes and
without interest charges). If the estimated fuash flows
are less than the carrying value of the asset,alilate an
impairment loss. The impairment loss calculatiompares
the fair value, which may be based on estimatagtéutash
flows (discounted and with interest charges) toasset's
carrying value. We recognize an impairment logbef
amount of the asset’s carrying value exceeds thetas
estimated fair value. If we recognize an impairmess, the
adjusted carrying amount of the asset becomegvtscost
basis. For a depreciable long-lived asset, the gusivbasis
will be depreciated (amortized) over the remainisgful life
of that asset.

The accounting for our self-insured
workers' compensation plan involy
estimates and judgments to
determine our ultimate liability
related to reported claims and
incurred-but-not-reported claims.
We consider our historical
experience, severity factors,
actuarial analysis and existing stop
loss insurance in estimating our
ultimate insurance liability. In
addition, since recorded obligations
represent the present value of
expected payments over the life of
the claims, decreases in the discount
rate (used to compute the present
value of the payments) would cause
the estimated obligations to incree
Conversely, an increase in the
discount rate would cause the
estimated present value of expected
payments to decrease. If our
workers' compensation claim trends
were to differ significantly from our
historic claim experience and as the
discount rate changes, we would
make a corresponding adjustment to
our workers' compensation reserves.

Our impairment loss calculations
contain uncertainties because they
require management to make
assumptions and apply judgment to
estimate future cash flows and asset
fair values, including forecasting
useful lives of the assets and
selecting the discount rate that
reflects the risk inherent in future
cash flows.
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The rate used to discount future
estimated workers'
compensation liabilities is
determined based on the U.S.
Treasury bond rate with a five-
year maturity date which
resembles the remaining
estimated life of the workers'
compensation claims. A change
in the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the workers'
compensation liability and
operating income by
approximately $0.3 million.

We have not made any material
changes in our impairment loss
assessment methodology.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we
to calculate long-lived asset
impairment losses. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and asset fair
values, we may be exposed to
further losses from impairment
charges that could be material.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Income Tax.

We have substantial tax attributes available teaifthe
impact of future income taxes. We have a process fo
determining the need for a valuation allowance wéitpect
to these attributes. The process includes an extereview
of both positive and negative evidence includingearnings
history, future earnings, adverse recent occurignce
carryforward periods, an assessment of the indasttythe
impact of the timing differences.

We expect to record a full statutory tax provisiotiuture
periods, and, therefore, the benefit of any tasitattes
realized will only affect future balance sheets atadlements
of cash flows.

In accordance with GAAP, financial statements faefim
periods include an income tax provision based en th
effective tax rate expected to be incurred in tineent year.

Inherent within the completion of
our assessment of the need for a
valuation allowance, we make
significant judgments and estimates
with respect to future operating
results, timing of the reversal of
deferred tax assets and current
market and industry factors. In order
to determine the effective tax rate to
apply to interim periods, estimates
and judgments are made (by taxable
jurisdiction) as to the amount of
taxable income that may be
generated, the availability of
deductions and credits expected and
the availability of net operating loss
carryforwards or other tax attributes
to offset taxable income.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty of
predicting future market conditions,
customer requirements, the cost for
key inputs such as energy and
primary aluminum, overall operatii
efficiency and other factors.
However, if, among other things,
(1) actual results vary from our
forecasts due to one or more of the
factors cited above or elsewhere in
this Report, (2) income is distributed
differently than expected among tax
jurisdictions, (3) one or more

material events or transactions occur

which were not contemplated, or
(4) certain expected deductions,
credits or carryforwards are not
available, it is possible that the
effective tax rate for a year could
vary materially from the assessme
used to prepare the interim
consolidated financial statements.
See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in
Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report
for additional discussion of these
matters.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material. A
change in our effective tax rate
by 1% would have had an
impact of approximately

$1.4 million to net income for
the year ended December 31,
2013.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Tax Contingencies.

We use a “more likely than not” threshold for resibgn of
tax attributes that are subject to uncertaintiesrapasure
reserves in respect of such expected benefits lmasdteir
probability. A number of years may elapse befopauicular
matter, for which we have established a resenaydsted
and fully resolved or clarified. We adjust our taserve and
income tax provision in the period in which actiegults of
a settlement with tax authorities differs from egtablished
reserve, the statute of limitations expires forrlevant tax
authority to examine the tax position or when more
information becomes available. See Note 6 of Ntes
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8Bem
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isf th
Report for additional information on the recogmitiof tax
attributes.

Inventory Valuation.

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orkea
value. For the Fabricated Products segment, fidishe
products, work-in-process and raw material invaéatoare
stated on a LIFO basis, and other inventories cppaily
operating supplies and repair and maintenance, [zags
stated at average cost.

Inventory costs consist of material, labor and nfiacturing
overhead, including depreciation. Abnormal cosishsas
idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs apdilage,
are accounted for as current period charges. \\ardate
the market value of our inventories based on theeat
replacement cost, by purchase or by reproductixce that
it does not exceed the net realizable value aiscdhiot less
than net realizable value reduced by an approximateal
profit margin.

Our reserve for contingent tax
liabilities reflects uncertainties
because management is required to
make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the exposures
associated with our various filing
positions.

Our effective income tax rate is also
affected by changes in tax law, the
tax jurisdiction of new plants or
business ventures, the level of
earnings and the results of tax
audits.

Our estimate of market value of our
inventories contains uncertainties
because management is required to
make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the selling
price of our inventories, costs to
complete our inventories and normal
profit margin.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty
predicting such factors as future
commaodity prices and market
conditions.
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Although management believes
that the judgments and estims
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.

To the extent we prevail in
matters for which reserves have
been established, or are requirec
to pay amounts in excess of our
reserves, our effective income
tax rate in a given financial
statement period could be
materially affected. An
unfavorable tax settlement cot
require use of our cash and
would result in an increase in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution. A
favorable tax settlement would
be recognized as a reduction in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution.

Our liability related to uncertain
tax positions at December 31,
2013 was $5.0 million.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ, and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Convertible Notes and Call Options.

The cash conversion feature of the Convertible dlated the
Call Options are accounted for as derivative imatrats. We
measure the value of the cash conversion featutteeas
difference between the estimated fair value of the
Convertible Notes and the estimated fair valuéhef t
Convertible Notes without the cash conversion fieatWe
value the Convertible Notes based on the tradifog mf the
Convertible Notes and we value the Convertible Nlote
without the cash conversion feature based on theepit
value of the series of fixed income cash flows uribde
Convertible Notes, with a mandatory redemption0a %
We value the Call Options using a binomial lattieduation
model.

Acquisition, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

We accounted for acquisitions using the purchasbadeof
accounting, which requires the assets acquirediabitties
assumed to be recorded at the date of acquisitithrea
respective estimated fair values.

We recognize goodwill as of the acquisition dateaa
residual over the fair values of the identifiabt assets
acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at te@s an
annual basis, as well as on an interim basis asan&d, at
the time of events and changes in circumstances.

Definite-lived intangible assets acquired will baatized
over the estimated useful lives of the respectbaets, to
reflect the pattern in which the economic benefitthe
intangible assets are consumed. In the event tierpa
cannot be reliably determined, we use a straiget-li
amortization method. Whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouthef
intangible assets may not be recoverable, the gitiémn
assets will be reviewed for impairment.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Significant inputs to the model
include our stock price, risk-free
rate, credit spread, dividend yield,
expected volatility of our stock

price, and probability of certain
corporate events, all of which are
observable inputs by market
participants. Our estimates of fair
value of the cash conversion feature
of the Convertible Notes and the
Call Options contain uncertainties
given the difficulty in predicting
factors such as the expected
volatility of our stock price and the
probability of certain corporate
events. The primary driver of fair
values of both the cash conversion
feature of the Convertible Notes and
the Call Option is our stock price.

The judgments made in determining
the estimated fair value assigned to
each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset
lives, can significantly impact our
results of operations. Fair values and
useful lives are determined based
among other factors, the expected
future period of benefit of the asset,
the various characteristics of the
asset and projected cash flows. As
the determination of an asset’s fair
value and useful life involves
management making certain
estimates and because these
estimates form the basis for the
determination of whether or not an
impairment charge should be
recorded, these estimates are
considered to be critical accounting
estimates.

An increase of $10 in our stock
price would cause the net
estimated fair values of the cash
conversion feature and the Call
Options to decrease by
approximately $0.1 million. A
decrease of $10 in our stock
price would cause the net
estimated fair values of the cash
conversion feature and the Call
Options to increase by
approximately $0.4 million. We
do not expect the net change in
the fair value of these
derivatives to have a material
impact to our financial
statements, over time.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we

to calculate goodwill and
intangible assets. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and fair valu
assigned to each class of assets
acquired and liabilities assum
we may be exposed to losses
from impairment charges that
could be material.

For a discussion of all recently adopted and régésgued but not yet adopted accounting pronouecesy see the section “New
Accounting Pronouncements” from Note 1 of Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements included in IBeffiFrinancial Statements and

Supplementary Data” of this Report.
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Available Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Rep@n Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, RrStatements, and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Corsiois ("SEC"). You may inspect and, for a fee, capy document that we file with the
SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100detSi.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please calSiG€ at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the Public Reference Room. You miag abtain the documents that we file electronjcatbm the SEC's website at
http://www.sec.gov Our filings with the SEC, as well as news relsas@nouncements of upcoming earnings calls amtgwewhich
management participates or hosts with memberseahtiestment community, and an archive of webaafstsich earnings calls and investor
events, and related investor presentations, aoesatgilable on our website at http://www.kaiseralum.com. Information on our website is
not incorporated into this Report.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkRisk

Our operating results are sensitive to changedsdptices of primary aluminum and fabricated alumirproducts, and also depend to a
significant degree upon the volume and mix of atiducts sold. As discussed more fully in Note 1Nofes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statermamtd Supplementary Data” of this Report, we hastically utilized hedging transactions
to lock in a specified price or range of pricesdertain products which we sell or consume in godpction process and to mitigate our
exposure to changes in energy prices and foreigemrecy exchange rates.

Aluminum . Our pricing of fabricated aluminum products imgglly intended to lock in a conversion margirp(esenting the value added
from the fabrication process(es)) and to pass npeie fluctuations to our customers. However,énain instances, we enter into firm-price
arrangements with our customers for stipulatedmelsito be delivered in the future. Because we gdipgrurchase primary and secondary
aluminum on a floating price basis, pounds thahage committed to sell to customers under such-firite arrangements create metal price
risk for us. We use third-party hedging instrumenotimit our exposure to metal price risks relatedirm-price customer sales contracts.

Total fabricated products shipments sold under-finme arrangements during 2013, 2012 and 201& wemillions of pounds) 119.8 ,
178.8 and 157.0 , respectively. At December 313204e had customer sales contracts for the dgliekfabricated aluminum products
pursuant to firm-price arrangements for 2014 antb2otaling approximately (in millions of pound®.0 and 2.3, respectively.

Foreign Currency . We, from time to time, enter into forward exchaegatracts to hedge material exposures for foreigreacies. Our
primary foreign exchange exposures are our opegratists of our London, Ontario facility and ourltaesmmitments for equipment purchases

Energy . We are exposed to energy price risk from fluctugaprices for natural gas and electricity. We esténthat, before consideration
any hedging activities and the potential to passutjh higher natural gas and electricity pricesustomers, each $1.00 change in natural gas
prices (per mmBtu) and electricity prices (per mwiould impact our 2014 annual operating costs lpr@pgmately $4.1 million and $0.3
million , respectively.

We, from time to time, in the ordinary course ofimess, enter into hedging transactions with msjpipliers of energy and energy-related
financial investments. As of December 31, 2013r,eoqposure to fluctuations in natural gas prices een substantially reduced for
approximately 82% , 64% and 6% of the expectedrahtias purchases for 2014 , 2015 and 2016 , régelyc
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation
Foothill Ranch, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and SuésidCompanies (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of income, comprehensive incamss)(Istockholders' equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Decedih013. We also have audited the Company'snalteontrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishédemal Control - Integrated Framework (1992&s$ by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camsananagement is responsible for these finastaéments, for maintaining effective intel
control over financial reporting, and for its assaent of the effectiveness of internal control dirgaincial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Ci@ancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to esgg an opinion on these financial statements
and an opinion on the Company's internal contrer dwancial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBiqUnited States). Those standards requir
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtnassurance about whether the financial statsraes free of material misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. Our augfithe financial statements included examinimga
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts actbdiges in the financial statements, assessingdbeunting principles used and significant estas
made by management, and evaluating the overalidinhstatement presentation. Our audit of intecaaltrol over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugsncial reporting, assessing the risk that aemi@tweakness exists, and testing and evaluatiag t
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobbiased on the assessed risk. Our audits alaaded performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisubopinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi the company's principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, and effected by the compangar of directors, management, and other personn
to provide reasonable assurance regarding thdildlieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipleez A company's internal control over finaneggborting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly ietftbe transactions and dispositions of the asdete
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to permit pitegraof financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (®jge reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets thdtidmve a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltecoinover financial reporting, including the poskti of collusion or improper management override
of controls, material misstatements due to errdraard may not be prevented or detected on a tifpadys. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahoégorting to future periods are subject to tts& that the controls may become inadequate becduse
changes in conditions, or that the degree of canp#g with the policies or procedures may detegorat

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteeaferred to above present fairly, in all mateeapects, the financial position of Kaiser Alunmin
Corporation and Subsidiary Companies as of Dece®be2013 and 2012, and the results of their ofmerstand their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2013, ifoomity with accounting principles generally acagin the United States of America. Also, in
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialects, effective internal control over financigborting as of December 31, 2013, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control - IntegdFramework (1992) issued by the Committee of Spang Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 18, 2014
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2013 December 31, 2012

(In millions of dollars, except share and per
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 169.5 % 273.¢
Short-term investments 129.t 85.C
Receivables:
Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables®@8%t December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 119.¢ 123.¢
Other 13.4 34
Inventories 214.¢ 186.(
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 44.2 70.1
Total current assets 690.¢ 741.7
Property, plant, and equipment — net 429.c 384.:
Net asset in respect of VEBAS 406.( 365.¢
Deferred tax assets — net (including deferred ibillty relating to the VEBAs of $152.4 at Decemi3d, 2013
and $136.9 at December 31, 2012 - see Note 6) 69.1 102.(
Intangible assets — net 33.7 354
Goodwill 37.2 37.2
Other assets 104.¢ 86.C
Total $ 1,770¢ % 1,752t

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 62 $ 62.5
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses 427 39.2
Other accrued liabilities 44.¢ 51.¢
Payable to affiliate — 7.8
Short-term capital leases 0.2 0.1
Total current liabilities 150.€ 161.¢
Net liability in respect of VEBA — 5.3
Deferred tax liability 1.2 —
Long-term liabilities 146.¢ 134t
Long-term debt 388.t 380.:
Total liabilities 686.% 681.7

Commitments and contingencies — Note 10
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized htbetember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; nossheane
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 anelniizr 31, 2012 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01, 90,000,000 shathe@dzed at both December 31, 2013 and Decembe2(BD;
21,103,700 shares issued and 18,147,017 sharearalitgy at December 31, 2013; 21,037,841 shareedsand

19,313,235 shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 0.2 0.2
Additional paid in capital 1,023.: 1,017
Retained earnings 233.¢ 151.2
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,956,683 shares at Deme®ih 2013 and 1,724,606 shares at December 32, 20 (152.9) (72.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20.7) (26.0

Total stockholders’ equity 1,084.: 1,070.¢
Total $ 1,770.¢  $ 1,752

The accompanying notes to consolidated financéésatents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts)
Net sales $ 1,297t $ 1,360.. $ 1,301.
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amdrization and other

items 1,038.¢ 1,116.: 1,129.(
Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (0.7) (15.2) 29.¢
Restructuring benefits — — 0.3
Depreciation and amortization 28.1 26.t 25.2

Selling, administrative, research and developmeamd,general (includes
accumulated other comprehensive income reclassifiarelated to VEBA and
Canadian pension plan adjustments of $5.7, $7.34r&lfor the years ended

2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively) - See Note 7 57.¢ 62.2 62.7
Other operating charges (benefits), net — 4.5 (0.2
Total costs and expenses 1,124.. 1,194 1,246.:
Operating income 173.% 165.¢ 55.C
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (35.7) (29.]) (18.0

Other income, net (includes accumulated other cehmrsive income
reclassifications for realized gains on availalblesfale securities of $1.0 for the
year ended 2013) 5.€ 2.8 3

Income before income taxes 143.2 139.¢ 41.:

Income tax provision (includes aggregate incomestgense from reclassification
items of $(1.8), $(2.8) and $(1.8) for the yeardezh2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively) (38.9) (53.¢) (16.2)

Net income $ 104.¢ $ 85.6 $ 25.1

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share $ 55¢ $ 4.4¢ % 1.32
Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per shafe $ 544 % 448 % 1.32
Weighted-average number of common shares outstguidirthousands):

Basic 18,82% 19,11¢ 18,97¢

Diluted* 19,24¢ 19,27¢ 18,97¢

! Diluted weighted-average number of common sharéstanding and diluted earnings per share for 2032012 are based on the treasury

method. Diluted weighted-average number of comntames outstanding and diluted earnings per sha@0ftl is based on the two-class
method (see Note 1 and Note 13).

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions of dollars)
Net income $ 104.¢ % 85.6 §$ 25.1
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the peéri 2.2 87.¢ (110.¢)
Reclassification adjustments relating to VEBAs:
Amortization of net actuarial loss iLE 3.1 0.€
Amortization of prior service cost 4.2 4.2 4.2
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to @efibenefit pension plan ai
VEBASs 7.9 95.1 (105.9)
Available for sale securities
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale se¢iegri 0 0.€ (0.2
Reclassification adjustments:
Less: reclassification of unrealized gain upon sélavailable for sale
securities (2.0 — —
Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to abéel for sale securities — 0.€ (0.3)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 (0.9 0.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 8.1 95.t (105.%)
Income tax (expense) benefit related to items loéotomprehensive income
(loss) (2.9 (36.5) 40.£
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 5.3 59.C (65.9)
Comprehensive income (I0ss) $ 1101 $ 144.¢6  $ (40.2)

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgtents are an integral part of these statements.
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BALANCE, January 1, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net
tax

Release of restriction on Union
VEBA shares, net of tax of $25.0

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to
employees upon vesting of restrict
stock units and performance share

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares
Cash dividends on common stock
($0.96 per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting ol
non-vested shares and dividend
payment on unvested shares
expected to vest

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Dividends on unvested equity
awards that were canceled

BALANCE, December 31, 2011
Net income

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common
Shares
Outstanding

Common

Stock

Additional
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Common
Stock
Owned by
Union
VEBA
Subject to
Transfer
Restriction

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total

19,214,45

83,06¢

3,75(C

17,44

(2,889

(62,63)

$

(In millions of dollars, except for shares)

987.1

(3.9

$

78.C
25.1

(18.9)

0.2

$

(84.6)

31.7

$

(72.9

$

(19.9)

(65.9)

$

888.7
25.1

(65.9)

40.8

3.1)

(18.9)

0.z

19,253,18

84.

$

(52.9)

$

(72.9)

$

(85.0

$

872.¢

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax —

Release of restriction on Union
VEBA shares, net of tax of $41.3

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to

92,94¢

3,93(

employees upon vesting of restricted
stock units and performance shares 11,327

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares

Cash dividends on common stock
(%$1.00 per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of
non-vested shares and dividend
payment on unvested shares
expected to vest

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Dividends on unvested equity
awards that were canceled

BALANCE, December 31, 2012

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net
tax

(2,35¢)

(45,807

(2.2

85.¢

(19.6)

0.€

52.¢

$

$

59.C

$

85.¢
59.(

67.<

2.2)

(19.6)

5.€

0.€

19,313,23

$

1,017.

$

151.2

$

(72.9

$

(26.0

$

1,070.¢

$

104.¢

$

104.¢



Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees

Issuance of common shares to
directors

Issuance of common shares to

employees upon vesting of restricted

stock units and performance shares

Cancellation of employee non-
vested shares

Cancellation of shares to cover

employees’ tax withholdings upon
vesting of non-vested shares

Repurchase of common stock

Distribution from bankruptcy trust

Cash dividends on common stock
($1.20 per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of
non-vested shares and dividend
payment on unvested shares
expected to vest

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Dividends on unvested equity
awards that were canceled

BALANCE, December 31, 2013

76,33 — — — — — —
2,91¢ — 0.2 — — — 0.2
36,50 — — — — — —
(820) — — — — — —
(40,07%) — (2.5 — — — (2.5
(1,232,07) — — — (79.9 — (79.9
(9,007) — — 0.€ (0.6) — —

— — — (23.0 — — (23.0

— — 1.1 — — — 1.1

— — 6.6 — — — 6.€

— — — 0.2 — — 0.2
18,147,010 $ 0z $ 1023. $ 233¢ $ (1527 $ (207 $ 1,084.

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In millions of dollars)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 104t $ 85.t $ 25.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 26.4 24.7 23.C
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 1.7 1.8 2.2
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuancéscos 11.C 9.8 8.€
Deferred income taxes 55.4 52.C 17.€
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested stemd dividend payment on unvested
shares expected to vest (2.3 1.3 (0.2
Non-cash equity compensation 6.8 5.8 5.4
Net non-cash LIFO benefits (24.) 4.9 (7.2
Non-cash unrealized (gains) losses on derivatisguments (3.9 (26.0) 25.¢
Amortization of option premiums (received) paidt ne (0.2 3 (1.2
Non-cash impairment charges — 4.4 —
Losses (gains) on disposition of property, plartt aquipment 0.1 (0.3 0.2
Gain on disposition of available for sale secusitie (0.9) — —
Non-cash defined benefit net periodic benefit ineom (22.0) (11.5) (5.7
Other non-cash changes in assets and liabilities (9.9 1.2 04
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition:
Trade and other receivables (3.9 (27.]) (8.3
Inventories (excluding LIFO adjustments) 4.9 24.¢ (24.5)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1.1 1.4 (2.9)
Accounts payable (1.€) 1.3 10.¢
Accrued liabilities (includes the effect of the VERontribution accrual of $16.0 at
December 31, 2013 and $20.0 at December 31, 2012) (18.29) 10.4 (2.5
Payable to affiliate (7.9) (6.5) (2.7)
Long-term assets and liabilities, net 0.€ (2.3 (2.9
Net cash provided by operating activities 1115 152.¢ 62.¢
Cash flows from investing activitiés
Capital expenditures (70.9) (44.)) (32.5)
Purchase of available for sale securities (227.¢) (85.0) (0.3
Proceeds from disposition of available for saleusées 183.1 — —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and egeig — 0.2 0.7
Cash payment for acquisition of manufacturing fgcdnd related assets (net of $4.9 of
cash received in connection with the acquisitiog0i 1) — — (83.29)
Change in restricted cash 1.7 6.S (2.0)
Net cash used in investing activities (113.9 (121.9 (116.9
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes — 225.( —
Payment of capital lease liability (0.2) (0.2) (0.2)
Repayment of promissory notes — 4.7) (8.3
Cash paid for financing costs — (6.€) (2.3
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested stemd dividend payment on unvested
shares expected to vest 1.1 1.2 0.2
Repurchase of common stock to cover employeesvithkoldings upon vesting of non-
vested shares (2.5) (2.2) (3.2
Repurchase of common stock (78.9) — —

Nach Ainndand naid ta ctarl-hnld:. M2 N 10 6\ Mo\



Cash dividend returned to the Company 0.€ —

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (102.29) 193.1 (32.9
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisvalerihg the period (103.9 223.€ (85.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 273.2 49.¢ 135.€
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 169.5  § 273.4 49.¢

! See Note 15 for the supplemental disclosure oncash-transactior

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operatiori§aiser Aluminum Corporation (together with its sigligries, unless the context otherwise requires
the “Company”) specializes in the production of séaricated specialty aluminum products, suchlamamum sheet and plate and extruded
and drawn products, primarily used in aerospack/sigength, general engineering, automotive, ahdrahdustrial end market applications.
The Company has one operating segment, Fabricatelli€t's. See Note 14 for additional informationareling the Company's reportable
segment and its other business units.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of PresemtatiThe consolidated financial statements include tiw@ants of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, and are prepared inm@zswe with United States generally accepted adoayprinciples (“GAAP”) and the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Gesiom (the “SEC”). Intercompany balances and @atisns are eliminated.

The Company sold its 49% non-controlling ownershtprest in Anglesey Aluminium Limited ("Angleseyit) the fourth quarter of 2013
for a de minimis amount. The Company had previoimlyaired the carrying value of its ownership ietdrin Anglesey to zero , and
accordingly, recorded a de minimis gain on the.®dezause the Company had suspended the use exfuitg method of accounting with
respect to its 49% non-controlling ownership ins¢ie Anglesey, no equity in income from Anglesegsweflected for any of the periods
presented herein.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financialt&mentsThe preparation of financial statements in accardamith GAAP requires the
use of estimates and assumptions that affect thertesl amounts of assets and liabilities, disclesidircontingent assets and liabilities known tc
exist as of the date the financial statements abdighed, and the reported amounts of revenueggpenses during the reporting period.
Uncertainties with respect to such estimates asdmagtions are inherent in the preparation of then@any’s consolidated financial statements
accordingly, it is possible that the actual resotisld differ from these estimates and assumptiwhgh could have a material effect on the
reported amounts of the Company’s consolidatediiz position and results of operations.

Recognition of SaleS§ales are generally recognized on a gross basis alhef the following criteria are met: (i) persise evidence of an
arrangement exists, (ii) title, ownership and o$koss has passed to the customer, (iii) the gddbe customer is fixed or determinable, and
(iv) collection of the resulting receivable is renably assured. A provision for estimated salagrmstfrom, and allowances to, customers is
made in the same period as the related revenueeargnized, based on historical experience ospleeific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of busi@he Company may enter into agreements witloowess in which the Company, in
return for a fee, agrees to reserve certain amanirits existing production capacity for the cuswndefer an existing customer purchase
commitment into future periods and reserve ceranounts of its expected production capacity inehmeriods for the customer, or cancel or
reduce existing commitments under existing congtalhese agreements may have terms or impact gexiageding one year.

Certain of the capacity reservation and commitnaeférral agreements provide for periodic, suchuasterly or annual, billing for the
duration of the contract. For capacity reservatigreements, the Company recognizes revenue ratadhthe period of the capacity
reservation. Accordingly, the Company may recogn&enue prior to billing reservation fees. Unhllieceivables are included within Trade
receivables on the Company's Consolidated BalaheetS (see Note 2 ). For commitment deferral agea&snthe Company recognizes
revenue upon the earlier occurrence of the relsadzlof product or the end of the commitment perimdtonnection with other agreements, the
Company may collect funds from customers in advari¢he periods for which (i) the production cappés reserved, (i) commitments are
deferred, (iii) commitments are reduced or (iv)fpenance is completed, in which event the recognibf revenue is deferred until the fee is
earned. Any unearned fees are included within Ciaherued liabilities or Long-term liabilities, agpaopriate, on the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets (see Note 2).

Stock-Based Compensati@tock-based compensation in the form of servicedbasvards is provided to executive officers, cartai
employees and directors, and is accounted foriratdbue. The Company measures the cost of servamasved in exchange for an award of
equity instruments based on the grant-date faureraf the award and the number of awards expeotatiitnately vest. The cost of an award is
recognized as an expense over the requisite sepeited of the award on a straight-line basis. Tohenpany has elected to amortize
compensation expense for equity awards with gragsting using the straight-line method (see Note 9

The Company also grants performance-based awamd®tutive officers and other key employees. Theswrds are subject to
performance requirements pertaining to the Compasgonomic value added (“EVA”) performance, meaboneer
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specified three -year performance periods. The B/Ameasure of the excess of the Company's adjpstetax operating income for a
particular year over a pre-determined percentadkeeofdjusted net assets of the immediately pragediar-end, as defined in the Company's
annual long-term incentive (“LTI”) programs. Themioer of performance shares, if any, that will uitely vest and result in the issuance of
common shares depends on the average annual EViévadifor the specified three -year performancépleiThe fair value of performance-
based awards is measured based on the most prahabiene of the performance condition, which isnested quarterly using the Company's
forecast and actual results. The Company expehsdsait value, after assuming an estimated forfeitate, over the specified three -year
performance period on a ratable basis (see Nate 9 )

Shipping and Handling CostShipping and handling costs are recorded as a coemp@f Cost of products sold excluding deprecigtio
amortization and other items.

Advertising CostsAdvertising costs, which are included in Sellindmanistrative, research and development, and geraeexpensed as
incurred. Advertising costs for 2013 , 2012 andR2@kre $1.3 , $0.4 , and $0.4 , respectively.

Research and Development Co&ssearch and development costs, which are includ8dlling, research and development, and general,
are expensed as incurred. Research and developosatfor 2013 , 2012 and 2011 were $7.8 , $6ndl $6.1 , respectively.

Major Maintenance ActivitieAll of the major maintenance costs are accountedi$ong the direct expensing method.

Cash and Cash EquivaleniBhe Company considers only those short-term, hitiglyd investments with original maturities of @@ys or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The@&uyis cash equivalents consist primarily of fuidsommercial paper, savings accounts,
demand notes, money market funds and other higiuydl investments, which are classified within LeVeof the fair value hierarchy with the
exception of commercial paper, which is classifiethin Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Restricted CashiThe Company is required to keep certain amounteposit relating to workers’ compensation and o#lggeements. The
Company accounts for such deposits as restrictad (s@e Note 2 ).

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Actedirade receivables primarily consist of amountsedillo customers for products
sold. Accounts receivable are generally due wigfirio 60 days . For the majority of its receivaptee Company establishes an allowance for
doubtful accounts based upon collection experiemeckother factors. On certain other receivablesavtiee Company is aware of a specific
customer’s inability or reluctance to pay, an abmwe for doubtful accounts is established agamstuats due, to reduce the net receivable
balance to the amount the Company reasonably exfeecbllect. However, if circumstances change Qbmpany’s estimate of the
recoverability of accounts receivable could beat#ht. Circumstances that could affect the Comgaesgtimates include, but are not limited to
customer credit issues and general economic conditiAccounts are written off once deemed to bellextible. Any subsequent cash
collections relating to accounts that have beewipusly written off are typically recorded as awetion to total bad debt expense in the perioc
of payment.

Inventorieslnventories are stated at the lower of cost or miavklue. Finished products, work-in-process amdmeaterial inventories are
stated on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis. & ompany recorded net non-cash LIFO inventory fitsraf approximately $24.1 , $4.9 and
$7.1 during 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectivelyesEtamounts are primarily a result of changes ialmeces and changes in inventory
volumes. The excesses of current cost over thedstdEO value of inventory at December 31, 2013 Bedember 31, 2012 were $0.4 and
$24.5 , respectively. Inventory volume decreaseathduhe year ended December 31, 2012. The effent the liquidation of the 2011 LIFO
layer was $22.3 . Other inventories, principallemging supplies and repair and maintenance padstated at average cost. Inventory costs
consist of material, labor and manufacturing ovadhéncluding depreciation. Abnormal costs, suchdisfacility expenses, freight, handling
costs and spoilage, are accounted for as curreioidpeharges. All of the Company's inventories at&mber 31, 2013 and December 31, 201
were included in the Fabricated Products segmestNte 2 for the components of inventories).

Property, Plant, and Equipment - N€troperty, plant and equipment is recorded at aest Note 2 ). Construction in progress is included
within Property, plant, and equipment - net in @@nsolidated Balance Sheets. Interest relatedetadhstruction of qualifying assets is
capitalized as part of the construction costs. ddgregate amount of interest capitalized is limttethe interest expense incurred in the perioc
The amount of interest expense capitalized as rarigin in progress was $3.4 , $1.7 and $1.3 du2bit , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-linehod at rates based on the estimated useful liv#eosarious classes of assets. Capital
lease assets and leasehold improvements are depreon a straight-line basis over the shortehefestimated useful lives of the assets or the
lease term. The principal estimated useful livesee follows:
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Range (in years)

Land improvements 3 - 25
Buildings and leasehold improvements 15 - 45
Machinery and equipment 1 - 24
Capital lease assets 3 - 5

Depreciation expense is not included in Cost ofipots sold, excluding depreciation and amortizasiod other items , but is included in
Depreciation and amortization on the Statemen@aufsolidated Income. For 2013 , 2012 and 2011 Ctrapany recorded depreciation
expense of $25.8 , $24.2 and $22.7 , respectivelgting to the Company's operating facilitiests\frabricated Products segment. An
immaterial amount of depreciation expense wasr@sorded in the Company's Corporate and Otherlfpedods presented herein.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent whenever events or changes in circumstaincésate that the carrying amount
of the asset or group of assets may not be redoleerBhe Company regularly assesses whether eaadtsircumstances with the potential to
trigger impairment have occurred and relies onrabwer of factors, including operating results, basmplans, economic projections, and
anticipated future cash flow, to make such assestsméhe Company uses an estimate of the futurescmahted cash flows of the related asse
or asset group over the estimated remaining lifsuch asset(s) in measuring whether the assef(s¢eoverable. Measurement of the amount
of impairment, if any, is based on the differeneéneen the carrying value of the asset(s) anddtimated fair value of such asset(s). Fair
value is determined through a series of standdrdhtian techniques.

Property, plant and equipment held for future depelent are presented as idled assets. Such assetgtuated for impairment on a held-
and-used basis. Depreciation expense is not adjudien assets are temporarily idled.

During 2012, the Company determined not to deplpgréion of the idled assets for future use andmed an impairment charge of $404
reflect the scrap value of such assets. There me@mnpairment charges in 2013 and 2011 . Assetimmast charges are included in Other
operating charges (benefits), net in the Staten@rBonsolidated Income and are included in theaiEated Products segment.

Available for Sale Securitieshe Company accounts for investments in certairkatable debt securities as available for sale #ezsur
Such securities are recorded at fair value (se& VRdues of Financial Assets and LiabilitieAvailable for Sale Securitiesh Note 12 ), with
net unrealized gains and losses, net of incomestag#lected in other comprehensive earnings asrgponent of Stockholders' equity. Debt
investment securities with an original maturity96f days or less is classified as Cash and caskiadgnis (see Note 2 ). Debt investment
securities with an original maturity of greaterrt@0 days is presented as Short-term investmentseo@onsolidated Balance Sheets. In
addition to debt investment securities, the Compasy holds assets in various investment funds gehhy a third-party trust in connection
with the Company's deferred compensation progra &ote 7 ).

Deferred Financing Cost€osts incurred in connection with debt financing deferred and amortized over the estimated terteofelate
borrowing. Such amortization is included in Intérespense and may be capitalized as part of cari&truin progress (see Note 2 and Note 3)

Goodwill and Intangible Asset&oodwill is tested for impairment during the fougharter on an annual basis, as well as on arinmter
basis, as warranted, at the time of relevant evamdschanges in circumstances. Intangible ass#tsdefinite lives are initially recognized at
fair value and subsequently amortized over thenedéd useful lives to reflect the pattern in which economic benefits of the intangible as
are consumed. In the event the pattern cannotliablsedetermined, the Company uses a straliglet-amortization method. Whenever event
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargmgunt of the intangible assets may not be readnerthe intangible assets are reviewec
impairment. The Company concluded there was noinmgaant of the carrying value of goodwill at DecemB&, 2013 or December 31, 2012
(Note 5).

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (“CAROs'’he Company has CAROs at several of its fabricpteducts facilities. The vast
majority of such CAROs consist of incremental castg would be associated with the removal andadiapof asbestos (all of which is belie
to be fully contained and encapsulated within wdliors, roofs, ceilings or piping) at certaintbé Company’s older facilities if such facilities
were to undergo major renovation or be demolisfibé. Company, in accordance with Accounting Stargl@aidification ("ASC") Topic 410,
Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligati, estimates incremental costs for special handtemgoval and disposal costs of materials that
may or will give rise to CAROs and then discoulhis éxpected costs back to the current year usimgdit-adjusted, risk-free rate. The
Company recognizes liabilities and costs for CAR®ean if it is unclear when or if CAROs will be tggred. When it is unclear when or if
CAROs

60




Table of Contents
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

will be triggered, the Company uses probabilitygiing for possible timing scenarios to determime probability-weighted amounts that
should be recognized in the Company’s consolidéteshcial statements (see Note 12 ).

Self Insurance of Employee Health and Workers' Gorsgtion Liabilities The Company is primarily self-insured for grougatth
insurance and workers' compensation benefits pedvid employees. Self insurance liabilities ar@vesed for incurred-but-not-paid claims
based on judgment, using the Company's historlaahs data and information and analysis provide@dtyarial and claims advisors, the
Company's insurance carriers and other professioiak Company accounts for accrued liability retato workers' compensation claims o
discounted basis. The discount rates used in eitigne liabilities were 1.75% and 0.75% and thdiscounted workers' compensation
liabilities were $29.1 and $27.3 at December 31,3284nd December 31, 2012 , respectively. The addrakilities for health insurance and
workers' compensation is included in Other acctiggilities or Long-term liabilities, as appropratsee Note 2 ).

Environmental Contingencie¥/ith respect to environmental loss contingencies,Gompany records a loss contingency whenever a
contingency is probable and reasonably estimalderuals for estimated losses from environmentakgiation obligations are generally
recognized at no later than the completion of #meadial feasibility study. Such accruals are adjlists information develops or circumstance:
change. Costs of future expenditures for envirortaleemediation obligations are not discountech&irtpresent value. Accruals for expected
environmental costs are included in Other accrigddlities or Long-term liabilities, as approprigee Note 2 ). Environmental expense
relating to continuing operations is included ins€of products sold, excluding depreciation and izegion and other items in the Statements
of Consolidated Income. Environmental expenseingdb non-operating locations is included in $wgjliadministrative, research and
development, and general in the Statements of didased Income.

Derivative Financial Instrument$ledging transactions using derivative financiatimsients are primarily designed to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in prices for cepraiducts sold and consumed by the Company arallgsser extent, to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in foreign currerclyamge rates. From time to time, the Companyaiders into hedging arrangements in
connection with financing transactions to mitigéancial risks.

The Company does not utilize derivative finanamstiuments for trading or other speculative purpo¥ee Company's derivative activities
are initiated within guidelines established by ngeraent and approved by the Company's Board of irecHedging transactions are
executed centrally on behalf of all of the Comparlsiness units to minimize transaction costs,itmooonsolidated net exposures and allow
for increased responsiveness to changes in ma&eeirs.

The Company recognizes all derivative instrumeatassets or liabilities in its Consolidated BalaSbeets and measures these instrumen
at fair value by “marking-to-market” all of its hgidg positions at each period's end (see Note B2dause the Company does not meet the
documentation requirements for hedge (deferralpacting, unrealized and realized gains and lossescéated with hedges of operational ri
are reflected as a reduction or increase, resgdygtiln Cost of products sold ( Unrealized (gailesses on derivative instruments ), and
unrealized and realized gains and losses relatimgdges of financing transactions are reflecteal @amponent of Other income (expense)
Note 16). See Note 11 for additional information aboutize@ and unrealized gains and losses relatinggdompany's derivative financial
instruments.

Fair Value Measurementhe Company applies the provisions of Accountiren8ards Update (“ASU”) Topic 82Bair Value
Measurements and Disclosul, in measuring the fair value of its derivative tants and plan assets invested by certain of drepgany’s
employee benefit plans (see Note 12).

Fair value is defined as the price that would leeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitghin an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The faireviaierarchy consists of three broad levels andleseribed below:

» Level 1— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets thatecessible at the measurement date for identinedstricted assets or
liabilities.

» Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices included withinélelvthat are observable for the asset or liabiétther directly or
indirectly, including: quoted prices for similarsess or liabilities in active markets and quoteides for identical or similar assets or

liabilities in markets that are not active; inpatler than quoted prices that are observable oasiset or liability (e.g., interest rates);
and inputs that are derived principally from orrotiorated by observable market data by correlairasther means.

* Level 3— Inputs that are both significant to the fair valneasurement and unobserva

Income TaxedDeferred income taxes reflect the future tax eftédemporary differences between the carrying amofiassets and
liabilities for financial and income tax reportiagd are measured by applying statutory tax rate$féct for the year during which the
differences are expected to reverse. In accordaitheASC Topic 740Jncome Taxesthe Company uses
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a “more likely than not” threshold for recognitiohtax attributes that are subject to uncertairdied measures any reserves in respect of sucl
expected benefits based on their probability. Defetax assets are reduced by a valuation allowtanitee extent it is more likely than not that
the deferred tax assets will not be realized (sete R ).

Earnings per ShareBasic earnings per share is computed by dividistriduted and undistributed earnings allocablestmmon shares by
the weighted-average number of common shares adisgduring the applicable period. The basic wiidkaverage number of common
shares outstanding during the period excludes tedehare-based payment awards. The shares ttmbweed by a voluntary employee’s
beneficiary association (“VEBA”) for the benefit ofrtain union retirees, their surviving spouses a@igible dependents (the “Union VEBA”)
and subject to transfer restrictions (see Notarg)included in the computation of basic weightegrage number of common shares
outstanding in 2012 and 2011 because such sharesweyocably issued and had full dividend andngtights. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated as the more dilutive result of compugagnings per share under: (i) the treasury stosthad or (ii) the two-class method. Diluted
earnings per share for 2013 and 2012 were calcliatder the treasury stock method. Diluted earngegsshare for 2011 was calculated unde
the two-class method (see Note 13 ).

Concentration of Credit Rislkinancial arrangements which potentially subjeet@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consiist
metal, natural gas, electricity and foreign curgederivative contracts, certain cash-settled gatloms that the Company purchased in
March 2010 (the “Call Options”) (see Note 3 ), amchngements related to the Company's cash egunigaed short-term investments. If the
market value of the Company's net commodity andeaely derivative positions with certain counterjggrexceeds the applicable threshold, if
any, the counterparty is required to post margitragsferring cash collateral in excess of theghodd to the Company. Conversely, if the
market value of these net derivative positionsfa#low a specified threshold, the Company is reguio post margin by transferring cash
collateral below the threshold to certain countdips. At both December 31, 2013 and December @12 2 the Company had no margin
deposits with or from its counterparties.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties on derivativetracts used in hedging activities as
well as failure of counterparties to return cashateral previously transferred to the countergatiThe counterparties to the Company's
derivative contracts are major financial institnspand the Company does not expect nonperforntanaay of its counterparties.

The Company places its cash in commercial papeingsaaccounts, demand notes and money market f@utt money market funds are
with high credit quality financial institutions wdh invest primarily in commercial paper and timgasts of prime quality, short-term
repurchase agreements, and U.S. government agetey. n

LeasesFor leases that contain predetermined fixed esoakbf the minimum rent, the Company recognizes #hated rent expense on a
straight-line basis from the date it takes possessi the property to the end of the initial leéeen. The Company records any difference
between the straight-line rent amounts and the atrayable under the lease as part of deferredmédther accrued liabilities or Long-term
liabilities, as appropriate. Deferred rent for@driods presented was not material.

Foreign CurrencyCertain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries igeldcal currency as its functional currency; gseds and liabilities
are translated at exchange rates in effect atdlabe sheet date; and its statement of operdtidranslated at weighted-average monthly rate
of exchange prevailing during the year. Resultiagdlation adjustments are recorded directly tepmsate component of stockholders’ equity
in accordance with ASC Topic 83Boreign Currency MattersAt both December 31, 2013 and December 31, 282 amount of translation
adjustment relating to the foreign subsidiary udotgl currency as its functional currency was irtemial. Where the U.S. dollar is the
functional currency of a foreign facility or subisid/, re-measurement adjustments are recordedhar@icome (expense).

New Accounting PronouncementaSU No. 2013-11lncome Taxes (Topic 74@resentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit Whileta
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lossafax Credit Carryforward Exist§"ASU 2013-11"), was issued in July 2013. ASU 2013
11 requires an entity to present in the finandi@aesnents an unrecognized tax benefit, or a podfan unrecognized tax benefit, as a reduc
to a deferred tax asset resulting from a net opey&bss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a ¢taadit carryforward. However, when the above
situation is not available at the reporting dat¢hertax law of the applicable jurisdiction does remuire the entity to use the deferred tax asse
for such purpose, the unrecognized tax benefd ksetpresented in the financial statements ad#ityaand not be combined with deferred tax
assets. An entity is required to adopt ASU 2013etannual and interim periods beginning after Delser 15, 2014. The Company does not
expect the adoption of ASU 2013-11 to have a nadtemipact on its financial statements.
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2. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

Cash and Cash Equivalents.
Cash and money market funds
Commercial paper

Total

Trade Receivables.

Billed trade receivables

Unbilled trade receivables — Note 1
Trade receivables, gross

Allowance for doubtful receivables

Trade receivables, net

Inventories

Finished products

Work-in-process

Raw materials

Operating supplies and repairs and maintenance part

Total

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Ass

Current derivative assets — Notes 11 and 12

Current deferred tax assets

Current portion of option premiums paid — Notesahtl 12
Short-term restricted cash

Prepaid taxes

Prepaid expenses

Total

Property, Plant, and Equipme- Net.

Land and improvements

Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

Construction in progress

Active property, plant, and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation

Active property, plant, and equipment, net
Idled equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, net
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December 31, 2013

December 31, 2012

$ 577 $ 107.¢
111.€ 165.F

$ 169.5 $ 273.4
$ 1202 $ 124.4
0.4 0.2

120.€ 124.¢

(0.8) (0.)

$ 119 $ 123
$ 725 $ 59.¢
75.¢ 55.

472 53.¢

18.€ 16.7

$ 2144 $ 186.(
$ 2C $ 3.
36.7 59.

| 0.1

0.3 2

2.1

5.2 4.1

447 $ 70.1

226 $ 22.€

53.C 50.¢

425.¢ 400.

66.C 20.€

567. 4947

(137.9 (111.9)

429. 383.

— 1.C

429 $ 384.:
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Other Assets.

Derivative assets — Notes 11 and 12 $ 79.¢ $ b5.t
Restricted cash 9.3 10.C
Long-term income tax receivable — 2.¢
Deferred financing costs 8.9 11.7
Deferred compensation plan assets 6.5 5.€
Other 0.3 .3
Total $ 104.¢ $ 86.C

Other Accrued Liabilities.

Current derivative liabilities — Notes 11 and 12 $ 1.8 % 3.1
Current portion of option premiums received — Ndtésand 12 — 0.1
Uncleared cash disbursement 9.6 4.7
Accrued income taxes and taxes payable 4.3 3.1
Accrued annual VEBA contribution 16.C 20.C
Short-term environmental accrual — Note 10 2.8 3.C
Accrued interest 3.7 3.7
Short-term deferred revenue — Note 1 — 6.7
Other 6.6 7.4
Total $ 44 % 51.¢

Long-term Liabilities.

Derivative liabilities — Notes 11 and 12 $ 84.5 % 63.5
Income tax liabilities 5.0 15.1
Workers’ compensation accruals 23.c 24.C
Long-term environmental accrual — Note 10 20.C 18.7
Long-term asset retirement obligations 4.0 3.8
Deferred compensation liability 7.C 5.8
Long-term capital leases 0.1 0.2
Other long-term liabilities 2.7 3.4
Total $ 146..  $ 134t

Long-term Debt. — Note 3

Senior notes $ 225.( $ 225.(
Cash convertible senior notes 163.t 155.:
Total $ 388.F $ 380.c

3. Long-Term Debt and Credit Facility
Senior Notes

In May 2012, the Company issued $225.0 principadamb of 8.250% Senior Notes due June 1, 2020 @emidr Notes”) at 100% of the
principal amount. Interest expense, including ainatibn of deferred financing costs, relating te Senior
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Notes were$19.4 and $11.8 for 2013 and 2012 , respectivéig. dffective interest rate of the Senior Notepraximately 8.6% per annum,
taking into account the amortization of deferrewficing costs.

The Senior Notes are unsecured obligations anduaeanteed by existing and future direct and intlisebsidiaries of the Company that
borrowers or guarantors under the Company's rewpleredit facility. The indenture governing the BeiNotes places limitations on the abi
of the Company and certain of its subsidiariegtopng other things, incur liens, consolidate, mergegell all or substantially all of the
Company's and certain of its subsidiaries' assetgr or guarantee additional indebtedness, pragagem or repurchase certain indebtednes:s
make loans and investments, enter into transactiithsaffiliates, pay dividends and repurchase sbar

The Senior Notes are redeemable at the optioneo€tmpany in whole or part at any time on or aftere 1, 2016 at an initial redemption
price of 104.125% of the principal amount plus angrued and unpaid interest, declining to a rediempirice of 100% of the principal
amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, @fter June 1, 2018. At any time prior to June@L%, the Company may redeem up to 35%
of the original principal amount of the Senior Noteith the proceeds of certain equity offeringa aédemption price of 108.250% of the
principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid ésterAt any time prior to June 1, 2016, the Compaay also redeem some or all of the
Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 100%eprincipal amount, together with any accrued ampaid interest, plus a “make-whole
premium.”

Holders of the Senior Notes have the right to regtie Company to repurchase the Senior Noteprata equal to 101% of the principal
amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest foligwi change of control. A change of control inchi@certain ownership changes,
(ii) certain recapitalizations, mergers and disposs, (iii) certain changes in the compositiorttef Board of Directors of the Company, and
(iv) shareholders' approval of any plan or propésathe liquidation or dissolution of the Compafiyie Company may also be required to ¢
to repurchase the Senior Notes at 100% of the ipghamount, plus any accrued and unpaid intevatit,the proceeds of certain asset sales.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities l} @ther Financial Assets and Liabilitiesn Note 12 for information relating to the
estimated fair value of the Senior Notes.

Cash Convertible Senior Notes

Convertible NotesIn March 2010, the Company issued $175.0 princgpeunt of 4.5% Cash Convertible Senior NotesAjpiel 1, 2015
(the "Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes ansecured obligations of the Company. The Coiikeiotes are not convertible into the
Company's common stock or any other securitiesinstead will be settled in cash. The Company actofor the cash conversion feature of
the Convertible Notes as a separate derivativeuim&nt (the “Bifurcated Conversion Feature/ijh the fair value on the issuance date equz
the original issue discount for purposes of acdagrfor the debt component of the Convertible Nofd® effective interest rate for the term of
the Convertible Notes is approximately 11%king into account the amortization of the araiissuance discount and deferred financing c

The following tables provide additional informaticggarding the Convertible Notes:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Principal amount $ 175.C $ 175.(
Less: unamortized issuance discount (11.5) (19.9)
Carrying amount, net of discount $ 1635 § 155.2

! The remaining unamortized issuance discount atm@bee 31, 2013 will be amortized over the next ka8rg assuming no early conversion.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Contractual coupon interest $ 7¢ % 7¢ % 8.4
Amortization of discount 8.2 7.2 6.€
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1.2 1.2 1.2
Total interest expenge $ 172 $ 164 $ 16.2
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1 A portion of the interest relating to the Convediblotes is capitalized as Construction in prog

The Convertible Notes’ conversion rate is subje@djustment based on the occurrence of certaimtgvi@cluding, but not limited to, the
payment of quarterly cash dividends on the Comgazgnmon stock in excess of $0.24 per share. Azoémber 31, 2013 , the conversion
rate was 20.7903 shares per $1,000 principal anafihe Convertible Notes and the equivalent cosieerprice was approximately $48.a6ér
share, reflecting cumulative adjustments for quirividends paid in excess of $0.24 per share.

Holders may convert their Convertible Notes at amg on or after January 1, 2015. Additionally,ders may convert the Convertible
Notes before January 1, 2015 in certain limitedwinstances determined by (i) the trading pricdnef@onvertible Notes, (ii) the occurrence
specified corporate events, or (iii) the market@mf the Company's common stock. Because the Quyispelosing stock price exceedEs0%
of the conversion price for 20 trading days dumngeriod of 30 consecutive trading days ending eoebnber 31, 2013, the last trading date c
the fourth quarter of 2013, holders may convertGbavertible Notes during the first quarter of 20The Company believes that the market
value of the Convertible Notes will continue to e&d the amount of cash payable upon conversioringakrly conversion unlikely. As of
December 31, 2013, no Convertible Notes had beewerted.

Holders of the Convertible Notes can require thenGany to repurchase the Convertible Notes at & gdmal to 100% of the principal amount
plus any accrued and unpaid interest followingradimental change. Fundamental changes includeyéuiot limited to, (i) certain ownership
changes, (ii) certain recapitalizations, merges digpositions, (iii) shareholders’ approval of giign or proposal for the liquidation or
dissolution of the Company, and (iv) failure of iempany’s common stock to be listed on certainkséxchanges.

Convertible Note Hedge Transactions March 2010, the Company purchased ceettled Call Options that have an exercise pricekip
the conversion price of the Convertible Notes améxpiration date that is the same as the mataripn the earlier conversion date of the
Convertible Notes. If the Company exercises thé Gptions, the aggregate amount of cash it wileree from the counterparties to the Call
Options will cover the aggregate amount of cashttimCompany would be required to pay to the hsldéthe converted Convertible Notes,
less the principal amount thereof. Contemporanegtlsthe purchase of the Call Options, the Compalsyp sold net-shargettled warrants (tt
“Warrants”) with an exercise date of July 1, 20&k&ting to approximately 3.6 million shares of @@mpany’s common stock. The Call
Options and the Warrants have anti-dilution prarisisimilar to the convertible Notes. At DecemberZ)13 , the exercise prices were $48.1(
per share and $61.08 per share for the Call Optadshe Warrants, respectively, reflecting cunivéeadjustments for quarterly dividends
paid in excess of $0.24 per share.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities f @ther Financial Assets and Liabiliti€sn Note 12 for information
relating to the estimated fair value of the BifuezhConversion Feature and the Call Options.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company'’s credit agreement with JPMorgan CBasik, N.A., as administrative agent, and the ofimancial institutions party thereto
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”) provides the Comupy with a $300.0 funding commitment through Sejiten80, 2016. The Revolving Credit
Facility is secured by a first priority lien on stantially all of the accounts receivable, inventand certain other related assets and procee
the Company and certain of its domestic operatifgisliaries as well as certain machinery and eqeignnder the Revolving Credit Facili
the Company is able to borrow from time to timeaggregate commitment amount equal to the lessg8@J.0 and a borrowing base
comprised of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receiealfli) the lesser of (a) 65% of eligible invent@md (b) 85% of the net orderly liquidation
value of eligible inventory as determined in thestn@cent inventory appraisal ordered by the adstrative agent and (iii) 85% of certain
eligible machinery and equipment, reduced by cerserves, all as specified in the Revolving Gredcility. Up to a maximum of $60.0 of
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility gnhe utilized for letters of credit.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility b&aerest at a rate equal to either a base priteeora IBOR, at the Company's option,
plus, in each case, a specified variable percerdatgmined by reference to the then-remainingdvarrg availability under the Revolving
Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility masubject to certain conditions and the agreemelgrafers thereunder, be increased up to
$350.0 .

The Company had $260.1 of borrowing availabilitylenthe Revolving Credit Facility at December 3112, based on the borrowing base
determination then in effect. At December 31, 20ft®re were no borrowings under the Revolving Efeakility and $7.0 was being used to
support outstanding letters of credit, leaving $258 net borrowing availability. The interest rajgplicable to any overnight borrowings undel
the Revolving Credit Facility would have been 4.@#®ecember 31, 2013 .
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Amounts owed under the Revolving Credit Facilityynlbe accelerated upon the occurrence of varioustew# default including, without
limitation, the failure to make principal or intstgpayments when due and breaches of covenantssegations and warranties set forth
therein. The Revolving Credit Facility places liatibns on the ability of the Company and certaiit$ubsidiaries to, among other things,
grant liens, engage in mergers, sell assets, thelir, make investments, undertake transactionsaffittates, pay dividends and repurchase
shares. In addition, the Company is required tantaai a fixed charge coverage ratio on a consatibasis at or above 1.1:1.0 if borrowing
availability under the Revolving Credit Facilityless than $30.0 .

4. Acquisitions

Alexco.Effective January 1, 2011, the Company completedattyjuisition of substantially all of the asset#leixco, LLC, a manufacturer
of hard alloy extrusions for the aerospace industaged in Chandler, Arizona.

The Company paid net cash consideration of $8®&ith,existing cash on hand, and assumed certaiilitias totaling approximately $1.0 .
Total acquisition related costs were $0.5 , of Wi$0.1 was expensed in 2011. Such expenses avel@tclithin Selling, administrative,
research and development, and general expenses.

The following table summarizes recognized amouhidemtifiable assets acquired and liabilities @ssd at the effective date of the
acquisition:

Allocation of purchase price:

Cash $ 4.¢
Accounts receivable, net 3.€
Inventory 6.€
Property, plant and equipment 4.t
Definite-lived intangible assets:

Customer relationships 347
Backlog .3
Trademark and trade name 0.4
Goodwill 34.1
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (1.0
Cash consideration paid $ 88.1

Goodwill arising from this transaction reflects t@mmmercial opportunity for the Company to sellospace extruded products
manufactured by the acquired operation as a congietn the Company's other products and is expéotbd deductible for tax purposes ovel
a period of 15 years.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortizan for the Company summarizes the results of ajgars for the periods indicated a
the Alexco acquisition had been completed as dfidanl, 2010. This pro forma financial informaticonsiders principally (i) the Company's
audited financial results, (ii) the unaudited histal financial results of Alexco, as supplied be {Company, and (iii) select pro forma
adjustments to the historical financial result@\te#fxco, which did not have a material impact on phe forma Net income, as presented below.
The combined results presented below for the yede@ December 31, 2011 are the actual resultsmisgsan the Statements of Consolidated
Income, as the operating results for the Chandiezpna (Extrusion) facility were included in the@pany's consolidated results commencing
January 1, 2011. The following pro forma data dugspurport to be indicative of the results of fietwperations or of the results that would
have actually occurred had the acquisition takenght the beginning of 2010:
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Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010
Net sales (combined) $ 1,301 $ 1,110.°
Net income (combined) $ 251 $ 16.¢
Basic earnings per share (combined) $ 132§ 0.817
Diluted earnings per share (combined) $ 132 % 0.87

The following information presents select finanaata relating to the Chandler, Arizona (Extrusifagjlity, as included within the
Company's consolidated operating results for 2@®L2 and 2011 .

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 39t $ 445 3 42.¢€
Net income before income taxes $ 6.2 $ 9.C $ 10.5

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill. The Company had goodwill of $37.2 at both Decen®ier2013 and December 31, 2012 . Such goodwidlated to the
Company's acquisitions of the Chandler, Arizonati(iision) facility and the Florence, Alabama fagiliind is included in the Fabricated
Products segment.

The Company’s accounting policy is to perform anwai goodwill impairment test during the fourth cea of each year or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate ttadwgitl or the carrying value of intangible assetaynmot be recoverable. As of December 31,
2013, the Company performed a quantitative impairitest and determined that no impairment ofadtsdgvill and intangible assets was
required.

Intangible Assetddentifiable intangible assets at December 31, 20iBDecember 31, 2012 are comprised of the fofigwi

December 31, 2013 :

Accumulated Net book
Original cost amortization value
Customer relationships $ 38t $ 4.9 $ 33.7
Backlog 0.8 (0.9 —
Trademark and trade name 0.4 (0.4 —
Total $ 397 $ 6.00 $ 33.7
December 31, 2012 :
Accumulated Net book
Original cost amortization value
Customer relationships $ 38t % B2 % 35.2
Backlog 0.8 (0.9 —
Trademark and trade name 0.4 (0.3 0.1
Total $ 39.7 $ 4.9 $ 35.4

Amortization expense relating to definite-livedangible assets is recorded in the Fabricated Ptedagment. Such expense was $1.7 ,
$1.8 and $2.2 for 2013 , 2012 and 2011, respdygtiVhe expected amortization of intangible asget®ach of the next five calendar years is
$1.6 and $25.7 for years thereatfter.
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6. Income Tax Matters

Tax provision Income before income taxes by geographic araa fellows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Domestic $ 138.¢ $ 1345 $ 37.¢
Foreign 4.z 5.1 3.4
Income before income taxes $ 1432 $ 139.¢ $ 41.:

Income taxes are classified as either domestioreidgn, based on whether payment is made or dtleetdnited States or a foreign country.
Certain income classified as foreign is also suliipdomestic income taxes.

The provision for income taxes consists of:

Federal Foreign State Total
2013
Current $ 11 % 162 $ (0.2 % 17.1
Deferred (49.7) (0.5 (6.7) (56.9)
Benefit (expense) applied to increase (decreasditiddal
capital/ Other comprehensive income 1.2 (0.2 0.2 1.4
Total (expense) benefit $ (479 $ 156 $ 679 % (389
2012
Current $ — 3 (29 $ 02 % (2.3
Deferred (113.0 (0.2) (15.9) (128.5)
Benefit applied to increase Additional capital/ &th
comprehensive income 67.4 0.2 9.2 76.€
Total expense $ (45.¢ $ 29 % 59 % (53.¢)
2011
Current $ 14 % 03 % 01 ¢ 1.8
Deferred (2.9 (0.5 0.7 (2.2
Expense applied to decrease Additional capitale®©th
comprehensive income (13.5) (0.9 (2.0) (15.9
Total expense $ (1449 $ (06 $ (12 $ (16.2)

A reconciliation between the provision for incoragds and the amount computed by applying the fed&xmtory income tax rate to
income before income taxes is as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Amount of federal income tax provision based onstagutory rate $ (50.1) $ (48.9 $ (14.5
Decrease in federal valuation allowances 0.1 0.1 —
Non-deductible compensation expense (0.3 (0.9 (1.7
Non-deductible expense (0.9 (0.3 (0.9
State income taxes, net of federal bengfit (4.9 (3.9 (0.8
Foreign income tax (expense) benefit — (0.5 0.€
Expiration of statute of limitations 4.€ — —
Settlement with taxing authorities 4.4 — —
Advance pricing agreement 2.¢ — —
Competent Authority settlement 5.8 — —
Income tax provision $ (389 $ (3. $ (16.2)

! State income taxes of $4.4 in 2013 includes a Biti2ase in the valuation allowance relating tdaierunused state net operating losses
expected to expire. State income taxes of $0.®irl2ncludes a $1.2 decrease in the valuation alhme relating to certain state net
operating losses expected to be utilized before &xpiration.

The table above reflects a full statutory U.S.geovision despite the fact that the Company is g@alying U.S. federal alternative minimum
tax (“AMT") and some state income taxes. S&eaX Attributes' below.

Deferred Income TaxeBeferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying amoohassets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposesdaamounts used for income tax purposes. The conmp®oéthe Company’s net deferred
income tax assets are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Deferred income tax assets:

Loss and credit carryforwards $ 321.¢ $ 342.2

VEBASs (See Note 7) 6.1 7.€

Other assets 34.4 35.2

Inventories and other 2.5 1.7

Valuation allowances (19.9 (18.7)
Total deferred income tax assets 344.¢ 368.1
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property, plant, and equipment (73.0 (69.7)

VEBAs (See Note 7) (152.9) (136.9

Inventories (14.9) — —
Total deferred income tax liabilities (240.9 (206.€)
Net deferred income tax asséts $ 104€  $ 1615

! Of the total net deferred income tax assets of $.0836.7 was included in Prepaid expenses aret othrent assets, $69.1 was presente
as Deferred tax assets, net and $1.2 was presasifedferred tax liability on the Consolidated BaaSheet as of December 31, 2013. O
the total net deferred income tax assets of $16859.5 was included in Prepaid expenses and othregnt assets and $102.0 was
presented as Deferred tax assets, net on the Gadatsal Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2012 .

Tax AttributesAt December 31, 2013 , the Company had $736.9 bdperating loss (“NOL"carryforwards available to reduce future ¢
payments for income taxes in the United Statesh®%$736.9 of NOL carryforwards at December 31,2041.7 represents excess tax benefit
related to the vesting of employee restricted stadlich will result in an increase in equity
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if and when such excess tax benefits are ultimagsiized. The NOL carryforwards expire periodigalirough 2030. The Company also had
$29.1 of AMT credit carryforwards with an indefimilife, available to offset regular federal incotar requirements.

To preserve the NOL carryforwards available to@oenpany, the Company’s certificate of incorporafimeiudes certain restrictions on the
transfer of the Company’s common stock.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sseanagement considers whether it is “more likle&n not” that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The altenrealization of deferred tax assets is depengwort the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary diffees become deductible. Management considers &akatiime in carryback years, the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, péaning strategies and projected future taxaiderme in making this assessment. Due to
uncertainties surrounding the realization of sorntn® Company’s deferred tax assets, primarilyudioig state NOL carryforwards sustained
during the prior years and expiring tax benefite, Company has a valuation allowance against fesmel tax assets. When recognized, the ta
benefits relating to any reversal of this valuatiowance will be recorded as a reduction of inedax expense. The increase (decrease) in tl
valuation allowance was $1.2 , $(0.1) and $(1.30t43 , 2012 and 2011, respectively. The incréafiee valuation allowance in 2013 was
primarily due to unutilized state NOL carryforwattisit are expected to expire. The decrease inghmtion allowance for 2012 and 2011 was
primarily due to the projected utilization of st&d®L carryforwards.

Other. The Company and its subsidiaries file incomerérns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and vasatates and foreign jurisdictions.
The Canada Revenue Agency audited the Companyigtarns for fiscal years 1998 through 2004 andedsassessment notices for which
Notices of Objection were filed. During the firstarter of 2013, these audits were settled resuitirrgcash tax benefit to the Company$7.6,
of which, $6.1 was received in 2013. In additionridg the third quarter of 2013, the Company sigaeddvance pricing agreement with the
Canada Revenue Agency, which resulted in an additicash tax benefit of $2.9 , which is expectedgaefunded within the next 12 months.

The Company’s tax returns for certain past yearsstll subject to examination by taxing authostiand the use of NOL carryforwards in
future periods could trigger a review of attribusasl other tax matters in years that are not otiseraubject to examination.

The Company has gross unrecognized benefits rgladinncertain tax positions. A reconciliation daoges in the gross unrecognized tax
benefits is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning dbder $ 157 $ 137 $ 15.C
Gross increases for tax positions of prior years — 1.3 0.1
Gross decreases for tax positions of prior years (7.6 (0.2 —
Gross increases for tax positions of current years — 0.4 0.4
Settlements — — (0.5
Gross decrease for tax positions relating to lafsestatute of limitation (3.9 — (0.9
Foreign currency translation (2.0) 0.4 (0.4
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of period $ 38 § 157 § 13.7

If and when the $3.8 and $15.7 of gross unrecodrtae benefits at December 31, 2013 and Decemhe2®P , respectively, are
recognized, $2.7 and $14.6 will go through the Canys income tax provision and thus affect theatiffe tax rate in future periods. For the
year endeDecember 31, 2011 , if and when the gross unrezedriax benefits are ultimately recognized, theylve reflected in the
Company'’s income tax provision and affect the effectax rate in future periods.

The change during 2013 was primarily due to thdratipn of statutes, settlements with taxing auties, foreign currency fluctuations and
change in tax positions. The change during 2012psiasarily due to foreign currency fluctuations asfthnge in tax positions. The change
during 2011 was primarily due to a partial releasan unrecognized tax benefit as a result of #pération of a statute, settlements with taxing
authorities, foreign currency fluctuations and dim tax positions.

In addition, the Company recognizes interest amalpies related to unrecognized tax benefits inilaeme tax provision. The Company
had $2.3 and $7.5 accrued for interest and pesati®ecember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012¢ectgply. Of these amounts, none were
recorded as current liabilities and included inéthccrued liabilities on the Consolidated
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Balance Sheets at December 31, 2013 and Decemp2®B2 . The Company recognized a (decrease) iseiiaanterest and penalty of $(5.2)
and $0.9 in its tax provision in 2013 and 2012 e Thange in interest and penalty in 2011 was immahte

In connection with the gross unrecognized tax benghcluding interest and penalties) denominatefbreign currency, the Company
incurred a foreign currency translation adjustmButring 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , the foreign curreingyact on such liabilities resulted in
$0.7 , $(0.5) and $0.3 currency translation adjesits, respectively, which increased (decreasedj@tmaprehensive income (loss).

The Company expects its gross unrecognized taxXitetebe reduced by $1.6 within the next 12 menth

7. Employee Benefits

Employee PlanEEmployee benefit plans include:

» A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan fanly bargaining unit employees at seven of the @amy’s production facilities based
on the specific collective bargaining agreememaat facility. For active bargaining unit employaeshree of these production
facilities, the Company is required to make fixatercontributions. For active bargaining unit emypks at one of these production
facilities, the Company is required to match certainployee contributions. For active bargaining eniployees at two of these
production facilities, the Company is required taka both fixed rate contributions and concurrenticines. For active bargaining unit
employees at the one remaining production facitftg, Company is not required to make any contrilmsti Fixed rate contributions
either (i) range from (in whole dollars) $800 to 420 per employee per year, depending on the erapleyge, or (ii) vary between
2% to 10% of the employeesbmpensation depending on their age and years\a€edor employees hired prior to January 1, 26€
is a fixed 2% annual contribution for employee®dion or after January 1, 2004. The Company cuyrestimates that contributions
to such plans will range from $1.0 to $3.0 per year

» A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan fatagied and certain hourly employees providingd@oncurrent match of up to 4% of
certain contributions made by employees plus an@nontribution of between 2% and 1@f¥ttheir compensation depending on tt
age and years of service to employees hired midahuary 1, 2004. All new hires on or after Janda004 receive a fixed 2%
contribution annually. The Company currently estiesahat contributions to such plan will range fr$0 to $7.0 per year.

» A defined benefit plan for salaried employeethatCompany’s London, Ontario facility, with anhaantributions based on each
salaried employee’s age and years of service. Aeber 31, 2013 , approximately 65% of the plaetassere invested in equity
securities, and 31% of plan assets were investégdd income securities. The remaining plan asset® invested in short-term
securities. The Company’s investment committeeetgsiand evaluates the investment portfolio. Thetassx target allocation on the
long-term investments is approximately 62% in egeécurities, 34% in fixed income securities arelrdmaining assets in short-term
securities. See Note 12 for additional informatiegarding the fair values of the Canadian penslan pssets.

* A non-qualified, unfunded, unsecured plan okdefd compensation for key employees who wouldratise suffer a loss of benefits
under the Company’s defined contribution plan essalt of the limitations imposed by the Internavi@nue Code of 1986 (the
“Code"). Despite the plan being an unfunded plaa,Eompany makes an annual contribution to a raibit to fulfill future funding
obligations, as contemplated by the terms of the.prhe assets in the trust are at all times sutgabe claims of the Company’s
general creditors, and no participant has a claianty assets of the trust. Plan participants égékd to receive distributions from the
trust subject to vesting and other eligibility regments. Assets in the rabbi trust relating todbterred compensation plan are
accounted for as available for sale securitiesaaadncluded as Other assets on the Consolidatiesh@&aSheets (see Note 2).
Liabilities relating to the deferred compensatidenpare included on the Consolidated Balance Staset®ng-term liabilities (see
Note 2).

 An employment agreement with the Company’s chiefcutive officer extending through July 6, 20Ibe Company also provides
certain members of senior management, including eathe Company’s named executive officers, withdfits related to
terminations of employment in specified circums&sdncluding in connection with a change in cdntrg the Company without
cause and by the executive officer with good reason

VEBA Postretirement Medical ObligatiorGertain eligible retirees receive medical covertigeugh participation in the Union VEBA or a
VEBA that provides benefits for certain other digiretirees, their surviving spouse and eligipehdents (the “Salaried VEBA” and,
together with the Union VEBA, the “VEBAS"). The Umi VEBA covers certain qualifying bargaining urgtirees and future retirees. The
Salaried VEBA covers certain retirees who retiredrto the 2004 termination of the prior plan ardployees who were hired prior to
February 2002 and subsequently retired or wilteetiith the requisite age and service. The UnioBXEs managed by four trustees, two of
which are appointed by the Company and
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two of which are appointed by the United Steel,é?@md Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energyiedllindustrial and Service Workers
International Union, AFL-CIO, CLC ("USW"). Its agseare managed by an independent fiduciary. Thari®dlVEBA is managed by trustees
who are independent of the Company.

The Company'’s only financial obligations to the Vi&Bare (i) to make an annual variable cash cortichwand (ii) to pay up to $0.3 of the
annual administrative expenses of the VEBAs. Thméda determining the annual variable contribumnount is 10% of the first $20.0 of
annual cash flow (as defined; in general termsptirecipal elements of cash flow are earnings leefoterest expense, provision for income
taxes, and depreciation and amortization less pagiments for, among other things, interest, inctares, and capital expenditures), plus 20%
of annual cash flow (as defined) in excess of $2&0ch payments may not exceed $20.0 annuallypayhents are allocated between the
Union VEBA and the Salaried VEBA at 85.5% and 14 5%spectively. The variable cash contributiorigdtion to the Union VEBA extends
through September 2017, while the obligation toSharied VEBA has no express termination date.

Amounts owed by the Company to the VEBAs are restiid the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets @ither accrued liabilities,
with a corresponding increase in Net assets ineasyf VEBAS. Such amounts are determined and gaian annual basis. As Becember 31
2013, the Company determined that the variabléritaion for 2013 was $16.0 (comprised of $13.7Th® Union VEBA and $2.3 to the
Salaried VEBA). These amounts will be paid during first quarter of 2014 . The variable contribotielating to 2012 in the amount of $20.0
was paid in 2013 .

The Company has no claim to the plan assets dfHi&As nor any obligation to fund their liabilitieShe benefits paid by the VEBAs are
the sole discretion of the respective VEBA trustaed are outside the Company's control. Neverthgthe Company accounts for the VEBAs
as defined benefit postretirement plans with threesu VEBA assets and future variable contributifiosn the Company, and earnings thereon
operating as a cap on the benefits to be paid. Wiaegly, the Company accounts for net periodic pisement benefit costs in accordance
ASC Topic 715Compensation — Retirement Benefis] records any difference between the assetcbf\&&BA and its accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation in the Comparggssolidated financial statements. Information seagy for the valuation of the net funded
status of the plans must be obtained from the VE8#Aan annual basis.

While under this accounting treatment, the funditegus of the VEBAS could result in a liability @sset position on the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets, such liability ortdsag no impact on the Company's cash flow or diifyi Only the Company's obligation to
make an annual variable cash contribution can hawaterial impact to the Company's cash flow aridlgy.

In 2011 and 2012, the Union VEBA owned shares ef@ompany's common stock that were subject tock $tansfer restriction
agreement that limited its ability to sell suchrglsaln 2011, transfer restrictions were removed portion of the shares held by the Union
VEBA, and restrictions on all remaining shares weraoved in 2012. During periods when the Union YAEBshares were subject to the stock
transfer restrictions, the Company treated sucheshas being similar to treasury stock (i.e. asdaction of Stockholders' equity) on its
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Refer to Statemer@e$olidated Stockholders' Equity for the numbeshafres on which stock transfer
restrictions were removed.

Key Assumptiong.he following data presents the key assumptiond asd the amounts reflected in the Company’s firzhistatements
with respect to the Company’s Canadian pension gtahthe VEBAs. The Company uses a December 31urerasnt date for all of the plans.

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligatianefdDecember 31 are:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Union Salaried Union Salaried
VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Benefit obligations assumptions:
Discount rate 4.9(% 4.4(% 4.7(% 4.2(% 4.0(% 3.4(%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0(% 3.0(% — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — 7.5(% — 8.0(% —
Ultimate medical trend rafe — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —
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! The medical trend rate assumptions used for the"JMEBA were provided by the Union VEBA and certaidustry data were provided
the Company's actuaries. The trend rate is asstonaetline to 5% by 2019 at each of December 3132Md December 31, 2012 . A one-
percentage-point increase in the assumed medéaral tiates would increase the accumulated postratitebenefit obligation of the Union
VEBA by $27.8 and $41.1 at December 31, 2013 arceBder 31, 2012 , respectively. A one-percentagetpecrease in the assumed
medical trend rates would decrease the accumyterstietirement benefit obligation of the Union VEB#R $22.7 and $33.4 at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , respBctiv

Key assumptions made in computing the net assagailin of each VEBA and in total include:
With respect to VEBA assets:

» Based on the information received from the VEB#&tsDecember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2@1R the Salaried VEBA and Uni
VEBA assets were invested in various managed mtauyi funds. VEBA plan assets are managed by vaiiowestment advisors
selected by the VEBA trustees, and are not unaecohntrol of the Company.

e The Company's variable payment, if any, is gdats a funding/contribution policy and not courded VEBA asset at December 31
for actuarial purposes.

With respect to VEBA obligations:

e The accumulated postretirement benefit obliga(iéPBQO”) for each VEBA was computed based onlthel of benefits being
provided by it at December 31, 2013 and Decembgp@12 .

e Since the Salaried VEBA was paying a fixed ahamaount to its constituents at both December 8132and December 31, 2012 , no
future cost trend rate increase has been assunoednputing the APBO for the Salaried VEBA.

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit (income) for the years ended December 31 are:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Union Salaried Union Salaried Union Salaried

VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Net periodic benefit cost
assumptions:
Discount rate 4.4(% 5.6(% 5.7(% 4.0(% 3.4(% 4.2(% 3.7%% 5.25% 4.7(%
Expected longerm returr
on plan assefts 4.5(% 4.6(% 5.4(% 6.25% 7.25% 7.25% 7.25% 6.0(% 7.25%
Rate of compensation
increase 3.0(% 3.0(% 3.5(% — — — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — — 8.0(% — 8.5(% — 9.0(% —
Ultimate medical trend
rate® — — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —

! The expected long-term rate of return assumptidiméed on the targeted investment portfolios pexvic the Company by the VEBAS’
trustees.

2 The medical trend rate assumptions used for thenJMMEBA, which is currently paying certain prestiop drug benefits, were provided
by the Union VEBA and certain industry data werevided by the Company's actuaries. The trend saassumed to decline to 5% by
2019 for each of 2013, 2012 and 2011 . A one-peagepoint increase in the assumed medical trend ratesdancrease the aggregate
the service and interest cost components of n@dgierbenefit costs by $2.0 , $2.5 and $2.7 for202012 and 2011 , respectively. A one:
percentage-point decrease in the assumed medical tates would decrease the aggregate of theeseamd interest cost components of
net periodic benefit costs by $1.5, $2.0, and $@. 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Benefit Obligations and Funded StatusThe following table presents the benefit obligasiamd funded status of the Company’s Canadia
pension and the VEBAs as of December 31, 2013 awibber 31, 2012 , and the corresponding
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amounts that are included in the Company’s Conatditi Balance Sheets.

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Obligation at beginning of year $ 7C $ 54 % 384.1 % 446.¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.5 0.2 — —
Service cost 0.3 0.2 2.t 3.4
Interest cost 0.3 & 14.¢ 17.¢
Actuarial (gain) los$ (0.2 1.1 (7.9 (66.2)
Plan participant contributions — 0.1 — —
Benefits paid by Company (0.3 (0.3 — —
Benefits paid by VEBA — — (21.5 (20.9)
Reimbursement from retiree drug subsidy — — - 2.¢

Obligation at end of year 6.€ 7.C 374. 384.1

Change in Plan Assets:

FMV of plan assets at beginning of year 5.7 4.¢ 7445 571.(
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.9 0.2 — —
Actual return on assets 7 3 39.2 63.C
Plan participant contributions — 0.1 — —
Sale of Company's common stock by Union VEBA — — — 108.¢
Employer/Company contributiorts 0.t 0.t 16.C 20.C
Benefits paid by Company (0.3 (0.3 — —
Benefits paid by VEBA — — (21.5 (20.9)
Reimbursement from retiree drug subsidy — — 2.3 2.¢
FMV of plan assets at end of year 6.2 5.7 780.7 744.%

Net Funded Status $ 0.9 $ 13 $ 406.C $ 360.¢

! The actuarial gain relating to the VEBA plans iri2@vas primarily comprised of (i) a gain of $5418do projected lower drug claim cost
in the future because of lower than expected dlaighccosts in 2013 in the Union VEBA, (ii) a gaih%80.5 due to a decrease in discount
rates used to determine benefit obligations fohBEEBAS, (iii) a gain of $8.0 primarily due to agier than expected mortality rate in the
Union VEBA, partially offset by (iv) a loss of $&3due to the addition of a new healthcare premiumibeirsement benefit starting in 2(
in the Union VEBA, (v) a loss of $20.8 resultingtfin an increase in the existing benefits reimbursemates starting in 2014 for plan
participants in both VEBAS, and (vi) a loss of $@rimarily due to an increase in administrativeténghe Union VEBA.

T he actuarial gain relating to the VEBA plans th12 was primarily comprised of (i) a gain of $48w®& to lower than expected
prescription drug claim cost and a change in retiheig subsidy assumption in 2012 in the Union VEBAa gain of $16.2lue to change
in census data for both VEBA plans, (iii) a gairs8f6 relating to a change in the participant raastatus assumption in the Union VEBA
and (iv) a gain of $11.0 relating to a change smahsumption for annual benefit utilization pettipgrant in the Salaried VEBA, partially
offset by a loss of $9.7 due to a decrease in digto@tes used to determine benefit obligationdéth VEBA plans.

2 The Union VEBA is eligible for the retiree drug sidly of the Medicare Modernization Act that wertbieffect January 1, 2006 equal to
28% of allowable drug costs. As a result, the Camygaas measured the Union VEBA's obligations amst<to take into account this
subsidy.

% Prepaid benefit of $406.0 relating to the VEBA®atember 31, 2013 was presented as Net assepiectadf VEBAs on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. With respect to the Prepaid beoke$i860.6 relating to the VEBAs at December 31,
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2012, $365.9 was included in Net asset in respfle¢EBA and $5.3 was included in Net liability iespect of VEBA on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

4 The Company accrued a liability for a variable cashtribution of $16.0 to the VEBAs with respectcalendar year 2013, which will be
paid in the first quarter of 2014. The Company aedra liability for a variable cash contribution§#0.0 to the VEBAs with respect to
calendar year 2012, which was paid in the firstriguaf 2013.

With respect to the VEBASs, the Company has no claittihe plan assets nor obligation to fund theiliighThe Company's only financial
obligations to the VEBAs are the variable cash gbation and reimbursement of certain administefiges discussed previously. The
following table presents the net assets of eachA/B8of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 20th (gformation is also included in the
tables required under GAAP above which roll forwtre assets and obligations):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total
Accumulated plan benefit obligation $ (312.9) $ (62.00 $ (374 $ (319.9) $ 64.7) $ (384.)
Plan assets 717.5 63.2 780.7 685.: 59.4 744,
Net Funded Status $ 404.¢ $ 1z $ 406.C $ 365.¢ $ 53 9 360.¢

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Canadiefined benefit pension plan was $5.8 and $6[2eaember 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 , respectively. The Company éspecontribute $0.5 to the Canadian pension pl&914 .

As of December 31, 2013, the net benefits expectéd paid in each of the next five fiscal yeard s aggregate for the five fiscal years
thereafter are as follows:

Benefit Payments Due by Period

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019-2023
Canadian pension plan benefit payments $ 02 $ 023 $ 03 $ 02 $ 023 % 2.C
VEBA benefit payment$ 30.t 30.t 30.2 30.1 29.¢ 142.5
Anticipated retiree drug subsidy (3.2 3.3 (3.9 (3.5 (3.5) (18.¢)
Total net benefits $ 27 % 27t % 272 % 26 % 26.6 $ 125.¢

1Such amounts were obtained from the VEBAs. The Gomig only financial obligations to the VEBAs apegoy the variable contributions,
which may not exceed $20.0 annually, and certamiaidtrative fees.

The amount of loss which is recognized in the Cbdated Balance Sheets (in Accumulated other coh@sive income (loss)) associated
with the Company’s Canadian defined benefit penpilan and the VEBAs (before tax) that have nothgsin reflected in net periodic benefit
cost as of December 31, 2013 and December 31,284 as follows:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Accumulated net actuarial losses $ (1.8 % (2.8 % 0.5) % (3.2
Transition assets 0.2 0.2 — —
Prior service cost — — (32.%) (36.9)
Loss recognized in Accumulated other compreher(ébes) $ (16 $ (25 $ (339 $ (40.7)

The amounts in Accumulated other comprehensivenirecloss) that have not yet been recognized as @oemps of net periodic pension
benefit costs at December 31, 2013 that are exghéctiee recognized in 2014 are $0.1 for the Camggision plan relating to prior service
cost and $5.2 for the VEBAs. Of the $5.2 relatioghte VEBAs, $4.1 is related to amortization obpservice cost and $1.1 is related to
amortization of net actuarial loss. See the StateémeComprehensive Income (Loss) for reclassificatidjustments of other comprehensive
income that were recognized as components of m&tdie benefit costs for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .
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Fair Value of Plan AssetSee Note 12 for the fair values of the assetseCthnadian pension plan and the VEBAs.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Incomd)he-Companys results of operations included the following iriigaassociated with tt
Canadian defined benefit plan and the VEBASs: (@&ygés for service rendered by employees; (b) ayetfar accretion of interest; (c) a benefit
for the return on plan assets; and (d) amortizatiomet gains or losses on assets, prior servists @ssociated with plan amendments and
actuarial differences. The following table preseéhescomponents of net periodic benefit cost (inepfar 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Service cost $ 02 $ 0z $ 0z $ 25 % 34 $ 2.2
Interest cost 0.3 0.3 0.3 14.€ 17.¢ 17.4
Expected return on plan assets 0.3 (0.2 0.3 (45.1) (40.9) (30.9
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 4.2 4.2 4.2
Amortization of net actuarial loss 0.2 0.1 0.1 1.2 3.C 0.€
Net periodic benefit costs (income) ~$ 08 § 04 § 02 § (22.5) $ (119 $ (6.0)

! The Company amortizes prior service cost on agttdine basis over the average remaining yeasenfice to full eligibility for benefits
of the active plan participants.

The following tables present the total (income)rgea related to all benefit plans for 2013, 204@ 2011 :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Canadian pension plan $ 0 % 04 $ 0.2
VEBAs (22.5) (11.9 (6.0)
Deferred compensation plan 1.2 0.S 0.2
Defined contribution plans 7.8 7.€ 7.1

Total $ (12.9) $ 30 $ 1.€

The following tables present the allocation of thGacome) charges:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Fabricated Products $ 8C $ 74 $ 6.4
All Other (20.9) (10.9 (4.9)
Total $ (12.9 $ (30 $ 1.€

For all periods presented, the net periodic beneditating to the VEBAs are included as a componéBelling, administrative, research
and development and general expense within All Cdne substantially all of the Fabricated Prodseigment’s related charges are in Cost of
products sold, excluding depreciation and amoitpnaand other items with the balance in Sellingnawdstrative, research and development
general.

8. Multiemployer Pension Plans

Overview.The Company contributes to multiemployer defineddsi pension plans under the terms of collectraegaining agreements tl
cover its union-represented employees at certaititias. At December 31, 2013 , approximately
55% of the Company's total employees were unionessgmted employees at facilities participatinchiese multiemployer pension plans. The
Company currently estimates that contributions weitige from $3.0 to $5.0 per year through 2015.

The risks of participating in these multiemploy&ans are different from single-employer plans ia thllowing aspects:
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e Assets contributed to the multiemployer plarobg employer may be used to provide benefits tda@yeps of other participating
employers.

« If a participating employer stops contributimgthe plan, the unfunded obligations of the plary maborne by the remaining
participating employers.

« If the Company chooses to stop participatingame of its multiemployer plans, the Company mayelogiired to pay those plans an
amount based on the underfunded status of the q@tared to as a withdrawal liability.

The Company's participation in multiemployer pengitans for the annual period ended December 313 Boutlined in the table below.

Contributions of the

Employer FIP/RP Status Company Surcharge Expiration Date of
Identification Pension Protection Act  Pending/Implemented Imposed in Collective-Bargaining
Pension Fund Number Zone Status' in 20132 2013 2012 2011 2013 Agreement
2013 2012

Steelworkers
Pension Trust Mar Nov
(usw)? 236648508  Green Green No $2¢€ $ 3.C $2¢ No 2014 - 2017
Other Fundg$ 0.¢ 0.¢ 1.C

$3& $ 3¢ $3.¢€

! The most recent Pension Protection Act zone stataiable in 2013 and 2012 for the SteelworkerssRenTrust is for the plan's year-end
at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , raglgc The zone status is based on information tie Company received from the
plan and is certified by the plan's actuary. Amotiter factors, plans in the green zone are at 8&apercent funded.

The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” columndatis if a Financial Improvement Plan (FIP) or a&kdlitation Plan (RP) is either
pending or has been implemented for the plan uthdePension Protection Act.

The Company is party to three USW collective-barg agreements that require contributions to tieel®orkers Pension Trust. Current
USW collective bargaining agreements covering eygss at the Newark, Ohio and Spokane (Trentwoodghivigton facilities covers
89% of the Company's USW-represented employeesxices in September 2015. The Company's monthiyribaitions per hour
worked by each bargaining unit employee at the Nkew@hio and Spokane (Trentwood), Washington faediare (in whole dollar€1.25
and will increase to (in whole dollars) $1.50 iyJ2015. The union contracts covering employegh@Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia
facility and Florence, Alabama facility cover 7%da#f6 of the Company's USW-represented employeggectively, and expire in
November 2017 and March 2014, respectiv

4 Other Funds consists of plans that are not indaligisignificant

The Company was not listed in any of the planshtso6500 or the CWIPP financial statements as pioyichore than 5% of the total
contributions for any of the plan years disclog&oDecember 31, 2013 , Forms 5500 were not avail&dyi the plan years ending in 2013 .
Further, there were no significant changes to tiralver of employees covered by the Company's mytiieyer plans that would affect the
period-to-period comparability of the contributidios the years presented.

9. Employee Incentive Plans

Short-term Incentive Plans (“STI Plans”)

The Company has a short-term incentive compensptamfor senior management and certain other eypppayable at the Company’s
election in cash, shares of common stock, or a guatibn of cash and shares of common stock. Amoeautsed under the plan are based
primarily on EVA of the Company’s Fabricated Protuousiness, adjusted for certain safety and pegoce factors. EVA, as defined by the
Company's STI Plans, is a measure of the excab® @ompany’s adjusted pre-tax operating income fparticular year over a poeterminec
percentage of the adjusted net assets of the inatedglpreceding year, measured over a one -yeadpéost of the Company’s production
facilities have similar programs for both hourlydasalaried employees.
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Total costs relating to STI Plans were recordefbdsws, for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amdrmization and other items  $ 4€ $ 42 3% 3.2
Selling, administrative, research and developnamd,general 11.1 10.1 2
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 157 § 144 $ 8.4

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Fabricated Products $ 112 $ 9¢ % 5.¢
All Other 4.5 4.5 2.5
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 157 $ 144 % 8.4

Long- term Incentive Programs

General. Officers and other key employees of the Compamyne or more of its subsidiaries, as well as dinecof the Company, are
eligible to participate in the Kaiser Aluminum Corption Amended and Restated 2006 Equity and Redioce Incentive Plan (as amended,
the “Equity Incentive Plan”). The Equity Incentii#an permits the granting of awards in the fornogtions to purchase common shares, stoc
appreciation rights, shares of non-vested and desttek, restricted stock units, performance shamdgormance units and other awards. The
Equity Incentive Plan will expire on July 6, 20H6d no grants will be made thereunder after thig ddne Companyg Board of Directors ma
in its discretion, terminate the Equity IncentidarPat any time. The termination of the Equity Imidee Plan will not affect the rights of
participants or their successors under any awartisamding and not exercised in full on the dateeohination, and all grants made on or priol
to the date of termination will remain in effecethafter subject to the terms of the applicablatgagreement and the Equity Incentive Plan.
Subject to certain adjustments that may be requiiced time to time to prevent dilution or enlargarhef the rights of participants under the
Equity Incentive Plan, a total of 2,722,222 commsbares have been authorized for issuance undé&higy Incentive Plan. At December 31,
2013, 840,693 common shares were available fatiaddl awards under the Equity Incentive Plan. @ensation charges relating to all
awards under the Equity Incentive Plan are includesklling, administrative, research and developnaed general expenses.

Non-vested Common Shares, Restricted Stock UnidsParformance ShareShe Company grants non-vested common shareshorits
employee directors, executive officers and othgrdmployees. The Company also grants restrictazk stoits to certain employees. The
restricted stock units have rights similar to tiyhts of non-vested common shares, and the emploifeeceive one common share for each
restricted stock unit upon the vesting of the ret&td stock unit. In addition to non-vested commsbares and restricted stock units, the
Company also grants performance shares to exeaffiecers and other key employees. Such awardswrgct to performance requirements
pertaining to the Company’s EVA as set forth infegear’s LTI program, measured over a three -yediopmance period. EVA, as defined in
the Company’s LTI programs, is the excess of then@amny’s adjusted pre-tax operating income for éiqdar year over a pre-determined
percentage of the adjusted net assets of the inatedgipreceding year. The number of performanceesh# any, that will ultimately vest and
result in the issuance of common shares depentseaaverage annual EVA achieved for the specifieget -year performance period. During
2013, a portion of the performance shares gramtelér the 2010-2012 LTI program vested (s&afhmary of Activity below). The vesting of
performance shares and resulting issuance ancedeldf common shares, if any, under the 2011-20M3pkcogram, 2012-2014 LTI program
and 2013-2015 LTI program will occur in 2014 , 2Gi& 2016 , respectively. Holders of performanaeshdo not receive voting rights
through the ownership of such performance shares.

Non-cash Compensation ExpenRecorded nomcash compensation expense by type of award undgporio§rams were as follows, for ec
period presented:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Service-based non-vested common shares and regdtsitcick units $ 42 % 38 % 4.1
Performance shares 2.3 1.8 1.1
Total non-cash compensation expense $ 6.6 $ 56 $ 5.2

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Fabricated Products $ 22 $ 17 $ 1.t
All Other 4.4 3.€ 3.7
Total non-cash compensation expense $ 6.6 § 56 § 5.2

Recognized tax benefit relating to non-cash comgaéms expense were $2.4 , $2.1 and $2.0 for 2@D32 and 2011 , respectively.

Unrecognized Gross Compensation Cost Datee following table presents unrecognized grosspeaomeation cost data, by type of award:

December 31, 2013

Expected period (in
years) over which the
remaining gross
Unrecognized gross ~ compensation costs will
compensation costs, by be recognized, by
award type award type

Service-based non-vested common shares and regtsitick units $ 3.8 1.5
Performance shares $ 4.8 1.9

Summary of Activityd summary of the activity with respect to non-velstemmon shares, restricted stock units and pedgoce shares for
the year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Non-Vested Restricted Performance
Common Shares Stock Units Shares
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Grant-Date Fair Grant-Date Fair
Shares Value per Share Units Value per Unit Shares Value per Share
Outstanding at
December 31, 2012 158,68: $ 42 .4 518: $ 43.9¢ 583,95( $ 41.7¢
Granted 76,33¢ 58.6¢ 2,60( 57.7( 175,31 57.7¢
Vested (90,239 42.31 (2,31)) 42.7¢ (34,19)) 34.8¢
Forfeited (820) 53.0( — — — —
Canceled — — — — (162,52) 34.5¢
Outstanding at
December 31, 2013 143,96° $ 51.0¢ 547: $ 51.0¢ 562,55 $ 49.2¢

The total grant-date fair value for shares granaihg 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $14.8 , $13.9 423 respectively. Total gradate fai
value for shares that vested during 2013 , 201228dd was $5.1 , $3.5 and $6.3 .

Stock OptionsAs of both December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2€H&re were 20,791 fully-vested options outstaggiim each case
exercisable to purchase common shares at $80.0shpez and having a remaining contractual life.25&nd 4.25 years, respectively. The
grant-date fair value of all options was $39.90gkeare. No new options were granted and no exisiitigns were forfeited, or exercised
during 2013 or 2012 . No options expired in 2013.
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Vested Stockerom time to time, the Company issues common stiaregn-employee directors electing to receive comishares in lieu of
all or a portion of their annual retainer fees. Téie value of these common shares is based ofathealue of the shares at the date of issuanc
and is immediately recognized in earnings as agaxpense. During 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , the Coyngcorded $0.2 , $0.2 and $0.2 ,
respectively, relating to common shares grantetbteemployee directors in lieu of all or a portwafrtheir annual retainer fees.

Under the Equity Incentive Plan, participants migeto have the Company withhold common sharestisfy minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations arising in connection witie exercise of stock options and vesting of nostagkshares, restricted stock units and
performance shares. Any such shares withheld areeteed by the Company on the applicable vestingsjathich correspond to the times at
which income to the employee is recognized. WhenGbmpany withholds these common shares, the Compaequired to remit to the
appropriate taxing authorities the fair value of g#hares withheld as of the vesting date. Duriri2®012 and 2011, 40,075, 45,801 and
62,637 commons shares, respectively, were withéwettcanceled for this purpose.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

CommitmentsThe Company has a variety of financial commitmeintduding purchase agreements, forward foreigrharge and forwa
sales contracts, indebtedness (and related Cabi@pand Warrants) and letters of credit (see [Saiad Note 11 ).

Rental expenses were $7.5 , $10.0 and $10.0 f& 20@12 , and 2011 , respectively. There are raheptions in various operating leases
subject to certain terms and conditions. Minimumtaécommitments under operating leases at DeceBhe013 are as follows for years
ending December 31:

2019 and
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter

Minimum rental commitments $ 47 $ 4C $ 2¢ $ 21 $ 2C $ 29.4

Purchase obligations are primarily comprised ofowes contracts with suppliers of aluminum that iegjthe Company to purchase
minimum quantities of aluminum in future years arige to be determined at the time of purchasedasimarily on the underlying metal
price at that time. Amounts included in the tabdéolv are based on minimum quantities at the mete¢ @t December 31, 2013 . The
Company believes the minimum quantities are lodwantits current requirements for aluminum. Actusdmtities and actual metal prices at the
time of purchase could be different. Amounts dugeaurpurchase obligations as of December 31, 204 asafollows for years ending Decem
31:

2019 and
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Purchase obligations $ 278t % 4¢ % 04 $ 04 $ 04 $ 1.¢

Environmental ContingencieShe Company is subject to a number of environmdated and regulations, to potential fines or paeslt
assessed for alleged breaches of such laws anldtiega, and to potential claims based upon sueis End regulations.

The Company has established procedures for regudadluating environmental loss contingencies. Tbepany’s environmental accruals
represent the Company’s undiscounted estimatest$ ceasonably expected to be incurred based semgie enacted laws and regulations,
existing requirements, currently available facidsting technology, and the Compagsyssessment of the likely remediation actionsttaken

The following table presents the changes in suchuats, which are primarily included in Long-teriailities.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 217 % 22.C % 20.2
Additional accruals 4.5 1.2 3.¢
Less expenditures (3.9) (1.5) (2.7
Ending balance $ 22,6 $ 217 $ 22.C

In 2012, the Company submitted a final feasibsitydy to the Washington State Department of Eco(tgfashington State Ecology”) that
included recommendations for remediation altermatiprimarily to address the historical use of oils

81




Table of Contents
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

containing polychlorinated biphenyls, ("PCBs") la¢ tCompany’s Spokane (Trentwood), Washington fgcilihe Company also signed an
amended work order in 2012 with Washington Stat@dgyy allowing certain remediation activities tagirethe initiation of a treatability study
in regards to proposed PCB remediation methods Cldmpany began implementation of certain approeetiens of the work plan during the
third quarter of 2013 and continues to work withdhagton State Ecology in developing the implemgmnavork plans, which are subject to
Washington State Ecology approval.

During 2013, at the request of the Ohio EnvironrakRtotection Agency (“OEPA)”, the Company initidten investigational study of its
Newark, Ohio facility related to historical -site waste disposal. As this work continues amdjasses to a risk assessment and feasibility
study, the Company will establish and update esémtor probable and estimable remediation. Achnal final cost for remediation will not be
fully determinable until a final feasibility study submitted and accepted by OEPA and work plampeepared, which is expected to occur in
the next 18 to 24 months .

At December 31, 2013, the Company’s environmeattatual of $22.8 represented the Compamgtimate of the incremental cost base
proposed alternatives in the final feasibility studlated to the Company’s Spokane (Trentwood), Magon facility and currently available
facts with respect to its Newark, Ohio facility acetrtain other locations owned or formally ownedliyy Company. Once the remediation
actions are approved for these sites, the Compgpgces the implementation and ongoing monitoringld@ccur over a period of 30 years .

As additional facts are developed, feasibility ##sdare completed, draft remediation plans are fieaklinecessary regulatory approvals for
the implementation of remediation are obtaine@raitive technologies are developed, and/or odeto's change, there may be revisions to
management’s estimates, and actual costs may eiXveedrrent environmental accruals. The Compafigu®s at this time that it is
reasonably possible that undiscounted costs assdaiath these environmental matters may exceeekigtiaccruals by amounts that could be,
in the aggregate, up to an estimated $25.0 overthediation period. It is reasonably possible thatCompany’s recorded estimate may
change in the next 12 months .

Other Contingencies’lhe Company is party to various lawsuits, claimsestigations, and administrative proceedingsdhae in
connection with past and current operations. The@amy evaluates such matters on a case-by-case &adiits policy is to vigorously contest
any such claims it believes are without merit. Qmmpany accrues for a legal liability when it ighbprobable that a liability has been incur
and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimghlarterly, in addition to when changes in facts eincumstances require it, the Company
reviews and adjusts these accruals to reflectntipacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, adefdegal counsel and other information, and
events pertaining to a particular case. While uiadaties are inherent in the final outcome of sowdtters and it is presently impossible to
determine the actual cost that may ultimately loeiired, management believes that it has suffigige8erved for such matters and that the
ultimate resolution of pending matters will not kavmaterial impact on the Company’s consolidateghtial position, operating results, or
liquidity.

11. Derivative Financial Instruments and Related Hdging Programs

Overview. In conducting its business, the Company enteéesdarivative transactions, including forward caets and options, to limit its
economic (i.e., cash) exposure resulting from @tahprice risk related to its sale of fabricatbdr@num products and the purchase of metal
used as raw material for its fabrication operatigiisenergy price risk relating to fluctuatingiges of natural gas and electricity used in its
production processes, and (iii) foreign currengyuirements with respect to its foreign subsidiagied cash commitments for equipment
purchases denominated in foreign currency. Addiignin connection with the issuance of the Cotilsés Notes, the Company purchased
cash-settled Call Options relating to the Compangimmon stock to limit its exposure to the cashveosion feature of the Convertible Notes
(see Note 3).

The Company may modify the terms of its derivatieatracts based on operational needs or finandifgctives. Because the Company's
hedging activities are generally designed to lotk-specified price or range of prices, realizedgar losses on the derivative contracts
utilized in the hedging activities generally offs¢tleast a portion of any losses or gains, regpdygt on the transactions being hedged at the
time the transactions occur. However, due to matkiérket accounting, during the term of the deieatontracts, significant unrealized, non-
cash gains and losses may be recorded in the instat@nent.

Hedges of Operational Risk¥he Company’s pricing of fabricated aluminum pro is generally intended to lock in a conversiargin
(representing the value added from the fabricgtimtess(es)) and to pass metal price fluctuatioits tustomers. However, in certain
instances the Company enters into firm-price ameamgnts with its customers for stipulated volumese@elivered in the future. Because the
Company generally purchases primary and secondiamyjirsum on a floating price basis, pounds thatig hommitted to sell to its customers
under a firm-price arrangement create metal pigefor the Company. The Company uses third-pagtyging instruments to limit exposure to
metal price risks related to firm-price
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customer sales contracts. See Note 12 for additioflamation regarding the Company’s material dative positions relating to hedges of
operational risks, and their respective fair values

A majority of the Company's derivative contractsatieg to hedges of operational risks contain dragk-related contingency features that
could require the Company to provide additionalateral in the event the Company's credit ratingewte be downgraded. To minimize the
exposure to additional collateral requirementsteeldo its liability hedge positions, the Compaligaates hedging transactions among its
counterparties, uses options as part of its hedagtigities, or both. The aggregate fair valueh&f Company's derivative instruments that
contain credit risk-related contingency featured aere in a net liability position at December 3013 was $1.6 .

The Company regularly reviews the credit worthingfsiss derivative counterparties and does not ekfreincur significant loss from the
failure of any counterparties to perform under agyeements.

During 2013, 2012 and 2011 , total fabricated pobsl shipments sold under firm-price arrangemeset®\in millions of pounds) 119.8,
178.8 and 157.0 , respectively. At December 31320he Company had customer sales contracts éodetivery of fabricated aluminum
products pursuant to firm-price arrangements fdrd2@nd 2015 , totaling approximately (in milliorfsppunds) 62.0 and 2.3 , respectively.

Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notés described in Note 3he Company issued Convertible Notes in the aggesprincipal amoul
of $175.0 in March 2010. The conversion featurthefConvertible Notes can only be settled in caghisrequired to be bifurcated from the
Convertible Notes and treated as a separate desvastrument. In order to offset the cash floskrassociated with the Bifurcated Conversior
Feature, the Company purchased Call Options, wdnielaccounted for as derivative instruments. Thagamy expects that the realized gai
loss from the Call Options will substantially offg¢be realized loss or gain of the Bifurcated Casign Feature upon maturity of the
Convertible Notes. However, because valuation aptions for the Bifurcated Conversion Feature ardGhall Option are not identical, over
time the Company expects to record net unrealizéusgand losses due to mark-to-market adjustmeriteetfair values of the two derivatives.
See Note 12 for additional information regarding thir values of the Bifurcated Conversion Featnd the Call Options.

Realized and Unrealized Gains and Los$slized and unrealized (losses) gains associdathailvderivative contracts consisted of the
following, for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Realized (losses) gains:
Aluminum $ 5.5 $ 9.0 $ 9.€
Natural Gas (1.9 (6.7) (5.2
Electricity 0.8 (3.9 —
Total realized (losses) gains: $ (6.5) 9 (19.7) $ 4.4
Unrealized gains (losses):
Aluminum $ (3.) % 101 $ (26.5)
Natural Gas 2.€ 4.3 (1.6
Electricity 1.1 0.8 (1.9
Foreign Currency 0.1 — —
Call Options relating to the Convertible Notes 24.2 9.C (2.2)
Bifurcated Conversion Feature of the Convertiblédso (21.0 (8.2 6.1
Total unrealized gains (losses) $ 3¢ § 16.C $ (25.9

The following table summarizes the Company's malteleérivative positions at December 31, 2013 :
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Notional
Amount of
Contracts
Commodity Maturity Period (mmlbs)
Aluminum —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/14 through 12/15 64.£
Midwest premium swap contracts 1/14 through 12/15 60.1
Notional
Amount
of Contracts
Energy Maturity Period (mmbtu)
Natural gas —2
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/14 through 12/16 6,240,00!
Notional
Amount
of Contracts
Electricity Maturity Period (Mwh)
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/14 through 12/15 394,20
Notional Amount of
Contracts
Currency Maturity Period (as shown)
Euro —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/14 through 1/14 € 674,48:
GBP —
Fixed priced purchase contracts 1/14 through 5/14 £ 44,10¢
Notional
Amount

of Contracts

Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes

Contract Period

(Common Shares)

Bifurcated Conversion Featute
Call Options®

3/10 through 3/15
3/10 through 3/15

3,638,30:
3,638,30:

! Regional premiums represent the premium over thelbn Metal Exchange price for primary aluminum vihi incurred on the
Company's purchases of primary aluminum.

2 As of December 31, 2013, the Company's exposuitadtuations in natural gas prices had been snliatly reduced for approximately
82% , 64% and 6% of the expected natural gas pseshfar 2014 , 2015 and 2016 , respectively.

8 The Bifurcated Conversion Feature represents thle canversion feature of the Convertible Notesh&dge against the potential cash
outflows associated with the Bifurcated Converdteature, the Company purchased cash-settled Calir@pThe Call Options have an
exercise price equal to the conversion price ofGbavertible Notes, subject to anti-dilution adment provisions substantially similar to
the Convertible Notes, which may cause the exemrise to decrease and the notional amount of shratating thereto to increase. The
Call Options will expire upon the maturity of th@@ertible Notes. Although the fair value of thel@yptions is derived from a notional
number of shares of the Company's common stoclC#tleOptions may only be settled in cash.

The Company enters into derivative contracts withnterparties, some of which are subject to enfdslgemaster netting arrangements and

some of which are not. The Company reflects theviaiue of its derivative contracts on a gross$asithe Consolidated Balance Sheets (see€

Note 2).
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The following tables present offsetting informati@yarding the Company's derivatives by type ohtewparty as of December 31, 2013 :

Derivative Assets and Collateral Held by Counterpar

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of
Gross Amounts  Assets Presented

Gross Amounts Offset in the in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Assets Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty (with Netting Agreement$ 1C $ — $ 1C $ 0.8 $ — 3 0.2
Counterparty (without Netting
Agreements} 80.4 — 80.4 — — 80.4
Counterparty (with partial Netting
Agreements) 0.4 — 0.4 0.4 — —
Total $ 81L& § —  $ 81t § 12 — % 80.¢€

Derivative Liabilities and Collateral Held by Couetparty

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of

Gross Amounts Liabilities
Gross Amounts Offset in the Presented in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Liabilities Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty (with Netting Agreement$ (1.€) 9 — $ 1.6) $ 0.8 $ — 3 (0.9
Counterparty (without Netting
Agreements} (83.2) — (83.2) — — (83.2)
Counterparty (with partial Netting
Agreements) 1.3 — (1.3 (0.4 — (0.9
Total $ (86.7) $ —  $ (86.7) $ 12 $ — 8 (84.9)

! Such amounts include the fair value of the Bifueda€onversion Feature and Call Options at Dece®ibe2013 (see Note 12
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The following tables present offsetting informati@garding the Company’s derivatives by type ofrterparty as of December 31, 2012 :

Derivative Assets and Collateral Held by Counterpar

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of
Gross Amounts  Assets Presented

Gross Amounts Offset in the in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Assets Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty (with Netting Agreement$ 22 % — $ 23 % 1C $ — 3 1.2
Counterparty (without Netting
Agreements} 55.¢ — 55.¢ — — 55.¢
Counterparty (with partial Netting
Agreements) 0.2 — 0.2 0.2 — 0.1
Total $ 58t —  $ 58t § 12 — % 57.2

Derivative Liabilities and Collateral Held by Couetparty

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of

Gross Amounts Liabilities
Gross Amounts Offset in the Presented in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Liabilities Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty (with Netting Agreement$ 1.7 $ — $ @7 $ 1.0 $ — 3 (0.7)
Counterparty (without Netting
Agreements} (63.9) — (63.€) — — (63.¢)
Counterparty (with partial Netting
Agreements) (1.2 — (1.2 (0.2 — (2.0
Total $ (66.7) $ — 3 (66.7) $ 1.2) $ — % (65.5)

! Such amounts include the fair value of the Bifueda€onversion Feature and Call Options at Dece®ibe2012 (see Note 12

12. Fair Value Measurements

Overview

The Company applies the fair value hierarchy eisthdtl by GAAP for the recognition and measureméassets and liabilities. An asset or
liability's fair value classification within the driarchy is determined based on the lowest leveititiat is significant to the fair value
measurement. In determining fair value, the Compaitizes valuation techniques that maximize the akobservable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs to the extent possilnié,considers counterparty risk in its assessnfdatrosalue.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilige measured on a recurring basis. The Compangl&eted not to carry any financial asset:
and liabilities at fair value other than as reqdiby GAAP. Financial assets and liabilities tha @ompany carries at fair value as required by
GAAP include: (i) its derivative instruments; (ie plan assets of the VEBAs and the Company'sdiam@ension plan measured annually at
December 31; and (iii) available for sale secuwsjtmonsisting of
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debt investment securities and investments relatéite Company's deferred compensation plan (sée N The Company records certain
other financial assets and liability at carryinguea(see table below for the fair value disclosafrthose assets and liabilities).

The majority of the Company's non-financial asseid liabilities, which include goodwill, intangibéssets, inventories and property, plant
and equipment, are not required to be carriediav&ue on a recurring basis. However, if certaiggering events occur (or at least annually
for goodwill), an evaluation of a non-financial eser liability is required, potentially resulting an adjustment to the carrying amount of such
asset or liability. For the years ended DecembefB13 and December 31, 2012 , the Company contlindg none of its non-financial assets
and liabilities subject to fair value assessmenta aon-recurring basis required a material adjestrto the carrying amount of such assets an
liabilities (see Note 5).

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Fair Values of Derivative Assets and Liabilitidhe Company's derivative contracts are valuediavédue using significant observable and
unobservable inputs.

Commodity, Energy, Electricity and Foreign Cuggiiedges - The fair values of a majority of thdegvative contracts are based upon
trades in liquid markets. Valuation model inputa generally be verified, and valuation techniquesdt involve significant judgment. The f
values of such financial instruments are genedégsified within Level 2 of the fair value hierbiyc The Company, however, has some
derivative contracts that do not have observablketa@juotes. For these financial instruments, mamsnt uses significant other observable
inputs (e.g., information concerning regional pnems for swaps). Where appropriate, valuations djgsted for various factors, such as
bid/offer spreads. The fair values of these finahicistruments are classified as Level 3 in thevfalue hierarchy.

Bifurcated Conversion Feature and Call Optionse Tir value of the Bifurcated Conversion Featgreneasured as the difference in the
estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes dreldstimated fair value of the Convertible Notethaut the cash conversion feature. The
Convertible Notes are valued based on the tradiicg pf the Convertible Notes each period end {s&k Other Financial Assets and
Liabilities” below). The fair value of the Convertible Notesheitit the cash conversion feature is the presenewaithe series of the
remaining fixed income cash flows under the ConbkeriNotes, with a mandatory redemption in 2015.

The Company determines the fair value of the Cplidhs using a binomial lattice valuation modeleThputs to the model at
December 31, 2013 were as follows:

Stock price at December 31, 2013 $ 70.2¢
Quarterly dividend yield (per shark) $ 0.24
Risk-free interest raté 0.1%
Credit spread (basis points) 171
Expected volatility raté 17%

Quarterly dividends during 2013 were $0.30 perehlant the model assumes a discrete $0.24 per gharterly dividend as was paid at
the inception of the Call Options. Quarterly divide in excess of $0.24 per share do not affecE#ieOptions' value due to anti-dilution
adjustments.

The risk-free rate was based on the 1.25 -yeart@ohMlaturity Treasury rate on December 31, 2013

The credit spread is based on the Company's laongdeedit rating of BB- issued by Standard & Psahd a seni
unsecured credit rating of Ba3 issued by Moody’s.

The volatility rate was based on both observedtilitya which is based on the Compasyhistorical stock price, a
implied volatility from the Company’s traded opt®rSuch volatility was further adjusted to take@iabnsideration
market participant risk tolerance.

VEBA and Canadian Pension Plan Ass&tee VEBA assets are managed by various investniBtig@s selected by the trustees of each of
the VEBAs. The VEBA assets are outside of the Camigacontrol, and the Company does not have insight
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into the investment strategies. The fair valuenefpplan assets of the VEBAS assets is based omiafion made available to the Company by
the VEBA administrators.

The assets of the Company's Canadian pension pananaged by advisors selected by the Companily thétinvestment portfolio subject
to periodic review and evaluation by the Compaimwestment committee. The investment of assetisdrCtanadian pension plan is based upo
the objective of maintaining a diversified portfobf investments in order to minimize concentratibieredit and market risks (such as interes
rate, currency, equity price and liquidity riskShe degree of risk and risk tolerance take intmantthe obligation structure of the plan, the
anticipated demand for funds and the maturity pesfiequired from the investment portfolio in ligiithese demands.

The fair value of the plan assets of the VEBAs ti@dCompany's Canadian pension plan is measurathiynon December 31 and is
reflected in the Company's Consolidated BalancetShat fair value. In determining the fair valudlaf plan assets at each annual period end
the Company utilizes primarily the results of vdloas supplied by the investment advisors respdm$dy managing the assets of each plan.

Certain assets are valued based upon unadjustéedguarket prices in active markets that are adudesst the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets (e.g., liquid seimsiisted on an exchange). Such assets arefwdssithin Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Valuation of other invested assets is based ornfgignt observable inputs (e.g., net asset valtiesgistered investment companies not
listed on an exchange, valuations derived fromalaharket transactions, broker-dealer suppliedataas, or correlations between a given
U.S. market and a non-U.S. security). Valuation eld@aputs can generally be verified and valuatechhiques do not involve significant
judgment. The fair values of such financial instants are classified within Level 2 of the fair vahierarchy

Available for sale securitiedhe Company holds debt investment securities. &hesélue of the debt investment securities, whichsists
of commercial paper and corporate bonds, is deterthbased on valuation models that use observadleetrdata. At December 31, 2013, the
remaining maturity period with respect to shortriénvestments ranged from 91 days to approximdt&lynonths . In addition to debt
investment securities, the Company also holds s@setarious investment funds at certain registémedstment companies in connection with
its deferred compensation program (see Note 1 and R). Such assets are accounted for as avaftaidale securities and are measured anc
recorded at fair value based on the net asset wélie investment funds on a recurring basis. félrevalue input of the available for sale
securities is considered either a Level 1 or L&vielput depending on whether the debt securityeestment fund is traded on a public
exchange. The amortized cost for available for saetirities approximates their fair value.

All Other Financial Assets and LiabilitieShe Company believes that the fair value of ithaasd cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approxanttair respective carrying values due to theirtsimaturities and nominal credit risk.

The fair value of the Senior Notes and Convertitiides is based on their trading price and is camnsitia Level 1 input in the fair value
hierarchy. See Note 3 for the carrying value of@oavertible Notes and the Senior Notes.

The following tables present the Company's findringtruments, classified under the appropriatell®d the fair value hierarchy, as of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 :

2013
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 3 01 $ — 3 0.1
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 1.1 1.1
Natural Gas -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — 0.t — 0.t
Electricity -
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Fixed priced purchase contracts — 0.t — 0.t
Foreign Currency -
Euro — 0.1 — 0.1
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Call Options — 79.t — 79.t
VEBAs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investin
companies 57.C 318.( — 375.(
Mortgage backed securities — 25.¢ — 25.¢
Corporate debt securitiés — 78.2 — 78.2
Equity investment funds in registered investment
companies — 175.2 — 175.:
United States Treasuries — 43.% — 43.%
Municipal debt securities — 1.€ — 1.€
Cash and money market investmehts 36.¢ — — 36.¢
Asset backed securities — 8.t — 8.t
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies$ 20.1 6.2 — 26.2
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefits 57.1 111.¢ — 169.f
Short-term investments — 129.t — 129.t
Deferred compensation plan asset — 6.5 — 6.5
Total $ 171¢ $ 985.f % 1.1 % 1,158.:
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts $ — 8 1.8 $ — 3 (1.8
Natural Gas -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (0.9 — (0.8
Electricity -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (0.9 — (0.9
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Bifurcated Conversion Feature — (83.7) — (83.])
All Other Financial Liabilities
Senior Notes (255.9) — — (255.9)
Convertible Notes (260.0 — — (260.0)
Total $ (515.9) $ (86.) $ — 3 (601.5)
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2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — 3 2€ $ — 3 2.€
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 0.4 0.4
Natural Gas -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — 0.2 — 0.2
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Call Options — 55.2 — 55.:
VEBAs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investin
companies 192.: 235.2 — 4277
Mortgage backed securities — 31.t — 31.t
Corporate debt securitiés — 40.4 — 40.¢
Equity investment funds in registered investment
companies 114.1 58.¢ — 172.¢
United States Treasuries — 13.€ — 13.¢
Municipal debt securities — 3.¢ — 3.¢
Cash and money market investmehts 16.4 — — 16.4
Asset backed securities — 3.2 — 3.2
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies$ 6. 5.7 — 12.1
Equity securities 8.7 — — 8.7
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefits 107.¢ 165.5 — 273.¢
Short-term investments — 85.C — 85.C
Deferred compensation plan asset — 5.€ — 5.€
Total 445.¢  $ 706.7 % 04 $ 1,152.¢
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — 3 0.5 $ — 3 (0.5
Natural Gas -
Put option sales contracts — (0.5) — (0.5
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (2.6) — (2.6)
Electricity -
Fixed priced purchase contracts — (2.0 — (1.0
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes -
Bifurcated Conversion Feature — (62.7) — (62.1)
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All Other Financial Liabilities

Senior Notes (250.0) — — (250.0)
Convertible Notes (240.) — — (240.))
Total $ (490.0) $ (66.7 $ — 3 (556.9)

L This category represents investments in variowsdfincome funds with multiple registered investnmorhpanies. Such funds invest in
diversified portfolios, including (i) marketablexéd income securities such as (a) U.S. Treasuryo#re government and agency
securities, (b) municipal bonds, (c) mortgage-bddecurities, (d) asset-backed securities, (e)acatp bonds, notes and debentures in
various sectors, (f) preferred and common stockinfgestments in affiliated and other investmennpanies, (h) short-term investments
and other net assets and (i) repurchase agreeamahtgverse repurchase agreements, (ii) other coghed investments, (iii) investment
grade debt, (iv) fixed income instruments which rbayrepresented by options, future contracts opsagaeements, and (v) cash and cast
equivalents. The fair value of assets in this aateds estimated using the net asset value peesifahe investments.

2 This category represents investments in fixed ireeorporate securities in various sectors. Investsie the industrial, financial and
utilities sectors in 2013 represented approximaiélp , 35% and 9% of the total portfolio in thidegfory, respectively. Investments in the
industrial, financial and utilities sectors in 20Epresented approximately 61% , 33% and 6% ofdtat portfolio in this category,
respectively. The fair value of assets in this gatg is estimated using the net asset value pee sifahe investments.

3 This category represents investments in equityduthdt invest in portfolios comprised of (i) equilyd equityrelated securities of U.S. &
non-U.S. issuers across all market capitaliza{igncommon stock in investment trust funds, ani) Gther shortterm investments. The fi
value of assets in this category is determineddyguquoted prices in active markets for investmeonsidered Level 1 inputs and
estimated using the net asset value per share dfitestments for investments considered Levepts

4 This category represents cash and investmentgiousamoney market func

5 The plan assets are invested in investment furatshtild a diversified portfolio of (i) U.S and imbational debt and equity securities, (ii)
fixed income securities such as corporate bondgyamdrnment bonds, (iii) mortgage-related secwjtéand (iv) cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of assets in this category is ed#haising the net asset value per share of thetimeants.

&  See Note Zor components of cash and cash equival

Financial instruments classified as Level 3 infdievalue hierarchy represent derivative contrattwhich management has used at least
one significant unobservable input in the valuatiomdel. The following table presents a reconciiatof activity for such derivative contracts
on a net basis:

Level 3
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 0.4
Total realized/unrealized gains included in:
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation and airatidon and Unrealized (gains) losses on derivatisggruments (0.2
Transactions involving Level 3 derivative contracts
Purchases 1.C
Sales —
Issuances —
Settlements (0.2
Transactions involving Level 3 derivatives - net 0.€
Transfers in and (or) out of Level 3 valuation hiehy —
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1.1
Total gains included in Unrealized (gains) losseslerivative instruments, attributable to the cleamgunrealized
gains/losses relating to derivative contracts éldecember 31, 2013: $ 11
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Fair Values of Non-financial Assets and Liabilities

CAROs.The inputs in estimating the fair value of CAROeglide: (i) the timing of when any such CARO casiwff may be incurred:
(ii) incremental costs associated with special tiagar treatment of CARO materials, and (iii) ttredit-adjusted risk-free rate applicable at
the time additional CARO cash flows are estimas#idhf which are considered Level 3 inputs as timplve significant judgment of the
Company.

During 2013, the Company re-assessed and reusedtimates relating to the timing and future €o$tvarious asbestos removal projects
at one facility. The following table summarizes #wivity relating to the Company's CARO liabilgie

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Beginning balance $ 41 $ 4C $ 3.6
Liabilities settled during the period (0.2 (0.5 (0.2)
Accretion expense 0.4 0.3 2
Adjustment to accretion expense due to revisiorestonated cash flow and
timing of expendituré 0.1 0.3 —
Ending balance $ 44 $ 41 $ 4.C

! The adjustment in 2013 did not have a material thpa the basic and diluted earnings per sharg@B. The adjustment in 2012
decreased both basic and diluted earnings per &a2012 by approximately $0.02 per share.

The estimated fair value of CARO liabilities at [@etber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are basediwpapplication of a weighted-
average credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 8.6% &l , respectively. CAROs are included in Otheraed liabilities or Long-term liabilities,
as appropriate (see Note 2).

13. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2013 2201 2011 were calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income $ 104.¢ % 85.t §$ 25.1
Denominator - Weighted-average common shares owlisig (in thousands):
Basic! 18,827 19,11¢ 18,97¢
Add: dilutive effect of non-vested common sharestricted stock units and
performance shares 17¢ 162 —
Add: dilutive effect of warrants 241 — —
Diluted? 19,24¢ 19,27¢ 18,97¢
Earnings per common share, Basic:
Net income per share $ 55¢ $ 4.4¢ $ 1.32
Earnings per common share, Diluted:
Net income per share $ 544 % 448 % 1.32

! The basic weighted-average number of common slatstanding during the period excludes unvestetedbased incentive awart
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2 The diluted weighted-average number of common shautstanding and diluted earnings per share fb8 2Bd 2012 were calculated
using the treasury method. The diluted weightedaye number of common shares outstanding and dikaenings per share for 2011
were calculated using the two-class method (see Nt

Options to purchase 20,791 common shares at angevexercise price of $80.01 per share were odlisiguat both December 31, 2048d
December 31, 2012 . The potential dilutive effdabtions outstanding was zero for 2013 , 2012201l . Warrants relating to approximately
3.6 million common shares were outstanding at Bmbember 31, 2013 (at an average exercise priappbximately $61.08 per share) and
December 31, 2012 (at an average exercise prigpgbximately $61.31 per share).

During 2013, 2012 and 2011 , the Company paida td approximately $23.0 ( $1.20 per common sh&#9.6 ( $1.00 per common
share), and $18.9 ( $0.96 per common share), regplgcin cash dividends to stockholders, inclglthe holders of restricted stock, and
dividend equivalents to the holders of certainrietgtd stock units and to the holders of perforneesitares with respect to approximately one-
half of the performance shares.

Upon the termination in the third quarter of 20¥3h@ third-party disbursing agent agreement edtér® in connection with the
Company’s emergence from chapter 11 proceeding806, $0.6 of cash dividends paid in respect ofrmomshares of the Company held in
trust by the third-party disbursing agent for disition under the Company’s chapter 11 plan, a$ ag9,001 such common shares, were
returned to the Company at the direction of thekbagptcy court. The fair market value of the shaxes included in Other income, net (see
Note 16).

From time to time, the Company repurchases shanesignt to a stock repurchase program authorizedebZompany’s Board of
Directors. During 2013, the Company’s Board of Bicgs twice authorized additional funds under grsgram, with $75.0 million authorized
in April 2013 and another $75.0 million authorizadDecember 2013. Repurchase transactions willogcsuch times and prices as
management deems appropriate and will be fundedtivt Company’s excess liquidity after giving caolesation to internal and external
growth opportunities and future cash flows. Repasgls may be in open-market transactions or inefivaegotiated transactions, and the
program may be modified or terminated by the CorgjsaBoard of Directors at any time.

In 2013, the Company repurchased 1,232,077 shaoesronon stock at a weighted-average price of 863 share pursuant to this
authorization. The total cost of $79.3 was recoraedreasury Stock. The Company purchased no shades this program during 2012 and
2011. At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 28127.6 and $46.9 , respectively, were availablepourchase the Company’s common
shares pursuant to the stock repurchase program.

14. Segment and Geographical Area Information

The Company's primary line of business is the pctidao of semi-fabricated specialty aluminum produsuch as aluminum sheet and plat
and extruded and drawn products, primarily useseiospace/high strength, general engineering, aiteoen and other industrial end market
applications. The Company operates 11 focused ptimfufacilities in the United States and one im&@a. Consistent with the manner in
which the Company's chief operating decision ma&eiews and evaluates the Company's business athricBted Products business is treatec
as a single operating segment.

In addition to the Fabricated Products segmentCitrapany has two business units, Corporate andr @ttteSecondary Aluminum. The
Corporate and Other business unit provides geaedhbdministrative support for the Company's oparat The Secondary Aluminum
business unit activities related to the Companyi€pase and resale to a third party of secondamiaum produced by Anglesey until
Anglesey ceased its remelt and casting operatiois facility in Holyhead, Wales in the quarteded June 30, 2013. The Company owned a
49% non-controlling interest in Anglesey until g&jl its ownership interest in the quarter endeddbdmer 31, 2013.

For purposes of segment reporting under GAAP, th@@any treats the Fabricated Products segmentegeable segment and combines
the two other business units, Corporate and OtheéiSecondary Aluminum, into one category, whicteferred to as All Other. All Other is
not considered a reportable segment.

The accounting policies of the Fabricated Prodsetsnent are the same as those described in N@Bedment results are evaluated
internally by management before any allocationarporate overhead and without any charge for inctames, interest expense, or Other
operating charges, net.

The following tables provide financial informatidy reporting segment for each period or as of gaectod end, as applicable:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net Sales:

Fabricated Products $ 1,297 % 1,360.. $ 1,301.
Operating Income (LosSs):

Fabricated Productg $ 188.¢ $ 190.¢ % 83.€

All Other? (15.9) (24.9) (28.6)
Total operating income $ 173.2 % 165.¢ $ 55.C
Interest expense (35.7) (29.7) (18.0
Other income, net 5.€ 2.8 4.2
Income before income taxes $ 143.2 % 139.¢ $ 41.5
Depreciation and Amortization:

Fabricated Products $ 276 $ 26.C % 24.¢

All Other 0.t 0.t 04
Total depreciation and amortization $ 281 $ 26 $ 25.2
Capital expenditures:

Fabricated Products $ 69.6 $ 43¢ $ 32.1

All Other 0.€ .3 04
Total capital expenditures $ 704§ 441§ 32.t

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Assets:

Fabricated Products $ 852t % 7712 % 637.(

All Other* 918.4 981.: 683.¢
Total assets $ 1,770.¢ % 1,752 $ 1,320.¢

1 Operating results in the Fabricated Products segfoe@013 , 2012 and 2011 included non-cash LIF@ntory benefits of $24.1 , $4.9
and $7.1 , respectively. Also included in the Fedited Products segment operating results for 2@032 and 2011 were $4.0 , $1.1 and
$1.7 , respectively, of environmental expense. iEated Products segment operating results for 208®included $4.4 of asset
impairment charge relating to certain propertynpknd equipment.

2 Fabricated Products segment results for 2013 , 208122011 include non-cash markr@arket gains (losses) on primary aluminum, na
gas, electricity and foreign currency hedging atiés totaling $0.7 , $15.2 and $(29.9) , respedyivior further discussion regarding
mark-to-market matters, see Note 11 .

¥ Operating results in All Other represent operatrgenses in the Corporate and Other businessQuetrating results of All Other include
VEBA net periodic pension benefitincome of $223.1.9 and $6.0 for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respyti

4 Assets in All Other represent primarily all of tBempany’s cash and cash equivalents, short-terastments, financial derivative assets,
net assets in respect of VEBA(s) and net deferredme tax assets.

Net sales by product categories, which are baseshdmmarket applications, for the Fabricated Prtsdsegment are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net Sales:
Aero/HS Products $ 677.C $ 695.1 $ 596.:
GE Products 411.( 441.¢ 447 .(
Automotive Extrusions 129t 125t 126.¢
Other Products 80.C 98.1 131.]
Total Net Sales $ 1,297 $ 1,360.. $ 1,301.:

Geographic information for net sales, based on tgwi origin, income taxes paid, and long-livedets are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 1,204.° $ 1,256.8! $ 1,195.:
Canada 92.¢ 103.¢ 106.z
Total net sales $ 1,297 $ 1,360.. $ 1,301.
Income taxes paid:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 1.2 % 0t $ i
Canada 0.¢ 1.2 1.6
Total income taxes paid $ 21§ 1€ $ 3.t

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Long-lived assets:
Fabricated Products —

United States $ 409.5 % 367t $ 351.
Canada 15.2 12.t 11.¢
Total Fabricated Products long-lived assets 424.¢ 380.( 363.:
All Other —
United States 4.5 4.3 4.t
Total All Other long-lived assets 4.t 4.3 4t
Total long-lived assets $ 429.: $ 384.: $ 367.¢

! Long-lived assets represent Property, plant anibetgnt, net.
The aggregate foreign currency transaction gaoss€és) included in determining net income were itened for 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 .

The Company depends on a core group of significasttomers and suppliers of primary aluminum. Tiss laf the Company’s largest
customer or supplier would have a material adveffgzt on the Company taken as a whole. HowevahérCompany’s opinion, the
relationship between the Company and its custoareassuppliers is good, and the risk of loss ofciliomer or supplier is remote. Informai
for sales to the Company's largest Fabricated Rtsdwstomer, export sales, and primary aluminupplyurom the Company's major
suppliers are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Percentage of Total Revenue:
Sales to largest Fabricated Products customer 23% 22% 21%
Export sales 17% 18% 14%
Percentage of Total Annual Primary Aluminum Supply
Supply from the Company's top five major suppliers 86% 78% 83%
Supply from the Company's largest supplier 25% 29% 32%
Supply from the Company's second and third largegpliers 35% 31% 34%
15. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 281 $ 19.4 10.¢
Income taxes paid $ 21 % 1.8 3.5
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:
Stock repurchases not yet settled (accrued in atsqayable) $ 1C $ = =
Non-cash capital expenditures $ 44 $ 34 1.8
Capital leases acquired $ 02 § 0.1 0.:
16. Other Income, Net
Other income, net consisted of the following, facke period presented:
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Interest income $ 04 $ 0.4 0.2
Unrealized gains on financial derivatives 3.2 0.€ 4.C
Realized gains on investments 1.4 0.t 0.1
Distribution from bankruptcy trust 0.€ — —
Insurance settlement — 0.4 —
All other, net — 0.7 —
Other income, net $ 56 § 2.8 4.2

1 See “Derivative Financial Instrumentsin Note 1for a discussion of accounting policy for such instents

2 See Note 13or discussion of the distributic

17. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table presents the tax effect alledatip each component of other comprehensive ingtoss) for each period presented:
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Before-Tax Income Tax Net-of-Tax
Amount (Expense) Benefit Amount
2013
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs:

Net actuarial gain arising during the period $ 2.2 0.7 $ 1.t
Reclassification adjustments:

Less: amortization of net actuarial loss 1 (0.5 1.C
Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (1.6 2.€

Other comprehensive income relating to defined

benefit pension plan and VEBAS 7.6 (2.9 5.1
Available for Sale Securities:

Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 1.C (0.3 0.7

Reclassification adjustments:

Less: reclassification of unrealized gain upon
sale of available for sale securities (2.0 0.2 (0.7)

Other comprehensive income (loss) relating to

available for sale securities — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 — 0.2
Other comprehensive income $ 8.1 (28 $ 52
2012
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBASs:

Net actuarial gain arising during the period $ 87.¢ (335 % 54.:
Reclassification adjustments:

Less: amortization of net actuarial loss 3.1 (1.2 2.C

Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (2.7 2.
Other comprehensive income relating to defined
benefit pension plan and VEBAs 95.1 (36.9) 58.¢
Available for Sale Securities:

Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 0.€ (0.2 0.4
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.2 — (0.2
Other comprehensive income $ 95.k (365 $ 59.C
2011
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBASs:

Net actuarial loss arising during the period $ (110.¢ 42z % (68.9)
Reclassification adjustments

Less: amortization of net actuarial loss 0.€ (0.2 0.4

Less: amortization of prior service cost 4.2 (1.6 2.€
Other comprehensive loss relating to defined benefi
pension plan and VEBAs (105.9 40.4 (65.9
Available for Sale Securities:

Unrealized loss on available for sale securities (0.2 — (0.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 — 0.2
Other comprehensive loss $ (105.7) 404 (65.9)
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18. Condensed Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financialnformation

The Company issued $225.0 aggregate principal atrafuts Senior Notes pursuant to an indenturedidtay 23, 2012
(the “Indenture”), among Kaiser Aluminum Corporatithe "Parent", the subsidiary guarantors parydto (the “Guarantor
Subsidiaries”) and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asatian, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The Guarantdostiaries currently
include Kaiser Aluminum Investments Company, Kaskiminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Aluminiiil Products
Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC and KaiseuAlinum Alexco, LLC, all of which are 100% ownedthe Parent. The guarantees are
full and unconditional and joint and several bugén¢he following customary releases: i) the Guama8ubsidiary is sold or sells all of its
assets; ii) the Guarantor Subsidiary is declaredrmastricted subsidiary under the Indenturetli® Guarantor Subsidiayguarantee of certe
other indebtedness is terminated or released; ehé&vCompany exercises legal defeasance or covdeézasance or if the Company’s
obligations under the Indenture are discharged.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 210.3-H(Regulation S-X, the following condensed cordatiing financial information as of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , antidoydars ended December 31, 2013 , December 32, &2@llDecember 31, 2011 present
(i) the financial position, results of operatiordazash flows for each of (a) the Parent, (b) thar@utor Subsidiaries on a combined basis, and
(c) the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries (as definedvetm a combined basis, (ii) the adjustments necgds eliminate investments in
subsidiaries and intercompany balances and traoea@mong the Parent, the Guarantor Subsidianiéshe Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, and
(iii) the resulting totals, reflecting informatidar the Company on a consolidated basis, as reghdrighe following tables, "Non- Guarantor
Subsidiaries" refers to Kaiser Aluminum Canada téaj Trochus Insurance Company, DCO Management, Kiaier Aluminum France,
S.A.S. and Kaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading Compaagd "Consolidating Adjustments" represent the stdjents necessary to eliminate the
investments in the Company's subsidiaries and atiercompany sales and cost of sales transacfidrescondensed consolidating financial
information should be read in conjunction with ttemsolidated financial statements herein.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables:
Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables
Intercompany receivables
Other
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries
Property, plant, and equipment — net
Long-term intercompany receivables
Net asset in respect of VEBA
Deferred tax assets — net
Intangible assets — net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Short-term capital lease
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Long-term intercompany payable
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities

Total stockholders’ equity
Total

December 31, 2013

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
$ 5 $ 1577 % 6.6 % — 169.t
— 129.t — — 129.t
— 117.5 2.1 — 119.¢
— 0.1 0.2 (0.3 —
— 2 8.1 — 13.4
— 208.¢ 6.4 (0.6) 214.¢
0.1 43.7 04 — 44.2
5.1 662.¢ 24.C (0.9 690.¢
1,437.¢ 26.5 — (1,464.9) —
— 414.( 15.2 — 429.%
31.2 1.€ o5 (42.9) —
— 406.( — — 406.(
— 60.2 — 8.9 69.1
— 33.7 — — 33.7
— 37.2 — — 37.2
86.2 18.t 0.1 — 104.¢
$ 1,560.f $ 1,660.0 $ 48¢< $ (1,498.9) $ 1,770.¢
$ 11 % 56.2 $ 5 § — 62.€
— 13.€ 0.1 (14.0 —
— 39.c 34 — 427
315 39.¢ 14 — 44.¢
— 0.2 — — 0.2
4.€ 149.¢ 10.4 (14.0 150.¢
— — 1.2 — 1.2
— 40.7 1.7 (42.9) —
83.2 52.C 11.2 — 146.2
388.t — — — 388.t
476.% 242. 24.t (56.9 686.7
1,084.: 1,418.( 24.4 (1,442.) 1,084.:
$ 1,560.f $ 1,660.0 $ 48.¢ $ (1,498.9) $ 1,770.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables:
Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables
Intercompany receivables
Other
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries
Property, plant, and equipment — net
Long-term intercompany receivables
Net asset in respect of VEBA
Deferred tax assets — net
Intangible assets — net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Payable to affiliate
Short-term capital lease
Total current liabilities
Net liability in respect of VEBA
Long-term intercompany payable
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities

Total stockholders’ equity
Total

December 31, 2012

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
5 $ 266.C $ 24 % — 273.¢
— 85.C — — 85.C
— 121t 2.3 — 123.¢
— (10.9) 0.4 9.¢ —
— 2 2.1 — 3.4
— 178.1 7.3 — 186.(
— 68.1 2.C — 70.1
5.C 710.C 16.5 9.¢ 741,
1,284.: 7.4 — (1,291 —
— 371.¢ 12.5 — 384.:
163.5 0.4 6.4 (170.5 —
— 365.¢ — — 365.¢
— 93.4 (0.8 9.4 102.(
— 35.4 — — 35.4
— 37.2 — — 37.2
64.C 19.2 3.C (0.2 86.C
1516.¢ $ 1,641.C $ 376 $ (1,442 $ 1,752."
01 $ 56.5 $ 58 % — 62.5
— 2 0.2 (0.5 —
— 36.7 2.€ — 39.:
315 47.¢ 0.5 — 51.¢
— 7. — — 7.9
— 0.1 — — 0.1
3.€ 149.% 9.2 (0.5) 161.€
— 5.8 — — 5.3
— 170.( 0.5 (170.5) —
62.1 49.€ 22.¢ — 134.¢
380.: — — — 380.:
446.( 374.; 32.5 (171.0 681.7
1,070.¢ 1,266.¢ 5.1 (1,271.9 1,070.¢
1516.¢ $ 1,641.( $ 376 % (1,442.9 $ 1,752t
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2013

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,275.. $ 118.C % (95.7) % 1,297.t
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation
and amortization and other items — 1,026.( 105.7 (92.9) 1,038.¢
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments — (0.7) — — (0.7)
Depreciation and amortization — 27.C 1.1 — 28.1
Selling, administrative, research and developme
and general 3.8 47.€ 8.9 (2.9) 57.¢
Total costs and expenses 3.8 1,099.¢ 115.5 (95.2) 1,124.:
Operating (loss) income (3.8 175.% 2.3 (0.5 173.%
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (36.€) 0.t — 0.4 (35.7)
Other income (expense), net 3.6 2.C — 0.3 5.€
(Loss) income before income taxes (36.5) 177.¢ 2.3 (0.4 143.%
Income tax (provision) benefit — (68.1) 15.7 14.C (38.9
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 141.c 17.€ — (158.9 —
Net income $ 104.¢ $ 1277 $ 18.C $ (145.9) $ 104.¢
Comprehensive income $ 1101 % 131€¢ $ 19.C $ (150.¢) $ 110.1
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2012

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,326.( 124.C % (899 $ 1,360.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,090.( 110.z (84.0 1,116.:
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — (15.2) — — (15.2)
Depreciation and amortization — 25.t 1.C — 26.5
Selling, administrative, research and developmen
and general 2.C 57.7 8.2 (5.7) 62.2
Other operating charges, net — 4.5 — — 4.5
Total costs and expenses 2.C 1,162. 119.4 (89.7) 1,194.:
Operating (loss) income (2.0 163.t 4.€ (0.2 165.¢
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (28.2) (2.0 — 0.1 (29.7)
Other income, net 0.8 13 0.€ (0.2 2.8
(Loss) income before income taxes (29.9 164.( 5.2 (0.2 139.¢
Income tax provision — (62.€) (2.3 11.1 (53.9)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 115.2 2.€ — (117.9) —
Net income $ 85.6 $ 104.( 2¢ % (106.9 $ 85.¢
Comprehensive income $ 144.¢ % 164.( 1€ $ (165.9 $ 144.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,264 $ 1336 $ (96.¢) $ 1,301.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,098." 125.¢ (95.]) 1,129.(
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 29.¢ — — 29.¢
Restructuring benefits — 0.3 — — 0.3
Depreciation and amortization — 24.: 0.¢ — 25.2
Selling, administrative, research and development,
and general 1.8 56.2 6.2 (1.6 62.7
Other operating charges (benefits), net — 0.1 0.3 — (0.2)
Total costs and expenses 1.8 1,209.( 132.2 (96.7) 1,246.:
Operating (loss) income (1.8 55.k 14 (0.2 55.C
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (16.2) (1.8 — — (18.0
Other income (expense), net 4.C 0.4 (0.2 — 4.3
(Loss) income before income taxes (14.0 54.1 .3 (0.2 41.2
Income tax provision — (21.9) (0.6) 6.2 (16.2)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 39.1 0.8 — (39.9) —
Net income $ 251 $ 331 % 07 $ (33.) $ 25.1
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (409 $ (829 % 07 % 31§ (40.2)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2013

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh (29.2 $ 13157 % 9.2 % — % 111.7
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (66.5) (3.9 — (70.9
Purchase of available for sale securities — (227.¢) — (227.9)
Proceeds from disposition of available for sale
securities — 183.1 — — 183.1
Change in restricted cash — 0.7 1.C — 1.7
Net cash used in investing activities — (110.5 (2.9 — (113.9
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of capital lease — (0.2 — — (0.7
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested sha
and dividend payment on unvested shares expecte
vest — 1.1 — — 1.1
Repurchase of common stock to cover employees' tax
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares (2.5 — — — (2.5
Cash dividend paid to stockholders (23.0 — — — (23.0
Cash dividend returned to the Company 0.€ — — — 0.€
Repurchase of common stock (78.9) — — — (78.9)
Intercompany loan 132.¢ (130.5) (2.9 — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activiti 29.2 (129.5) (1.9 — (102.9)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during th
period — (108.9) 4.4 — (103.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5.C 266.( 2.4 — 273.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5C § 1577 $ 6& §$ — 169.:
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of available for sale securities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Change in restricted cash

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Repayment of capital lease
Repayment of promissory notes
Cash paid for financing costs

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest

Repurchase of common stock to cover employees'
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares

Cash dividend paid to stockholders
Intercompany loan

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during th
period

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Consolidated
(17.9 $ 164.2 $ 5¢ $ $ 152.¢
— (42.6) (1.5) (44.7)
— (85.0) — (85.0)
0.3 — 0.3

6. 0.4 (0.4) 6.
6.¢ (126.9 (1.9) (121.9
225.C — — 225.C
— (0.2) — (0.7
— (4.7 — 4.7
(6.6) - - (6.6)
— 1.3 — 1.3
(2.2 — — (2.2)
(19.6) — — (19.6)
(185.%) 189.1 (3.9 —
10.€ 185.¢ (3.9 193.1
— 223.C 0.€ 223.€
5.C 43.C 1.8 49.¢
5 $ 266.C $ 24 $ $ 273.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2011

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh (10.2 $ 71¢ % 11 % — % 62.€
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (31.2 1.3 — (32.5
Purchase of available for sale securities — (0.3 — — 0.3
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment — — 0.7 — 0.7
Cash payment for acquisition of manufacturing fac
and related assets (net of $4.9 of cash received in
connection with the acquisition in 2011) — (83.2) — — (83.2)
Change in restricted cash — (2.0 — — (2.0)
Net cash used in investing activities — (115.%) (0.6) — (116.9)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of capital lease — (0.2) — — (0.7
Repayment of promissory notes — (8.3 — — (8.9
Cash paid for financing costs — (2.2 — — (2.7
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest — 0.2 — — 0.2
Repurchase of common stock to cover employees'
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares (3.1 — — — (3.
Cash dividend paid to stockholders (18.9) — — — (18.9
Intercompany loan 32.2 (32.5) 0.3 — —
Net cash provided (used in) by financing activities 10.2 (42.¢) 0.3 — (32.9
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalen
during the period — (86.€) 0.8 — (85.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5.C 129.¢ 1.C — 135.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5C § 430 $ 1€ $ — 49.€
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19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present the unaudited finalnd#a for each of the interim periods in 2013 26d2 .

2013
Net sales

Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dimation and other

items

Unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share

Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per share

Common stock market price (based on daily closiicejy
High
Low

2012
Net sales

Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dmation and other

items

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income

Earnings per common share, Basic:

Net income per share

Earnings per common share, Diluted:

Net income per share

Common stock market price (based on daily closhigge:
High
Low
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Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec

337.¢ 328.¢ 319.¢ % 311.C

263.€ 261.5 259.t 254.;

0.7 4.2 (1.5 (4.1

73.1 63.2 61.¢ 61.1

50.C 40.1 41.€ 41.€

33.t 18.€ 252  $ 27.5

1.7¢ 0.9¢ 137 $ 1.4¢

1.7 0.9¢ 132 % 1.44

65.0: 65.44 71.9¢ $ 73.0¢

60.77 58.7¢ 62.31 $ 65.2:¢
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec

365.4 345.2 335t % 314.(

298.1 284.¢ 268.¢ 264.¢

(3.1 0.1 (12.9) 0.1

70.4 60.7 78.€ 49.1

46.2 39.€ 56.z 23.€

26.5 21.C 29z $ 9.1

1.3¢ 1.1C 152 $ 0.4¢

1.3¢ 1.0¢ 151 $ 0.47

52.4¢ 52.57 59.1t $ 61.7¢

46.8:2 46.62 49.4; % 56.27
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20. Subsequent Events

Dividend Declaration On January 14, 2014 , the Company announcedtshBbard of Directors approved the declaratioa guarterly
cash dividend of $0.35 per common share, or $6clUding dividend equivalents), which was paid @bfaary 14, 2014 to stockholders of
record at the close of business on January 24, 2014

Anti-dilution Adjustments to Convertible Notes @whvertible Note Hedge Transactiokipon the payment of the
quarterly dividend on February 14, 2014 , (a) tlee@rtible Notes' conversion rate increased shgiot20.8234 shares
per $1,000 principal amount of the Convertible [Saiad the equivalent conversion price decreasgltlislito $48.02 per share, (b) the Call
Options' exercise price decreased slightly to $8€) share, and (c) the Warrants' exercise pecesdsed slightly to $60.98 per share.

108




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedufd& maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reponder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is meed, recorded, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Securit@sl Exchange Commission's rules and forms andstitdt information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the prinapaktutive officer and principal financial officéo, allow for timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluatimgdisclosure controls and procedures, managemesgmees that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraée provide only reasonable assurance of aciyelie desired control objectives, and
management is required to apply its judgment iduatang the cost-benefit relationship of possitbatrols and procedures. An evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation oflmclosure controls and procedures was perforaseaf the end of the period covered by thi
Report under the supervision of and with the pgriton of our management, including the principegcutive officer and principal financial
officer. Based on that evaluation, our principatextive officer and principal financial officer adnded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 20fl8aeasonable assurance level.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovierancial ReportingOur management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under $seurities Exchange Act of 1934. Our
internal control over financial reporting is desginunder the supervision of our principal executiffcer and principal financial officer, and
effected by our Board of Directors, managementathdr personnel, to provide reasonable assurageediag the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:éor external purposes in accordance with acéogmtrinciples generally accepted in the
United States and include those policies and praesdthat:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records thag@sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttoamsactions and the dispositions of our asset:

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that our transactire recorded as necessary to permit prepadtforancial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in thed¢hBtates, and that our receipts and expenditieeseing made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and Board of Borsgand

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prewveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitinge or disposition of our assets that coulc
have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étmisstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide mrdgonable assurance with respect to financiedratant preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executiffecer and principal financial officer,
we assessed the effectiveness of our internal@amier financial reporting as of December 31, 20U8ing the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission in Internal Control - Integrated Feavork as established in 1992. Basec
on that evaluation, our principal executive offieed principal financial officer concluded that amternal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2013 .

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registeratljc accounting firm that audited our consolidafiedncial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2013 included in Item 8. “Firei®tatements and Supplementary Data” of this Repas issued an audit report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahecegporting.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial RepogtiWwe had no changes in our internal control overrfai@ reporting during our most
recently completed fiscal quarter that have matgrédfected, or are reasonably likely to matesiaffect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Executive Officers,”
“Proposals Requiring Your Vote — Proposal for Blectof Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownkiig Reporting Compliance” and
“Corporate Governance” in our proxy statement far 2014 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Executive Compensation,
“Director Compensation” and “Corporate Governanc&eard Committees — Compensation Committee — Cosgtean Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our prastatement for the 2014 annual meeting of stockislde
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiinagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untlerdaptions “Equity Compensation
Plan Information” and “Principal Stockholders an@amdgement Ownership” in our proxy statement for20#&4 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governanceirecidr Independence” in our proxy statement fer 2014 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorp@eby reference to the information included underdaption “Independent Public
Accountants” in our proxy statement for the 2014wl meeting of stockholders.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accagniirm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Statements of Consolidated Income

Statements of Consolidated Comprehensive Indboss)
Statements of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are eittagplicable or the required information is includiedhe Consolidated Financial
Statements or the notes thereto included in ItefRiBancial Statements and Supplementary Data”iaoorporated herein by reference.

3. Exhibits

Reference is made to the Index of Exhibits immedlygbreceding the exhibi ts hereto (beginning ogeda 3), w hich index is
incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION

/s/ Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 18, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

/s/ Jack A. Hockema President, Chief Executive Officer, Date: February 18, 2014
Chairman of the Board and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Jack A. Hockema

/s/ Daniel J. Rinkenberger Executive Vice President and Chief Date: February 18, 2014
, — Financial Officer
Daniel J. Rinkenberger (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Neal West Vice President and Chief Date: February 18, 2014
Accounting Officer
Neal West (Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl Carolyn Bartholomew Director Date: February 18, 2014

Carolyn Bartholomew

/s/ David Foster Director Date: February 18, 2014
David Foster

/sl Teresa A. Hopp Director Date: February 18, 2014
Teresa A. Hopp

/sl Lauralee Martin Director Date: February 18, 2014
Lauralee Martin

Director
William F. Murdy
/sl Alfred E. Osborne, Jr., Ph.D. Director Date: February 18, 2014
Alfred E. Osborne, Jr., Ph.D.
Director
Jack Quinn
/sl Thomas M. Van Leeuwen Director Date: February 18, 2014
Thomas M. Van Leeuwen
/s/ Brett E. Wilcox Director Date: February 18, 2014

Brett E. Wilcox
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothh@ Company (incorporated by reference to ExI8hitto the
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed by therPany on July 6, 2006, File No. 000-52105).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorptad by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly ReporfFonm 10-Q, filed by the Company on August 7, 2@@& No. 000-
52105).

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrattatement on
Form 8-A, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006eMilo. 000-52105).

4.1 Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2010 (incorporbieceference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current ReporForm 8K, filed by
the Company on March 29, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

4.2 Indenture, dated May 23, 2012, by and among Kaigeninum Corporation, each of the guarantors nathedein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trugieeorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€ot Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012¢Hilo. 000-52105).

4.3 Form of 8.250% Senior Note due 2020 (included ihikik 4.2).

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 23, 20¥2nd among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, eacthefguarantors
signatory thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LISOepresentative of the several initial purcha§acorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report om#8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012, File. 000-52105).

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 20tdng the Company, Kaiser Aluminum Investments CamgpKaiser
Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Aluminidnternational, Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washingtor,& and
Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, certain financial iiitsttions from time to time party thereto, as lergjéiPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgacu8ges Inc. and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, L& joint
bookrunners and joint lead arrangers, Wells Fargpit@l Finance, LLC, as documentation agent, antkEd America,
N.A., as syndication agent (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Fori{,8iled by the
Company on October 3, 2011, File No. 000-52105

10.2 Form of Confirmation of Base Call Option Transaedincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 ®@urrent Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

10.3 Form of Confirmation of Additional Call Option Traactions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Maréh 2010, File No. 000-52105).

10.4 Form of Confirmation of Base Warrant Transactidnsdrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

10.5 Form of Confirmation of Additional Warrant Transacis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4h Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 20/ie No. 000-52105).

10.6 Description of Compensation of Directors (incorgedaby reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the QuartergpBrt on Form 1@,
filed by the Company on July 25, 2013 File No. BX1-05)

**10.7 Employment Agreement, dated as of November 9, 20dflyeen the Company and Jack A. Hockema (incotpadtay

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporForm 8-K, filed by the Company on November 15, 2@i No. 000-
52105).

113






**10.8

**10.9

**10.10

**10.11

**10.12

10.13

10.14

**10.15

**10.16

10.17

**10.18

**10.19

**10.20

**10.21

**10.22

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Curregp®t on Form 8-
K, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File N60662105).

Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Curreridteon Form 8-K,
filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File No. BX305).

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1¢hi Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Biie No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products Restoratiom Rilacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 & @urrent Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Biie No. 000-52105).

Amendment to the Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Prosligstoration Plan (incorporated by reference tuliix10.4 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Companybmtember 31, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

Director Designation Agreement, dated as of JulgO®6, between the Company and the USW (incorpotateeference
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement omir8FA, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File.l900-52105).

Letter Agreement dated January 19, 2010 extentli@germ of the Director Designation Agreement betwihe Company
and the USW (incorporated by reference to ExhiBif.Xo the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by @empany on
January 21, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement éerBunin, John M. Donnan, Keith A. Harvey, anchi2aJ.
Rinkenberger (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi33 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for theigetended
December 31, 2002, filed by the Company on March2803, File No. 1-9447).

Form of Amendment to the Change in Control Sevarakgreement with Peter Bunin, John M. Donnan, KaitliHarvey,
and Daniel J. Rinkenberger (incorporated by refeeen Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Forig,8iled by the
Company on December 31, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended and Restat€abZBquity and Performance Incentive Plan (incorjzatdy
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Quarterly Reporform 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 24, 20EBe No. 000-
52105).

2007 Form of Executive Officer Option Rights Awakdreement (incorporated by reference to ExhibiB8%6.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Apri2B07, File No. 000-52105).

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AtvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExhiBiR1o the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed by the CompanyAugust 7, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

2011 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibi@ to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2011, File No. 000-52105).

2011 Form of Executive Officer Performance Sharesml Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2011, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2011 - 2013 Long-Temedntive Program Summary of Management Objectiads a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earimeatiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 7, 2011e Mo. 000-52105).
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**10.23

**10.24

**10.25

**10.26

**10.27

**10.28

**10.29

**10.30

**10.32

*12.1

*21.1

*23.1

*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

*101.INS

2012 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AsvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBiR to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

2012 Form of Executive Officer Performance Shareml Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
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Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 9, 2012e Mo. 000-52105).
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*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

*101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

*101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Filed herewith.

** Management contract or compensatory plaaroangement required to be filed as an exhibihi® Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(In millions of dollars, except for ratio of earnings to fixed charges)

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.1

2013 2012 2010 2009
Earnings:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
taxes and equity in (earnings) losses of
unconsolidated affiliates $ 1432 % 139.¢ % 41.5 25.1 118.¢
Fixed charges 41.¢€ 34.1 22.¢ 17.¢ 5.1
Interest capitalized (3.9 1.7 .3 (2.8) (2.7
Amortization of interest capitalized 0.8 0.7 0.€ 0.t 0.2
Earnings $ 182.: $ 1720 $ 63.2 40.7 121.:
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense, including amortization of
discounts, debt issuance costs and interest
component of rent expense $ 357 $ 291 $ 18.C 11.€ —
Interest capitalized 3.4 1.7 1.3 2.8 2.7
Portion of rental representative of interest 2.t & 3.3 .3 2.4
Fixed charges $ 41€ % 341 % 22.€ 17.¢ 5.1
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 4.4 5.1 2.8 2.2 23.€




Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES

Listed below are the principal subsidiaries andtgdnvestments of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, fhasdiction of their incorporation or
organization, and the names under which such siabigisl do business. The Company's ownership isételd for its equity investment. Certain
subsidiaries are omitted which, considered in tigregate as a single subsidiary, would not constausignificant subsidiary.

Place of
Incorporation or

Name

Kaiser Aluminum Investments Company
Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC
Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC

Principal Domestic Operations and Administrativdicas:
Alabama
Florence
Fabricated Products

Arizona
Chandler (Extrusion)
Fabricated Products

Arizona
Chandler (Tube)
Fabricated Products

California
Foothill Ranch

Corporate Headquarters

California

Los Angeles (City of Commerce)

Fabricated Products

Ohio
Newark
Fabricated Products

Principal Worldwide Operations:
Canada

Organization
Delaware

Delaware
Delaware

Tennessee
Jackson
Fabricated &etsd

Texas
Sherman
Fabricated et

Virginia
Richmond (Bellwood)
Fabricated &etsd

Washington
Richland
Fabricated uts

Washington
Spokane
Fabricated Rotsdu

France

Kaiser Aluminum Canada Limitetaiser Aluminum France, SAS

Fabricated Products

China

Kaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading

Company
Development and Sales

Development and Sales






Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-165869 on Form S-3Nwogl 333-170513 and 333-135613 on
Form S-8 of our report dated February 18, 2014atirgy to the consolidated financial statementKaiser Aluminum Corporation and the
effectiveness of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation’s im&@ control over financial reporting, appearinghis Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation for the year ended Deber 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 18, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jack A. Hockema, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 18, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdif®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upzyuest.



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
[, Daniel J. Rinkenberger, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Principal Financial Officer

Date: February 18, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdif®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upzyuest.



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 18, 201
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargmarfiission, the undersigned, Jack A.

Hockema, Chief Executive Officer of the Companyesibereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 aptad pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to such offickriswledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/s/ Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®ey Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upgzyuest.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 18, 201
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargmar@iission, the undersigned, Daniel J.

Rinkenberger, Principal Financial Officer of ther@many, does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S3501as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to suciceffs knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Daniel J. Rinkenberger
Principal Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugmjuest.



